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Corporate Information
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Choi Wai Hong, Clifford (appointed on 19 November 2020)

Mr. Yau Pak Yue (appointed on 1 July 2020)

Ms. Chow Mun Yee (retired on 9 September 2019)
Mr. Pun Hong Hai (resigned on 6 February 2020)
Mr. Wong Xiang Hong

(appointed on 29 April 2019 and resigned on 16 March 2020)

Mr. Yang Haoying (resigned on 1 July 2020)
Mr. Ye Ye (resigned on 1 July 2020)
Mr. Zhao Tong (retired on 9 September 2019)

Non-Executive Directors

Ms. Ang Mei Lee Mary (appointed on 17 December 2020)

Mr. Chung Wai Man (appointed on 17 December 2020)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. An Dong

Mr. Fung Tze Wa

Mr. Wu Keli

Mr. Cheung Wing Ping (retired on 9 September 2019)

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Mr. An Dong
Mr. Fung Tze Wa* (appointed as Chairman of
the Audit Committee on 9 September 2019)
Mr. Wu Keli
Mr. Cheung Wing Ping (retired on 9 September 2019)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. An Dong* (appointed as Chairman of
the Remuneration Committee on 9 September 2019)
Mr. Fung Tze Wa
Mr. Wu Keli
Mr. Cheung Wing Ping (retired on 9 September 2019)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. An Dong* (appointed as Chairman of
the Nomination Committee on 9 September 2019)
Mr. Fung Tze Wa
Mr. Wu Keli
Mr. Cheung Wing Ping (retired on 9 September 2019)

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chan Yee Yuk (appointed on 8 October 2019 and
terminated on 6 March 2020)

Ms. Chow Mun Yee (resigned on 8 October 2019)

AUDITOR

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited
9/F Leighton Centre

77 Leighton Road
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
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LEGAL COUNSELS
Hong Kong

Winston & Strawn LLP
42nd Floor

Bank of China Tower

1 Garden Road

Hong Kong
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Conyers Dill & Pearman

29th Floor, One Exchange Square
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Central, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
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Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
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Wanchai, Hong Kong
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OFFICE IN HONG KONG

Tricor Secretaries Limited
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WEBSITE
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENRR DN

BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
BUSINESS REVIEW

Freemen FinTech Corporation Limited (the “Company”) is an
investment holding company whose subsidiaries are principally
engaged in the provision of financial services in Hong Kong and the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). As at the date of this annual
report, the Group continues to carry out, amongst others, (i)
provision of securities and futures brokerage services; (ii) provision of
placing, underwriting and margin financing services; and (iii)
provision of insurance brokerage and financial planning services.

The consolidated net loss for the year ended 31 March 2020 (the
“Period”) of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the "Group”) was HK$3,839 million (2019: HK$2,153 million).
The consolidated net assets of the Group decreased from HK$3,126
million as at 31 March 2019 to net liabilities of HK$2,331 million as
at 31 March 2020. The consolidated net loss was mainly attributable
o (i) loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries of HK$2,092 million; (ii)
provision for impairment loss of loans receivable of HK$266 million;
(iii) provision for impairment loss of factoring receivables of HK$298
million; (iv) impairment loss of investments in associates of HK$342
million; (v) finance costs of HK$696 million; and (vi) impairment loss
of prepayments, deposits and other receivables of HK$46 million.

APPOINTMENT OF THE JOINT AND SEVERAL
PROVISIONAL LIQUIDATORS AND WINDING-UP
OF THE COMPANY

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated
14 May 2019, 27 February 2020, 28 February 2020, 6 April 2020,
27 May 2020, 27 August 2020, 27 November 2020 and 1 December
2020.

On 10 May 2019, the Petitioner filed the Petition against the
Company with the High Court of Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region (the “High Court”).

On 27 February 2020, the Company received a Summons taken out
by the Petitioner for the appointment of the joint and several
provisional liquidators of the Company. At the direction of the High
Court, the Summons was fixed for hearing before the High Court on
28 February 2020.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

APPOINTMENT OF THE JOINT AND SEVERAL
PROVISIONAL LIQUIDATORS AND WINDING-UP

OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

On 28 February 2020, the High Court ordered that Messrs. Lai Kar
Yan (Derek) and Ho Kwok Leung Glen of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
be appointed as provisional liquidators (the “Provisional
Liquidators”) of the Company with power to act jointly and
severally until the determination of the Petition (or further order of
the High Court). Pursuant to the PL Appointment Order, the
Provisional Liquidators are empowered to, amongst others, take
possession and control of assets of the Group, ascertain and
investigate the affairs of the Group, and to carry on/close/cease the
Group’s business operations (in so far for the purpose of protecting
the assets).

On 26 March 2020, upon application made by the Provisional
Liquidators, the High Court granted an order to extend the
Provisional Liquidators’ power such that the Provisional Liquidators
are empowered, inter alia, to consider and, if thought to be in the
best interests of creditors of the Company, to enter into discussions
and/or negotiations for and on behalf of the Company, for the
purpose of, but not limited to, restructuring of the Company's
business and operations, and/or restructuring or rescheduling the
Company'’s indebtedness, or for the sale of its assets, provided that
any such proposed restructuring, rescheduling or sale shall not be
binding on the Company unless and until approved by the High
Court.

On 4 November 2020, upon application made by the Provisional
Liquidators, the Grant Court issued an order, which, among other
things, recognised the PL Appointment Order and the Provisional
Liquidators presenting and prosecuting a petition in the Grand Court
in respect of the Scheme in furtherance of the proposed rescue and
restructuring of the Company and its debts.

On 26 November 2020, the Provisional Liquidators and the Petitioner
jointly applied to the High Court requesting to vacate the next
adjourned hearing of the Petition to be fixed on 14 December 2020
and to adjourn it for 4 months to 19 April 2021. On 30 November
2020, the High Court has approved to adjourn the hearing of the
Petition to 19 April 2021.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENRR DN

RESTRUCTURING OF THE COMPANY

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated
19 March 2020, 13 August 2020, 27 August 2020, 17 November
2020, 23 November 2020, 27 November 2020 and 30 December
2020.

Suspension of trading in shares of the Company

Trading in the shares of the Company on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) has been suspended
with effect from 1:12 p.m. on 28 February 2020.

Resumption Guidance

On 19 March 2020, the Company received a letter from the Stock
Exchange, in which, inter alia, the Stock Exchange set out the
following Resumption Guidance for the Company:

1. demonstrate the Company’s compliance with Rule 13.24 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(the “Listing Rules”);

2. have the winding-up petition(s) withdrawn or dismissed and the
joint and several provisional liquidators discharged; and

3.  inform the market of all material information for the
Company's shareholders and other investors to appraise the
Group’s position.

On 30 June 2020, the Company received a letter from the Stock
Exchange, in which the Stock Exchange set out the following
additional resumption guidance for the Company:

4.  publish all outstanding financial results and address any audit
modification(s).

Under Rule 6.01A(1) of the Listing Rules, it may cancel the listing of
any securities that have been suspended from trading for a
continuous period of 18 months. In the case of the Company, the
18-month period expires on 27 August 2021. The Stock Exchange
advised that if the Company fails to remedy the issues causing its
trading suspension, fulfil the resumption guidance and fully comply
with the Listing Rules to the Stock Exchange’s satisfaction, the
Listing Division will recommend the Listing Committee to proceed
with the cancellation of the Company’s listing. Under Rules 6.01 and
6.10 of the Listing Rules, the Stock Exchange also has the right to
impose a shorter specific remedial period, where appropriate.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

RESTRUCTURING OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
Resumption Guidance (Continued)

The Company will take appropriate steps to fully comply with the
Listing Rules to the Stock Exchange's satisfaction in order to have
trading in the Company's shares resumed. The Company will keep
the public informed of developments in this regard by making
further announcements as and when appropriate.

Proposed Restructuring of the Group

On 13 August 2020, the Company, the Provisional Liquidators and
Radiant Alliance Limited (the “Investor”) entered into the Term
Sheet, setting out the key commercial terms of the proposed
restructuring of the Company.

On 2 September 2020, the Provisional Liquidators obtained the
sanction from the High Court for entering into, among others, the
Term Sheet and all requisite agreements arising therefrom in order to
implement the proposed Restructuring.

On 10 September 2020, the Company, the Provisional Liquidators
and the Investor entered into the Restructuring Deed, pursuant to
which the Company, the Provisional Liquidators and the Investor
agreed on the principal terms of the Restructuring which shall
include, among others, (a) the provision of the First Loan and the
Second Loan by the Investor; (b) the Subscription; (c) the Share
Premium Cancellation; (d) the Resumption; (e) if the Resumption is
not approved by the Stock Exchange, the Acquisition; and (f) the
Schemes.

The Investor is a limited liability company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands, which is wholly-owned by Divine Artemis Limited and
is in turn wholly-owned by Dr. Cheng Chi-Kong, Adrian. Dr. Cheng is
the executive vice-chairman and chief executive officer of New World
Development Company Limited; executive director of NWS Holdings
Limited, New World Department Store China Limited and Chow Tai
Fook Jewellery Group Limited; and a non-executive director of
Giordano International Limited and New Century Healthcare Holding
Co. Limited, all being listed public companies in Hong Kong.

Pursuant to the First Loan Agreement, the Investor has paid
HK$161,174,982, being an amount equivalent to the LC Agreed
Consideration, to the Designated Account for the purpose of
repayment to the LC Secured Lender upon all relevant conditions set
out therein being satisfied.

On 21 October 2020, the Securities and Futures Commission (the
“SFC”) has approved the Investor to become a substantial
shareholder of the Licensed Corporations.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEEN R DN

RESTRUCTURING OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
Proposed Restructuring of the Group (Continued)

As part of the Schemes, the Group will undergo a group
reorganisation pursuant to which the Company will transfer all its
right, title and interest in and to the Excluded Subsidiaries to a
nominee of the Scheme Administrators at a nominal value. After
such transfer, proceeds from the realisation of any existing assets of
the Excluded Subsidiaries will be distributed for the benefit of the
Scheme Creditors. Upon completion of the proposed Restructuring
(subject to a number of conditions precedent being fulfilled or
waived), the Retained Subsidiaries, namely Freeman Securities
Limited, Freeman Commodities Limited, Freeman Corporate Finance
Limited, Freeman Prestige Wealth Management Limited, People
Securities Company Limited, Freeman Trustee Limited and the
Turnbridge Companies will remain in the Retained Group.

Upon application of the Provisional Liquidators, the Grand Court and
the High Court have both sanctioned the convening of the Scheme
Meetings on 24 December 2020. The Scheme Meetings is fixed on
22 January 2021.

Upon Resumption, if so approved by the Stock Exchange, the
Investor shall hold approximately 75% of the enlarged issued share
capital of the Company upon completion of the First Loan
Conversion, the Subscription, the issue of the Scheme Shares, the
Placing Down and the Second Loan Conversion.

SUBSCRIPTION OF NEW SHARES UNDER
GENERAL MANDATE

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated 9
June 2019 and 12 June 2019.

On 9 June 2019, the Company and Mr. Liang Yahong (the
“Subscriber”) entered into the Agreement under which the
Company conditionally agreed to allot and issue and the Subscriber
conditionally agreed to subscribe 300,000,000 new ordinary shares
of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company (the “Shares”)
at the Subscription Price of HK$0.145 per Share (the "2019
Subscription”). The gross proceeds from the 2019 Subscription are
HK$43,500,000 and the net proceeds from which (after deducting
estimated related expenses of approximately HK$0.5 million) are
HK$43,000,000 which are intended to be applied for (i) repayment
of interest under the Notes; and (ii) general working capital of the
Group.

On 5 August 2019, an aggregate of 300,000,000 Shares were
allotted and issued to the Subscriber at the Subscription Price of
HK$0.145 per Share.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

SUBSCRIPTION OF NEW SHARES UNDER
GENERAL MANDATE (Continued)

Pursuant to the announcement of the Company dated 5 August
2019, the shareholding structure of the Company immediately upon
completion of the 2019 Subscription is as follows:
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Approximate
Number of percentage of
Shares shareholding

RHBE RESNOBEIL

Mr. Zhang Yongdong (“Mr. Zhang") SRR AE ([REE]) 100,076,600 5.36%
Mr. Liang Yahong REREE 300,000,000 16.06%
Public shareholders NRER 1,468,099,588 78.58%
Total g 1,868,176,188 100.00%

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

As at 31 March 2020, the Group held investments in associates with
no value as the financial information of all the associates for the
year ended 31 March 2020 is not available to the Group (31 March
2019: HK$365 million), representing (i) 31.74% effective
shareholding interests in Imagination Holding Limited
("Imagination”), (ii) 36.17% shareholding interests in Jocasta
Ventures Ltd (“Jocasta”), and (iii) 31.38% shareholding interests in
FreeOpt Holdings Limited (“FreeOpt”).

Imagination is a company incorporated in the Republic of the
Marshall Islands and an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the provision of money lending service and
investment holding.

Jocasta is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and an
investment holding Company. Its subsidiary is principally engaged in
the provision of money lending service. Based on the latest records
obtained on 23 September 2020, the Group’s shareholding interest
was diluted to 28.13% subsequent to the reporting period ended 31
March 2020.

FreeOpt is a company incorporated in the Republic of the Marshall
Islands and an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in the provision of money lending service. Based
on the latest records obtained on 23 September 2020, the Group's
shareholding interest was diluted to 17.61% subsequent to the
reporting period ended 31 March 2020.
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INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

As at 31 March 2019, the Group held 15% shareholding interest in
Huiyue Financial Leasing (Ningbo) Co., Ltd.* (3 A @& R E (2 R)E
FR 2 A]) through Wins Finance Holdings Inc. (“Wins Finance”). As
Wins Finance has been deconsolidated effective from 1 April 2019,
no such investment was recorded during the year ended 31 March
2020.

OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

As at 31 March 2020, the Group recorded non-current other
financial assets of HK$686 million (31 March 2019: HK$1,603
million), representing (i) an unlisted equity investment with 12.17%
(31 March 2019: 12.17%) equity interest in Shengang Securities
Company Limited (the “Securities Company”), a full-licensed
securities company in China (Shanghai) Pilot Free Trade Zone of the
Closer Economic Partnership Arrangement between Mainland China
and Hong Kong of HK$660 million (31 March 2019: HK$732 million)
(with an original investment cost of Renminbi (“RMB") 525 million
as at the end of both reporting periods), representing 58.9% (31
March 2019: 12.0%) of the total assets of the Group of HK$1,120
million (31 March 2019: HK$6,079 million); and (ii) listed securities
of The Philippine Stock Exchange, Inc. (“PSE”, whose shares are
listed on The Philippine Stock Exchange, Inc., symbol: PSE) with a
carrying amount of HK$26 million (31 March 2019: HK$29 million)
(with an original investment cost of Philippines Peso (“PHP") 252
million as at the end of both reporting periods), representing 2.3%
(31 March 2019: 0.5%) of the total assets of the Group,
representing 1.2% (31 March 2019: 1.2%) of PSE's total issued
shares.

* for identification purpose only
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OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)

Securities Company

The Securities Company is principally engaged in securities
brokerage, securities underwriting and sponsoring, securities
trading and securities asset management related businesses in
China. Based on the audited financial statements of the
Securities Company for the year ended 31 December 2019, the
Securities Company recorded revenue of RMB785 million
(equivalent to HK$890 million) (2018: RMB197 million
(equivalent to HK$230 million)), net profit for the year of
RMB75 million (equivalent to HK$82 million) (2018: loss of
RMB375 million (equivalent to HK$439 million)), total assets of
RMB9,475 million (equivalent to HK$10,587 million) (2018:
RMB7,129 million (equivalent to HK$8,336 million)) and net
assets of RMB4,076 million (equivalent to HK$4,555 million)
(2018: RMB4,001 million (equivalent to HK$4,679 million)).

On 10 November 2020, Freeman Securities Limited (“FSL”, an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company), the
Provisional Liquidators, Jiangsu Shagang Group Company
Limited (the “SSCL Purchaser”) and Cheery Plus Limited
entered into a term sheet, pursuant to which FSL conditionally
agreed to sell, and the SSCL Purchaser conditionally agreed to
acquire, 12.17% of shareholding interest in the Securities
Company at the consideration of RMB600 million. The SSCL
Purchaser has paid RMB90 million to the Provisional Liquidators
as deposit. As at the date of this annual report, the Securities
Company did not have material impact on the earnings of the
Group.

.
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OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)

PSE

PSE and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision
of trading, clearing, depository and information services for the
equity market in the Philippines. The stock price of the listed
securities of PSE as at 31 March 2020 amounted to PHP169
(equivalent to HK$26) per share (31 March 2019: PHP198
(equivalent to HK$29) per share). Based on the annual report
of PSE for the financial year ended 31 December 2019, PSE and
its subsidiaries recorded revenue of PHP1,291 million
(equivalent to HK$196 million) (2018: PHP1,596 million
(equivalent to HK$238 million)), profit for the year of PHP679
million (equivalent to HK$103 million) (2018: PHP727 million
(equivalent to HK$108 million)) total assets of PHP6,289 million
(equivalent to HK$966 million) (2018: PHP6,623 million
equivalent to HK$986 million)) and net assets of PHP4,817
million (equivalent to HK$740 million) (2018: PHP6,207 million
(equivalent to HK$924 million)). As at the date of this annual
report, PSE did not have material impact on the earnings of the
Group.

As at 31 March 2019, the Company had an unlisted equity
investment with 19.06% equity interest in an investment
holding Company (“Entity A”) of HK$842 million, with an
original investment cost of HK$600 million and represented
13.9% of the total asset of the Group. For the year ended 31
March 2020, due to the non-cooperation of the management
of Entity A, the directors of the Company (the “Directors”)
had been unable to obtain and access to the books and records
and no sufficient financial information of Entity A as at and for
the year ended 31 March 2020 is available to the Directors. As
a result, there was a fair value loss of investment in Entity A of
HK$842 million for the year ended 31 March 2020.
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INVESTMENT AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT
OR LOSS

Investment at fair value through profit or loss carries value less than
5% of the Group's net assets as at 31 March 2020 and 31 March
2019.

The Group recorded net unrealised loss of investments at fair value
through profit or loss of HK$20 million (2019: HK$60 million) for the
year.

The Group realised its investments in listed securities with a carrying
value of HK$63,000 (31 March 2019: HK$405 million) for aggregate
gross proceeds of HK$15,000 (31 March 2019: HK$121 million),
resulting net realised losses of investments at fair value through
profit or loss of HK$48,000 (31 March 2019: HK$283 million) for the
current year.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
DECONSOLIDATION OF COMPANIES LOST
CONTROL

Since the books and records of some of the Company’s subsidiaries
(i.e. Wins Finance and its subsidiaries) are not available to the
Provisional Liquidators and the Directors, the Directors cannot
ascertain the financial position of those subsidiaries after 31 March
2019. Together with the fact that the Company has lost control over
those subsidiaries, the Directors are of the view that those
subsidiaries should be deconsolidated from the Group with effect
from 1 April 2019.

REVENUE AND PROFIT

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group’s consolidated
turnover was HK$69 million (2019: loss of HK$75 million),
consolidated net loss was HK$3,839 million (2019: HK$2,153
million). The consolidated net loss was mainly attributable to (i) loss
on deconsolidation of subsidiaries of HK$2,092 million; (ii) provision
for impairment loss of loans receivable of HK$266 million; (iii)
provision for impairment loss of factoring receivables of HK$298
million; (iv) impairment loss of investments in associates of HK$342
million; (v) finance costs of HK$696 million; and (vi) impairment loss
of prepayments, deposits and other receivables of HK$46 million.
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REVENUE AND PROFIT (continued)

Interest income from provision of finance significantly decreased by
82.4% to HK$13 million as compared to HK$74 million in 2019 as
the collectability of certain loans receivable were considered not
probable and less interest income was recorded during the current
year. Insurance brokerage income significantly decreased by
approximately 58.8% to HK$7 million as compared to HK$17 million
in 2019 due to the outbreak of COVID-19 and travel restrictions.
There was no corporate finance advisory fee recorded for both years
2020 and 2019. Income from securities and futures brokerage,
placing, underwriting and margin financing services was HK$49
million, representing a decrease of 26.9% as compared to HK$67
million in 2019 due to adverse publicity surrounding the Group.
There is no commissions and fees from financial guarantee services,
factoring interest income or finance lease interest income for the
year as compared to HK$51 million in 2019.

The Group recorded provision for impairment loss of loans receivable
of HK$266 million (2019: HK$1,369 million), provision for
impairment loss of factoring receivables of HK$298 million (2019:
reversal of HK$68,000), as the Directors are of the view that the
collection of certain loans receivable and factoring receivables are
not probable. Such provision amounts were based on the ageing of
the overdue balances, borrowers’ creditworthiness and historical
write-off experience, and represented the allowance provided for the
estimated loss arising from the inability of third party borrowers to
make required repayments to the Group as at 31 March 2020. These
third party borrowers are mainly individual borrowers located in the
PRC. The Group continued to follow up with other third party
borrowers including convening litigations and arranging settlements.

The provision for impairment loss of loans receivable of HK$266
million represented the allowance provided for the estimated loss in
relation to certain third party borrowers that the Group believes will
not be able to fully collect their overdue balances.

The provision for impairment loss of factoring receivables of HK$298
million represented the allowance provided for the estimated loss in
relation to certain third parties that the Group has not received any
repayment of the overdue factoring receivables.

The Group recorded loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries of
HK$2,092 million (2019: Nil) for the year as books and record could
not be accessed and the Company has lost control of Wins Finance
and its subsidiaries.
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REVENUE AND PROFIT (continued)

The Group recorded impairment loss of investments in associates of
HK$342 million (2019: Nil) for the year based on the assessment of
the Directors as the management of the associates refused to
provided relevant required financial information to the Group and
the Directors had been unable to obtain and access to relevant
books and records for the year ended 31 March 2020.

Finance costs increased to HK$696 million as compared to HK$374
million in 2019 was mainly due to additional interest accrued due to
default and cross-default on certain loans.

Other income and gains substantially decreased to HK$3 million for
the year (2019: HK$112 million). During 2019, there were
investment income on other financial assets of HK$96 million. No
such income was recorded in 2020. The Group recorded a net
unrealised loss on investments at fair value through profit or loss of
HK$20 million for the year (2019: HK$60 million). No result has been
shared from associates for the year (2019: shared profit of HK$40
million).

Cost saving is a continuous aim in monitoring daily operations by the
Group. This year, general and administrative expenses amounted to
HK$118 million, representing a decrease of 58.6% as compared to
HK$285 million in 2019 which was mainly due to a decrease in staff
costs and legal and professional fees. Total employee benefit
expenses (excluding directors’ remuneration) amounted to HK$43
million, representing a decrease of 35.8% as compared to HK$67
million in 2019 given that in 2019 there was an one-off equity-
settled share option expense of HK$20 million and no such expense
recorded in 2020. Legal and professional fees amounted to HK$18
million (2019: HK$27 million) were incurred for the year mainly for
the Petition with details as stated under the paragraphs headed
“Contingent Liabilities” and for the legal proceedings against certain
borrowers and margin customers with overdue balances.

Net loss attributable to shareholders of the Company for the year
was HK$3,839 million (2019: HK$2,160 million). Basic and diluted
loss per share was HK$2.18 (2019: HK$1.38).
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FINAL DIVIDEND
No dividend was declared during the year ended 31 March 2020
(2019: Nil).

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had total assets of HK$1,120
million (31 March 2019: HK$6,079 million) and total liabilities of
HK$3,451 million (31 March 2019: HK$2,953 million). The net
liabilities of the Group as at 31 March 2020 were HK$2,331 million
(31 March 2019: net assets of HK$3,126 million). As at 31 March
2020, net current liabilities of the Group amounted to HK$3,019
million (31 March 2019: net current assets of HK$45 million) with
cash and bank balances of HK$150 million (31 March 2019: HK$222
million) and the current ratio (current assets/current liabilities) was
0.12 (31 March 2019: 1.02). The Group had secured borrowings of
HK$2,683 million (31 March 2019: HK$1,326 million), unsecured
borrowings of HK$73 million (31 March 2019: HK$73 million) and
no convertible instruments as at 31 March 2020 (31 March 2019:
HK$1,348 million). Gearing ratio, calculated on the basis of the
Group's interest-bearing borrowings and convertible instruments
divided by the equity attributable to owners of the Company was
111.8% at 31 March 2019. Gearing ratio at 31 March 2020 is not
available as the Group had deficit in its equities. The borrowings of
the Group carried floating interest rates calculated by reference to
the Hong Kong Dollar Prime Rate or lender’s costs of funds were
made in Hong Kong dollar and United States (“US"”) dollar. The
Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various
currency exposures, primarily with respect to Hong Kong dollar and
US dollar. As Hong Kong dollar is pegged to US dollar, the foreign
exchange risk exposures are considered limited. The Group did not
have any financial instruments used for hedging purpose.

As at 31 March 2020, the Company has no capital commitments (31
March 2019: HK$152 million). As at 31 March 2020, the Group had
net deficiencies in assets of HK$2,331 million (31 March 2019:
shareholders’ fund of HK$2,457 million).
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2020, US$90 million (equivalent to HK$702 million)
of interest-bearing borrowings were secured by the shares in the
capital of certain wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company, 20%
(31 March 2019: 20%) equity interest of Wins Finance held by the
Group, and personal guarantees given by Mr. Zhang and his spouse.

As at 31 March 2020, US$76 million (equivalent to HK$593 million)
and HK$185 million of interest-bearing borrowings were secured by
certain shares in the capital of a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, 17.26% (31 March 2019: 7.26%) equity interest of Wins
Finance held by the Group, 63,660,000 shares of Pak Wing Group
(Holdings) Limited (31 March 2019: Nil), certain shares held by Mr.
Zhang and personal guarantees given by Mr. Zhang and his spouse.

As at 31 March 2020, US$99 million (equivalent to HK$772 million)
of interest-bearing borrowings were secured by 30% equity interest
of Wins Finance held by the Group (31 March 2019: 30%).

As at 31 March 2020, HK$429 million of interest-bearing borrowings
were secured by 12.17% (31 March 2019: 12.17%) equity interest
of the Securities Company held by the Group.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Proposed Restructuring

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated
13 August 2020, 27 August 2020, 17 November 2020, 23
November 2020, 27 November 2020 and 30 December 2020.

On 13 August 2020, the Company, the Provisional Liquidators and
the Investor entered into the Term Sheet, setting out the key
commercial terms of the proposed Restructuring of the Company.

On 10 September 2020, the Company, the Provisional Liquidators
and the Investor entered into the Restructuring Deed, pursuant to
which the Company, the Provisional Liquidators and the Investor
agreed on the principal terms of the Restructuring which shall
include, among others, (a) the provision of the First Loan and the
Second Loan by the Investor; (b) the Subscription; (c) the Share
Premium Cancellation; (d) the Resumption; (e) if the Resumption is
not approved by the Stock Exchange, the Acquisition; and (f) the
Schemes.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(Continued)

Proposed Restructuring (Continued)

Pursuant to the First Loan Agreement, the Company has received
HK$161,174,982 from the Investor, being an amount equivalent to
the LC Agreed Consideration, to the Designated Account for the
purpose of repayment to the LC Secured Lender upon all relevant
conditions set out therein being satisfied.

On 21 October 2020, SFC has approved the Investor to become a
substantial shareholder of the Licensed Corporations.

On 17 November 2020 and 18 December 2020, the Company, the
Provisional Liquidators and the Investor entered into the first
supplemental deed and the second supplemental deed respectively,
pursuant to which the parties agreed to further amend the terms of
the Restructuring Deed and/or the First Loan Agreement.

On 24 December 2020, upon application of the Provisional
Liquidators, the High Court has approved the convening of the
Scheme Meetings. The Scheme Meetings is fixed on 22 January
2021.

Others

(@ In March 2020, after the appointment of Provisional Liquidators
to the Company, two of the key operating subsidiaries of the
Group, namely FSL and Freeman Commodities Limited (“FCL")
are facing practical difficulties and challenges in maintaining
sufficient level of operations, primarily due to various
restrictions imposed by and/or agreed with the Stock Exchange
and/or the SFC on their business operations, which include,
among others, (i) prohibiting FSL and FCL from on-boarding
new clients; and (ii) restricting FCL from transacting on behalf
of its clients trades over a certain level of volume by the Stock
Exchange, etc.

In or around November and December 2020, restriction (i)
above has been uplifted and restriction (ii) above has been
partially uplifted.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(Continued)

Others (Continued)

(b) On 21 September 2020, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company (“Subsidiary A”) and an independent third party
("Assignor A") entered into a deed of assignment, pursuant to
which, Subsidiary A agreed to sell certain loans receivable, and
Assignor A agreed to purchase for a consideration of HK$143
million. On 29 October 2020, the full consideration amount
was received.

() On 10 November 2020, FSL, the Provisional Liquidators, Jiangsu
Shagang Group Company Limited (the “SSCL Purchaser”) and
Cheery Plus Limited entered into a term sheet, pursuant to
which FSL conditionally agreed to sell, and the SSCL Purchaser
conditionally agreed to acquire, 12.17% of shareholding
interest in the Securities Company at the consideration of
RMB600 million.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS/DISPOSALS

Save for the deconsolidation of the subsidiaries, the Group did not
have any significant investments nor did it make any material
acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries and associates throughout
the year ended 31 March 2020.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
As at 31 March 2020, the Group had no capital commitments (2019:
HK$152 million).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

On 10 May 2019, the Petitioner filed the Winding-up Petition
against the Company with the High Court. The next adjourned
hearing is scheduled on 19 April 2021. As of the date of this annual
report, the amount of total loss is uncertain.

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, the Group is not
aware of other material contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2020.
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EMPLOYEES' REMUNERATION POLICY AND

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

As at 31 March 2020, the Group employed 58 staff members
including the Directors (2019: 117 staff). Staff costs incurred for the
year, including directors’ remuneration, were HK$60 million (2019:
HK$129 million). The Company has adopted a share option scheme
and the Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefits scheme under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for its employees. During the year ended
31 March 2020, no share options were granted or cancelled,
79,613,463 share options lapsed and none were exercised.

From 1 April 2020 to 30 November 2020, 34,363,522 share options
lapsed, and 81,532,110 share options were outstanding as at 30
November 2020. In December 2020, notices were given to each
existing share option holder according to the terms of the share
option scheme (adopted by the resolution of the Company’'s
shareholders on 31 August 2012) to exercise their share options until
close of business on 15 January 2021.

PROSPECTS

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated
17 November 2020, 23 November 2020 and 27 November 2020.

The Company has entered into a Restructuring Deed with the
Investor where the principal terms of the Restructuring which shall
include, among others, (a) the provision of the First Loan and the
Second Loan by the Investor; (b) the Subscription; (c) the Share
Premium Cancellation; (d) the Resumption; (e) if the Resumption is
not approved by the Stock Exchange, the Acquisition; and (f) the
Schemes.

Upon completion of the proposed Restructuring (subject to a number
of conditions precedent being fulfilled or waived), the Company's
right, title and interest in and to the Excluded Subsidiaries will be
transferred to a nominee of the Scheme Administrators and the
Excluded Subsidiaries will cease to be subsidiaries of the Company.
All the claims against the Company by the creditors will be
discharged and compromised in full, the financial and liquidity
position of the Retained Group will be substantially improved.

The Directors are confident that upon completion of the proposed
Restructuring, with the support from the Investor, the Retained
Group's business will be improved and the Retained Group will have
sufficient level of operation to maintain its listing status.
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APPRECIATION

The Directors would like to take this opportunity express its gratitude
and appreciation to all shareholders, business partners, banks,
professional parties and employees of the Company for their
continuous contributions and support to the Group.

By Order of the Board

Freeman FinTech Corporation Limited
(Provisional Liquidators Appointed)

Choi Wai Hong, Clifford
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 6 January 2021
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Biographical Details of Directors
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Choi Wai Hong, Clifford (“Mr. Choi”), aged 62, has been
appointed as an Executive Director of the Company in November
2020. He obtained a finance degree in finance and accounting from
The Victoria University of Manchester, United Kingdom, in 1982. Mr.
Choi is a member of (i) The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants; (ii) The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales; (iii) The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants;
and (iv) The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong. Mr. Choi currently
holds the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
Practising Certificate. Mr. Choi joined Price Waterhouse (currently
known as PricewaterhouseCoopers) in Hong Kong in January 1983
and departed in July 1992 with his last position as manager. He was
subsequently a general manager in DCH MSC (China) Limited, NHK
Distribution Company Limited and Porsche Centre Hangzhou
respectively from July 1992 to June 1999, July 1999 to December
2003 and January 2004 to August 2012. He then joined Princess
Yacht Southern China Limited as a chief executive officer from
September 2012 to November 2012 and later on as a director in the
NHK Yacht Services division of NHK Distribution Company Limited
from 2 December 2012 to August 2017. Mr. Choi then joined Beijing
Glory Star Centre Automotive Sales and Service Company Limited*
(IbFEmx ERUAEEERESER2AA) as its general manager from
September 2017 to January 2018. He has re-joined NHK Distribution
Company Limited since February 2018 and currently serves as its
director. Mr. Choi is also an independent non-executive director of
Samson Paper Holdings Limited (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)
(Stock Code: 731), a company listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), since 16
July 2020.

* for identification purposes only
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Yau Pak Yue (“Mr. Yau”), aged 52, was appointed as an
Executive Director of the Company in July 2020. Mr. Yau obtained
his Bachelor of Commerce (majoring in Accountancy) from the
University of Wollongong in Australia. He was the chief knowledge
officer of Guangzhou Chengfa Capital Company Limited, a state-
owned fund management company, from May 2015 to January
2017. Prior to that, he was the chief executive officer of Taiyang
International Cold Chain (Group) Limited from March 2014 to July
2014, and a partner at one of the big four international accounting
firms from June 2005 to November 2012. He has over 23 years of
experience in mergers and acquisitions transaction supports and
financial due diligence. Mr. Yau is currently the Executive Director of
EWIN Advisory Company Limited. Mr. Yau is also a certified public
accountant in Hong Kong and certified practising accountant in
Australia. Mr. Yau also served as an independent non-executive
director of KEE Holdings Company Limited (Stock Code: 2011,
currently renamed as China Apex Group Limited), a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange from July 2017 to July
2019 and Ascent International Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 264,
currently renamed as China International Development Corporation
Limited), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
from September 2017 to August 2018.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Ang Mei Lee Mary (“Ms. Ang”), aged 57, has been appointed
as a Non-executive Director of the Company by the joint and several
provisional liquidators of the Company (the “Provisional
Liquidators”) in December 2020. Ms. Ang currently serves as a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Ms. Ang graduated
from City Polytechnic of Hong Kong (currently known as City
University of Hong Kong) and holds a Diploma in Accounting. She
has extensive experience in audit, company secretary and corporate
finance. Ms. Ang acted as an executive director of Ocean Grand
Chemicals Holdings Limited (currently known as Hong Kong
Resources Holdings Company Limited) (Stock Code: 2882) from
August 2008 to October 2008 and Ocean Grand Holdings Limited
(currently known as Zhidao International (Holdings) Limited) (Stock
Code: 1220) from September 2008 to January 2012.

Biographical Details of Directors
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Chung Wai Man (“Mr. Chung”), aged 62, has been appointed
as a Non-Executive Director by the Provisional Liquidators in
December 2020. Mr. Chung currently serves as a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Chung holds a Diploma in Business
Management from the Hong Kong Management Association and a
Certificate of Bank of China Banking Course. He has over 24 years
of experience in finance and business consulting. Mr. Chung started
working in The Kwangtung Provincial Bank in 1976, and his last
position before leaving the bank in 1996 was a manager in charge
of the Tai Po sub-branch. After his departure from The Kwangtung
Provincial Bank, Mr. Chung established Raymond Chung Company in
1996, a finance and business consulting firm for corporations in
Hong Kong. In 2004, he set up another consulting firm, Excel Linker
Capital (Asia) Limited, to provide similar consultancy services. Due to
duplicity of the business nature, Raymond Chung Company was
closed in September 2006. In 2009, Mr. Chung applied to deregister
Excel Linker Capital (Asia) Limited as he decided to quit the
consultancy services market. Mr. Chung acted as an independent
non-executive director of United Gene High-Tech Group Limited
(currently known as Innovative Pharmaceutical Biotech Limited)
(Stock Code: 399) from March 2007 to May 2009, Fu Ji Food and
Catering Services Holdings Limited (currently known as Fresh Express
Delivery Holdings Group Co., Limited) (Stock Code: 1175) from June
2011 to July 2013, China Kingstone Mining Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 1380) from February 2013 to July 2015, Fuguiniao Co., Ltd.
(Stock Code: 1819, the shares of which were delisted on 26 August
2019) from September 2017 to May 2018, China Taifeng Beddings
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 873, the shares of which were
delisted on 21 February 2019) from November 2018 to February
2019 and Centron Telecom International Holding Ltd. (Stock Code:
1155, the shares of which were delisted on 1 December 2020) from
April 2018 to February 2020. He acted as an independent non-
executive director from January 2009 to August 2013 and a non-
executive director from August 2013 to September 2014 of U-RIGHT
International Holdings Limited (currently known as Fullsun
International Holdings Group Co., Limited) (Stock Code: 627). Since
June 2017, Mr. Chung has been an independent non-executive
director of China Huishan Dairy Holdings Company (Stock Code:
6863, the shares of which were delisted on 23 December 2019).
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVEE DIRECTORS

Mr. An Dong (“Mr. An"), aged 50, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in August
2017. Mr. An holds a Master’'s degree in Laws from the China
University of Political Science and Law, and has participated in the
Private Equity Investment Program of Peking University HSBC
Business School. Mr. An holds the Lawyer's License of People's
Republic of China, and the Professional Qualifications Certificate
(intermediate level) issued by the China General Chamber of
Commerce. Mr. An has extensive experience in legal affairs in
corporate and banking sector, and he is specialised in asset
restructuring, equity transfer, merger and acquisition, share issuance,
real estate operation and investment, private equity management,
and financial and economic litigation. Mr. An is a partner of a law
firm in China and also a general manager of an investment
management company in China.

Mr. Fung Tze Wa (“Mr. Fung”), aged 64, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in January
2017. Mr. Fung is a certified public accountant and a director of an
accounting firm in Hong Kong. Mr. Fung has many years of
experience in auditing, taxation and company secretarial practice in
Hong Kong. He obtained a master degree in professional accounting
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2000. He is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, The
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, The Taxation
Institute of Hong Kong and The Society of Chinese Accountants and
Auditors.

Mr. Wu Keli (“Mr. Wu"), aged 53, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in October
2016. Mr. Wu holds a Master’s degree and a Bachelor’s degree in
Economics from the Capital University of Economics and Business in
China. Mr. Wu has extensive experience in the regulation and
development of the financial services industry in China. Mr. Wu is a
general manager of a supply chain management company in China.

Biographical Details of Directors
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted the code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”) as its own code on corporate governance practices.
During the reporting period, the Company appeared to comply,
based on the information available to the Directors, with the code
provisions as set out in the CG Code, except for the following:

- Code Provision A.6.7 of the CG Code — two Independent Non-
executive Directors were unable to attend the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 9 September 2019 as they
had other engagements.

- Section F of the CG Code - since the Company has no company
secretary from 6 March 2020, the Company was unable to
comply with relevant code provisions under Section F.

- Section L of the CG Code - Following the appointment of the
Provisional Liquidators on 28 February 2020, (a) the powers of
the Directors have been transferred to and assumed by the
Provisional Liquidators; (b) the Provisional Liquidators have the
power to authorise any Director as they think fit to assist them
in managing the affairs of the Company and only the current
Executive Directors and Non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Yau Pak Yue, Mr. Choi Wai Hong, Clifford, Ms. Ang Mei Lee
Mary and Mr. Chung Wai Man (the “Authorised Directors”)
have been so authorised; and (c) no current Independent Non-
executive Directors has been involved in any affairs of the
Company, thus, the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee have not been
maintained.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set
out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific
enquiry with all Directors, the Company confirmed that throughout
the reporting period, all Directors have complied with the required
standards set out in the Model Code.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

1. Board composition
As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises two
Executive Directors, namely Mr. Choi Wai Hong, Clifford and
Mr. Yau Pak Yue, two Non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Ang
Mei Lee Mary and Mr. Chung Wai Man, and three Independent
Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. An Dong, Mr. Fung Tze
Wa and Mr. Wu Keli. Director’s biographical details are set out
in the Biographical Details of Directors on pages 22 to 25.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

2.

Change in Director’s information

Pursuant to the relevant requirement under the Listing Rules,
the changes in Director’s information since 1 April 2019 are set
out below:

- Ms. Chow Mun Yee and Mr. Zhao Tong retired by rotation as
Executive Directors of the Company at the conclusion of the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 9
September 2019.

- Mr. Cheung Wing Ping retired by rotation as Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company at the conclusion of
the annual general meeting held on 9 September 2019. He
ceased to be the chairman of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of
the Company on the same day.

- Mr. Wong Xiang Hong was appointed as Executive Director
and Chief Executive Officer of the Company with effect
from 29 April 2019. He resigned as Executive Director and
Chief Executive Officer of the Company with effect from 16
March 2020.

- Mr. Pun Hong Hai resigned as Executive Director of the
Company with effect from 6 February 2020.

- Mr. Ye Ye resigned as Chairman of the Board and Executive
Director of the Company with effect from 1 July 2020.

- Mr. Yang Haoying resigned as Chief Executive Officer and
Executive Director of the Company with effect from 29 April
2019 and 1 July 2020 respectively.

- Mr. Fung Tze Wa, Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company, has been appointed as the Chairman of the Audit
Committee of the Company with effect from 9 September
2019. He has been appointed as independent non-executive
director of China Wood International Holding Co., Limited
(Stock Code: 1822) with effect from 15 May 2020. He
resigned as independent non-executive director of Sheng
Yuan Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 851) and Citychamp
Watch & Jewellery Group Limited (Stock Code: 256) with
effect from 19 June 2020 and 1 September 2020 respectively.

- Mr. An Dong, Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company, has been appointed as independent non-
executive director of Sheng Yuan Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 851) and China Wood International Holding Co.,
Limited (Stock Code: 1822) with effect from 11 November
2019 and 12 March 2020 respectively. He resigned as
independent non-executive director of Sheng Yuan Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 851) with effect from 19 June 2020.
He has been appointed as the Chairman of the Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee with effect from
9 September 2019.

Corporate Governance Report
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) =
3. Attendance records of board meetings and other general 3.
meetings
For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Board convened a total
of 26 full board meetings. Attendance records of the board
meetings, other general meetings and the meetings of the
Board Committees during the year were set out below:

B=E (&)

Exgg3RHMRRAE ZHFETE

BE_T_TF-_A=1+-RHLFE &
FeeHAMeREZTE2RER -FA-
Exgen HMRRERASREZZES
SR IOFEBREINOT

Meetings Attended/Held

LR/ 2TE3
Annual
General Audit Remuneration ~ Nomination
Board Meeting Committee Committee Committee
DAES EX M RE
=g BEXE ZE® ZE% ZE8
Executive Directors HTES
Ms. Chow Mun Yee (retired ~ S852/ME (RZZ—NF
on 9 September 2019) NLANBRE ) 1226 11 - - -
Mr. Pun Hong Hai (resigned  EREAE (RZE=ZF
on 6 February 2020) ZARAEE ) 23/26 11 - - -
Mr. Wong Xiang Hong FAAEE (RZE—N5
(appointed on 29 April 2019 @ﬂ - ‘HL AEZAER
and resigned on 16 March 2020) R-Z-Z&=f+7<H
BHE) 2226 1 - - -
Mr. Yang Haoying (resigned on B84 (RZE-FF
1 July 2020) +A—HEE) 24126 11 - - -
Mr. Ye Ye (resigned on HELE(RZE_2F
1 July 2020) +A—HEf) 25/26 11 - - -
Mr. Zhao Tong (retired on BYEE(RZZ-NE
9 September 2019) LANBRE) 14/26 11 - - -
Independent Non-executive BIEHTES
Directors
Mr. An Dong TRELE 25/26 11 6/6 212 212
Mr. Fung Tze Wa BTERE 25/26 7 6/6 22 22
Mr. Wu Kel BRh%sE 2026 0/1 4/6 212 22
Mr. Cheung Wing Ping (retired R&EFLE (RZF—NEF
on 9 September 2019) NANBEAE) 13/26 01 2/6 22 22
4. Responsibilities of the Board 4, %562515

The Board is collectively responsible for the leadership, control
and overall strategic development of the Group, as well as
overseeing internal control, financial performance, overall
management and operations of the Group. The Board has
delegated day-to-day operations to management, who is
responsible for implementing the Group’s business strategies
and managing the daily business operations.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

5.

Independence of Directors

During the year ended 31 March 2020 and up to the date of
this annual report, the Company has complied with the
requirements under the Listing Rules and has appointed three
Independent Non-executive Directors, representing more than
one-third of the number of Directors at the Board, with at least
one of the Independent Non-executive Directors has
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has made an
annual confirmation of independence, and the Company
considers that all of the Independent Non-executive Directors
are independent in accordance with the guidelines as set out in
the Listing Rules.

Directors’ professional development

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The Company has also arranged in-house
training for Directors and provided the relevant materials to the
Directors.

All Directors have provided record of training to the Company.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Directors participated
in the following trainings:

Corporate Governance Report
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Name Type of trainings

W& FIEE

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Yang Haoying (resigned on 1 July 2020) BEEEE (R _%i‘tﬂ —HETE) B

Mr. Ye Ye (resigned on 1 July 2020) M- 5 (5/\7 T -TF+A—HEHT) A, B

Independent Non-executive Directors BYHBITES

Mr. An Dong TRIEE A, B

Mr. Fung Tze Wa HFESE A, B

Mr. Wu Keli A5 f 54 B

A: in-house training A AEBEEN

B:  attending seminars and/or forums and/or reading relevant B: WHEMEER Sk, SHEAEM
materials #
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The role of the Chairman and the Chief Executive are segregated.
Mr. Ye Ye (“Mr. Ye") is the Chairman of the Company and provides
leadership for the Board. One of the major roles of Mr. Ye is to
ensure that the Board works effectively and discharges its
responsibility properly. Mr. Ye also ensures that good corporate
governance practice is in force from time to time, and all key issues
are discussed by the Board in a timely manner. Mr. Yang Haoying
performs the role of Chief Executive of the Company and is
responsible for implementing the Group’s investment strategies
within the authorities delegated by the Board and managing the
day-to-day business of the Group until he resigned as the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company (the "CEQ") with effect from 29
April 2019 and continues to hold the position of an Executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Wong Xiang Hong was appointed as
the CEO with effect from 29 April 2019 and performs the role of
Chief Executive of the Company until he resigned as the CEO with
effect from 16 March 2020. Following the appointment of the
Provisional Liquidators on 28 February 2020, the powers of the
Directors have been transferred to and assumed by the Provisional
Liquidators.

BOARD COMMITTEES

1.  Audit Committee
As at the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee
comprises three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Fung Tze Wa (Chairman), Mr. An Dong and Mr. Wu Keli.
Each committee meeting was chaired by an Independent Non-
executive Director. The principal duties of the Audit Committee
include:

e monitoring the independence and objectivity with the
external auditors and maintaining the effectiveness of the
audit process;

® monitoring integrity of the Company's financial
statements and reports;

e  reviewing financial controls, risk management system and
internal controls; and

e reviewing the Company’s financial and accounting policies
and practices.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

1.

Audit Committee (Continued)

The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources to
perform its duties and has access to independent professional
advice if necessary. During the year, the Audit Committee had
reviewed the Group’s internal control and the interim report for
the six months ended 30 September 2019. Following the
appointment of the Provisional Liquidators on 28 February
2020, (a) the powers of the Directors have been transferred to
and assumed by the Provisional Liquidators; (b) the Provisional
Liquidators have the power to authorise any Director as they
think fit to assist them in managing the affairs of the Company
and only the Authorised Directors have been so authorised;
and (¢) no current Independent Non-executive Directors has
been involved in any affairs of the Company, thus, the Audit
Committee has not been maintained as required by the Listing
Rules and has not reviewed the annual results. Appropriate
personnel will be appointed as members of Audit Committee
before the resumption of the trading in the shares of the
Company on the Stock Exchange.

The Audit Committee convened six meetings for the year.
Additional meetings will be held if the Audit Committee shall
so request. The individual attendance record of each member
of the Audit Committee is disclosed under the section headed
“Board of Directors” above.

Remuneration Committee

As at the date of this annual report, the Remuneration
Committee comprises three Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. An Dong (Chairman), Mr. Fung Tze Wa
and Mr. Wu Keli. The major roles and functions of the
Remuneration Committee as per the terms of reference are as
follows:

e to make recommendations to the Board on the Group’s
policy and structure for the remuneration of the Directors
and senior management;

e to review and approve the management’'s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals
and objectives;

* to review and recommend the remuneration packages of
all Executive Directors for approval by the Board; and
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

2.

Remuneration Committee (Continued)

*  to review and approve compensation payable to Directors
in connection with loss of their offices or compensation
arrangement relating to dismissal or removal of Director.

The Remuneration Committee has every right to access to
professional advice relating to remuneration proposal if
necessary. The Remuneration Committee is provided with
sufficient resources to perform its duties and has access to
independent professional advice if necessary. The Remuneration
Committee adopted the approach under the CG Code to
determine and review, with delegated responsibility, the
remuneration packages of individual Executive Directors and
senior management. During the year, the Remuneration
Committee had reviewed the remuneration package for the
Directors and senior management of the Group and no Director
was involved in deciding his/her remuneration. Following the
appointment of the Provisional Liquidators on 28 February
2020, (a) the powers of the Directors have been transferred to
and assumed by the Provisional Liquidators; (b) the Provisional
Liguidators have the power to authorise any Director as they
think fit to assist them in managing the affairs of the Company
and only the Authorised Directors have been so authorised;
and (c) no current Independent Non-executive Directors has
been involved in any affairs of the Company, thus, the
Remuneration Committee has not been maintained as required
by the Listing Rules. Appropriate personnel will be appointed
as members of Remuneration Committee before the
resumption of the trading in the shares of the Company on the
Stock Exchange.

The Remuneration Committee convened two meetings for the
year. The individual attendance record of each member of the
Remuneration Committee is disclosed under the section headed
“Board of Directors” above.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

3.

Nomination Committee

As at the date of this annual report, the Nomination
Committee comprises three Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. An Dong (Chairman), Mr. Fung Tze Wa
and Mr. Wu Keli. The major roles and functions of the
Nomination Committee as per the terms of reference are as
follows:

° to review the structure, size and composition of the Board
and make recommendations for appointment of Directors/
Chairman/Chief Executive; and

e to assess the independence of the Independent Non-
executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee is provided with sufficient
resources to perform its duties and has access to independent
professional advice if necessary. During the year, the
Nomination Committee had reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board; and considered the appointment of
Independent Non-executive Directors. Following the
appointment of the Provisional Liquidators on 28 February
2020, (a) the powers of the Directors have been transferred to
and assumed by the Provisional Liquidators; (b) the Provisional
Liquidators have the power to authorise any Director as they
think fit to assist them in managing the affairs of the Company
and only the Authorised Directors have been so authorised;
and (c) no current Independent Non-executive Directors has
been involved in any affairs of the Company, thus, the
Nomination Committee has not been maintained as required by
the Listing Rules. Appropriate personnel will be appointed as
members of Nomination Committee before the resumption of
the trading in the shares of the Company on the Stock
Exchange.

The Nomination Committee convened two meetings for the
year. The individual attendance record of each member of the
Nomination Committee is disclosed under the section headed
“Board of Directors” above.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

4,

Nomination Policy

The Board has adopted a nomination policy setting out the
nomination procedures and criteria for selecting and
recommending candidates for directorship.

Nomination Committee would make recommendations to the
Board regarding the appointment and re-appointment of
Directors, with reference to the skills, knowledge, experiences
education background, professional knowledge, personal
integrity of the proposed candidates, and also the Company's
needs and other relevant statutory requirements and
regulations required for the positions. A candidate who is to be
appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director should
also meet the independence criteria as set out in the Listing
Rules. Qualified candidates will then be recommended to the
Board for approval.

Following the appointment of the Provisional Liquidators on 28
February 2020, the powers of the Directors have been
transferred to and assumed by the Provisional Liquidators. The
Nomination Committee has not been maintained. The
Authorised Directors are responsible for managing relevant
affairs of the Company.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board established a set of Board Diversity Policy setting out
the terms and approach to achieve diversity on the Board in
order to enhance its effectiveness and to maintain the high
standards of corporate governance. Board diversity has been
considered from a number of factors, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service, as well as the Company’s business nature and specific
needs from time to time. The Nomination Committee will
review the Board Diversity Policy on a regular basis to ensure
the Board has the appropriate balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives that are required to support the
execution of its business strategy and in order for the Board to
be effective. Board appointments will continue to be made on
a merit and contribution basis and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, with due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board. The current Board consists of
diverse mix of Board members appropriate to the requirement
of the business of the Company.

Following the appointment of the Provisional Liquidators on 28
February 2020, the powers of the Directors have been
transferred to and assumed by the Provisional Liquidators. The
Nomination Committee has not been maintained. The
Authorised Directors are responsible for managing relevant
affairs of the Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

6. Corporate Governance Function
The Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties with written terms of reference as below:

to develop and review an issuer’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

to review and monitor the Company's policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
applicable to employees and Directors; and

to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the year, the Board had reviewed the Company’s
policies and practices on corporate governance.

AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the remuneration paid/payable
to the Company’s external auditor in respect of audit services and
non-audit services were as follows:

Corporate Governance Report
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Nature of services Amount
REMHE &5

HK$'000

BT T
Review of interim results EFPHES 820
Audit services EZIRTE 1,836
Non-audit services for other engagements B = HIEFZ R -
COMPANY SECRETARY NFRE

Ms. Chow Mun Yee resigned as the Company Secretary of the
Company with effect from 8 October 2019. Mr. Chan Yee Yuk (“Mr.
Chan”) was appointed as the Company Secretary of the Company
with effect from 8 October 2019. The employment of Mr. Chan as
the Company Secretary of the Company was terminated with effect
from 6 March 2020.

FHRNEA-_F-NAFTANAEHELAR
AARME-RREEE(IREE])B=F
—NF+ANBREZERARBRAME KR
EEREARARAANEZEABE T -F
=ARNBERBEL-

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)

35



36

Corporate Governance Report
ERERARSE

COMPANY SECRETARY (continued)

Pursuant to Rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules, the Company must
appoint an individual as its company secretary. Following the
termination of employment of Mr. Chan as the Company Secretary
of the Company with effect from 6 March 2020, the Company failed
to satisfy the abovementioned requirement during the period
between 6 March 2020 and 31 March 2020. The position of the
company secretary of the Company is vacant as at the date of this
report.

Appropriate personnel will be appointed as the company secretary of
the Company before resumption of the trading in the Company’s
Shares on the Stock Exchange.

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
The Board is responsible for the system of internal controls and risk
management of the Group and to review its effectiveness. The
internal controls of the Group was designed to provide reasonable
assurance that material assets were protected, business risks
attributable to the Group were identified and monitored properly,
material transactions were executed in accordance with proper
authorisation. It aims to provide reasonable but not absolute
assurance against material misstatement, loss or fraud.

During the year, a review of key internal control procedures had
been conducted to ensure that processes had been properly carried
out as prescribed in making decisions; the internal control policies
had been properly followed; books and records and documents were
properly maintained; and the investment was in compliance with
relevant legislations, regulations or/and other statutory requirements.

Management currently takes the view that there is no immediate
need to set up an internal audit function in light of the size, nature
and complexity of the Group's business. The need for an internal
audit function will be reviewed from time to time.

Investment in listed securities and equity investments are the core of
the Group’s investments which were classified as investments at fair
value through profit or loss and other financial assets, respectively in
the consolidated statement of financial position and may expose to
market price risk and foreign exchange risk. The Board has
continuously monitoring these investments with an aim to reduce
such risks.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

1. Procedures for Shareholders to convene an extraordinary
general meeting
Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, any
two Shareholders may request the Board to convene an
extraordinary general meeting by way of depositing a written
requisition at the registered office of the Company (Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-
1111, Cayman lIslands) specifying the objects of the meeting
and signed by the requisitionists.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (Continued)

2.

Procedures for proposing a person for election as a
Director

Subject to applicable laws and regulations, including the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the Listing Rules and
the Articles of Association of the Company, the Company may
from time to time in general meeting by ordinary resolution
elect any person to be a Director either to fill a casual vacancy
or as an addition to the Board.

A Shareholder may propose a person (the “Person”) for
election as a Director by lodging the following documents at
the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at
13/F, Fortis Tower, 77-79 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong:

(1) a notice in writing signed by the Shareholder concerned
of his/her/its intention to propose the Person as a Director
with full particulars of the Person including his/her/its full
name and biographical details as required under the
relevant requirement under the Listing Rules; and

(2) a notice in writing signed by the Person of his/her/its
consent to be elected as a Director.

The period for lodgement of such notice shall commence on
(and include) the day after the despatch of the notice of
meeting appointed for such election and end on (and exclude)
the date that is seven (7) days before the date appointed for
the general meeting.

Procedures for Shareholders to put enquiries to the Board
Shareholders may direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings to the Company's share registrar in Hong Kong,
Tricor Secretaries Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong. Other Shareholders’ enquiries
can be sent by mail to the Company’s principal place of
business in Hong Kong at 13/F, Fortis Tower, 77-79 Gloucester
Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong for the attention of the Board.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the
general meetings of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS

1.

The Company’s Constitutional Documents
There is no significant change in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year ended 31 March 2020.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS

(Continued)

2. Communication with Investors
The Company’s corporate website (www.freeman279.com)
facilitates effective communications with Shareholders,
investors and other stakeholders, making corporate information
and other relevant financial and non-financial information
available electronically and on a timely basis. This includes
extensive historical information about the Group’s performance
and activities via Interim Report, Annual Report, announcements
and other corporate information.

Shareholder’s meetings, such as annual general meeting and
extraordinary general meetings, provide another channel for
the Board to meet and communicate with Shareholders. All
Shareholders are provided with sufficient notice to attend the
Shareholders’ meeting. The results of the voting by poll are
published on the Stock Exchange's website and the Company's
website on a timely basis.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”) setting out the principle to determine the declaration of
dividends or recommend such payment which shall be subject to all
applicable laws and regulations as well as the Company’s
memorandum and articles of association. The Board will take into
account the Company's financial performance, current economic
conditions, future prospects and all relevant factors in determining
the declaration of dividends or recommendation on such payment.
The Dividend Policy and its effectiveness shall be reviewed on a
regular basis or as required.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparation of
financial statements of the Group which give a true and fair view of
the financial position of the Group and of its financial performance
and cash flows. The Directors ensure that the financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2020 have been prepared in
accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. They will also ensure the publication of which be in a
timely manner.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

SCOPE AND REPORTING PERIOD

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “ESG
report”) is prepared by Freeman FinTech Corporation Limited
(Provisional Liquidators Appointed) (the “Company”, together with
its subsidiaries referred to as the “Group”), highlighting its
Environmental, Social and Governance (the “ESG") performance,
with disclosure reference made to the ESG Reporting Guide as
described in Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”).

The Group is principally engaged in the financial services sector,
including the provision of securities and futures brokerage services,
the provision of placing, underwriting and margin financing services,
the provision of insurance brokerage and financial planning services,
the provision of finance, the trading of securities and futures, the
provision of factoring, as well as investment holding.

This ESG report covers the overall performance of the Group in two
subject areas, namely, environmental and social issues of the
business operations of head office in Hong Kong and the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC") for the year ended 31 March 2020,
unless otherwise stated.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND
MATERIALITY

In order to identify the most significant aspects for the Group to
report in this ESG report, key stakeholders including investors,
shareholders and employees have been involved in regular
engagement sessions to discuss and review areas of attention which
enables the Group to understand the reasonable expectations and
interests of the stakeholders, as well as prepare for future
challenges.

STAKEHOLDERS' FEEDBACK

The Group welcomes stakeholders’ feedback on our ESG approach
and performance. Please give your suggestions or share your views
with us via email at info@freeman279.com.
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A.

ENVIRONMENTAL

A. BiR

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the business operations of
the Group in Hong Kong and the PRC were office-based.
Therefore, emissions were mainly related to electricity and
paper consumption. Business trips by flights were minimal such
that it is considered immaterial in this report. During the
reporting period, no material non-compliance in relation to air
and greenhouse gas emissions, discharge into water and land,
and the generation of hazardous and non-hazardous was

noted.

1. Emissions

(i) Air emissions

The business operations of the Group did not
generate any significant direct emissions in relation
to gaseous fuel consumption or vehicles, hence no
such information related to air emissions is

presented in this report.

(ii) Greenhouse gas emissions

B2 T TF=-A=T—HBLFE XK
SERBERTEZEBLEEUNRIER
Eio At AR EBEE N RAFTERA
Mo MERBRERD AUt AREPHE
RIEE - REHRAR KIBDNBEBERK
BERBHN KRS BENE
EREEVHEENEMNERTARBMR

1. BB
(i) BEmHH
AEBEBECETTELERH
RERESCHERERHOTME
REEHR BEAREFRE
5| 75 8 58S BE AR Y R -

(i) BEEREHH

Emission Total emission
(in tCO,e)Note (in percentage)
B
Scope of greenhouse (Wi — 1L bix BYEHME
gas emissions BERBHKEE BE) (MWiEm) (BZtk)
Scope 1 - Direct emission HE-EEHEN
Offices in Hong Kong BEAERFERBAE N/A N/A
and the PRC EA TiE A
Scope 2 - Indirect emission EIER2-BEZEHEEHN
from purchased i 2 HE Ry ()
electricity®ote ()
Office in Hong Kong BAENAE 92.54
Office in the PRC hEBAE 0.69
Scope 2 total g E2/B 5 93.23 92%
Scope 3 — Other indirect HE-EAEREELEN
emission from paper waste  H At EHERK
disposal
Office in Hong Kong BAERAE 7.22
Office in the PRC hEBAE 1.26
Scope 3 total & E348 5 8.48 8%
Total et 101.71 100%
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

1. Emissions (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Greenhouse gas emissions (Continued)
Notes:

(i) Emission factors were made reference to Appendix
27 of the Listing Rules and their referred
documentation as set out by The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), unless
stated otherwise.

(ii) Emission factors for calculation of emission from
purchased electricity in Hong Kong and in the PRC
were made reference to the HK Electric Investments
Sustainability Report 2019 and the grid emission
factors for the Northern China respectively.

(iii)

tCO,e = tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent

During the reporting period, 101.71 tonnes of
carbon dioxide equivalent (tCO,e) of greenhouse
gases (mainly carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous
oxide) were emitted from the business operations,
with an intensity of 0.09 tCO,e/m? they were
contributed by purchased electricity and paper
waste disposal.

Hazardous waste

The business operations of the Group did not
involve generation of any significant hazardous
waste. Hence, no such information is presented in
this report.

Non-hazardous waste

Office paper was the major non-hazardous waste of
the Group for its business operations. 1.77 tonnes
of paper were consumed for daily office operation
such as document printing, contributing to an
aggregate emission of 8.48 tCO,e.

Measures to mitigate emissions

The business operations of the Group did not
involve any significant direct emissions in relation to
gaseous fuel consumption or vehicles, hence no
such information is presented in this report.
Mitigation measures for electricity consumption is
described in section 2(iii).
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)

1. Emissions (Continued)

(vi) Wastes handling and reduction initiatives

The Group continues to practise paper saving
initiatives. Employees are encouraged to print paper
on both sides and utilise recycled papers for their
draft works. Except for documents that contain
confidential information, which were securely
destroyed with paper shredder before disposal to
landfill, waste paper was collected by the property
management office for proper disposal. With
continuous effort, less waste paper was being
consumed in the offices, which accounted for to a
17% reduction of paper consumption compared to
the last reporting period.

Office supplies were reused to minimise any
potential waste. Used printer cartridges were
returned to the supplier for proper recycling.
Reusable dishes and utensils were provided at
pantry for further waste reduction.

2. Use of resources

(i)

(ii)

Energy consumption

During the reporting period, the offices of the
Group consumed 115,210 kWh of electricity, with
an intensity of 101.47 kWh/m?.

Water consumption

Water supply and discharge of the Group were
managed by the building management office, thus,
the costs of usage was included in the management
fees. The Group did not consume significant amount
of water through business activities and the water
consumption was considered minimal during the
reporting period.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

2. Use of resources (Continued)

(iii) Energy use efficiency initiatives

(iv)

(v)

As the Group operates in an office setting,
electricity was the most significant source of
emission. Therefore, employees are often reminded
to switch off all lights, air conditioners, computers,
monitors, and equipment before leaving work.
Energy efficient electrical appliances, such as
refrigerators with Grade 1 energy label under the
Mandatory Energy Efficiency Labelling Scheme by
the Electrical and Mechanical Services Department,
are prioritised during the purchasing process.
Damaged or waste electrical and electronic
equipment are sent to recyclers for processing.

Water use efficiency initiatives

The business operations of the Group did not
involve any significant use of water. Hence, no such
information is presented in this report.

Packaging materials

No packaging materials were used for the business
operations of the Group. Hence, no such
information is presented in this report.

3. The environment and natural resources
The business operations of the Group had no significant
impact on the environment. Nevertheless, the Group
commits to continue making effort to minimise the use of
resources and related impacts to the natural environment,
as well as complying with relevant laws and regulations.
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Wi HEREARE
B. SOCIAL B. it®
1. Employment and labour practices 1. EREREIER
(i) Employment (i) FEF
The Group set out policies in relation to AEBEHAEE XKL G
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and EBEHMENERE BERLE
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal e IERE-KRERME TE
opportunities, diversity and anti-discrimination for e 2ol KR IR AR o
the business operations of the Group. The Group AEEBREETHESRTEE
strictly complies with all applicable laws and RAfE A &2 TN A EA
regulations of Hong Kong and the PRC regarding EERER RSN KEEE
employment and labour rights. During the reporting EHEBNERTEGRIEN -
period, no material non-compliance in relation to
employment was noted.
As of 31 March 2020, the Group had 58 employees RZEZZEF=-A=+—H =K
(2019: 117 employees) who were all working full SEAS8%EE (ZE—NEF:
time. The Group provides competitive remuneration M"/I%EE) FIBEEEH AR
package to reward and retain the employees. BIE- AEEEREEEHRFEN
Employees are entitled to all public holidays in Hong BWEH AnHRREBEE &
Kong or the PRC, in addition to their paid annual BEZEBBLAPBIFMERRRK
leaves, maternity leaves, group medical insurance, HUREREGOFTEIBNE
mandatory provident fund, and standard working FHR-ER BRERERRRE A
hours as set out in their employment contracts. M RE S RIRET MR o
Individual performance appraisal system is R A EARB GRS
established for providing reviews on employees’ Bl EE TIEER  BETEK
work progress, potential talent, and contribution HAEBERKEZNER -
towards the future goals of the Group.
The Group is committed to developing and REBHRIRBERRIFER
supporting equality and diversity in employment FERSZEE BREFHR &
including age, race, colour, nationality, and any & 8B BIFE EAE A B R AR
other status, as protected by relevant legislations PR E A 75 H o
and ordinances.
Workforce by age group Age 56
(in percentage) Age 18-25 Age 26-35 Age 36-45 Age 46-55 or above
BERIINET (BDL) 18-255% 26-355% 36-455% 46-555% 56BN L
31 March 2020 5 46 40 7 2
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

B. SOCIAL (continued)

1.  Employment and labour practices (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Employee health and safety

The Group is committed to complying with all
applicable laws and regulations in Hong Kong and
the PRC. The Group sets out policies in relation to
providing safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards. During the
reporting period, no non-compliance in relation to
health and safety laws and regulations was noted.

The Group has occupational health and safety
measures to ensure a healthy and safe working
environment for employees. The medical plan that
are enjoyed by employees covers various protections
and benefits for medical care. The Group is
dedicated to maintaining a safe, hygienic, and
productive workplace by minimising the potential
risk of work-related accidents and injuries.

Development and training

The Group organises orientation training to new
employees to ensure that they understand their
rights, welfare, and the human resources system of
the Group. Training programmes are developed
based on business needs and development goals of
employees. The Group will explore further training
opportunities to equip employees with knowledge
and skills needed to grow with the business.

Labour standards

During the reporting period, there was no child nor
forced labour in the business operations of the
Group. In terms of employment management, the
Human Resources Department conducts background
checks for new employees to ensure compliance
with all applicable laws and regulations in the
relevant jurisdiction regarding child labour and
labour standard. The Group inspects all new
employees’ identity documents or working visas in
prevention of illegal labour employment. During the
reporting period, no non-compliance in relation to
labour standards as required by related laws and
regulations was noted.

BE HERERHRSE

B. it® (&)
1. EEREZEIER(£)
(i) EERERZZ
AEBYARBTESRFAE
HOFT A i R R o AN 4
FHBRMETE TEBERE
EREERIWECEMIE - R
SR R TENERRERE
DEEFRMTABER -

AEEEDBERERZ 2
it NEREEHREERELEN
TERRE - BEZANBREAS
MEBENSERERBHN K
SEBONBETFEEBEER
MEBERRMSE #RFLE-
BEREBRBH TIFRE -

REREZ
AEBESHEE LT
Al - ARECR LI AR ELAE A - 48 A
RAEEH AN ERFES 55l
AEIEREBREREENHE
RERHE ARBRERES
Hilge  <EE REREE—
BF P £ AT 78 O R0 A8 B B BE o

(iii)

BETHRE

BERR AEBEXBEEH R
ERETHRHST -EEE
BE - ANEREBLHE B
TERAE - AERETIHER
FERRAAEIRGHEREE
T BB RAREAR - AEER
EMAFEEN S HEHAXMF
S TERRRE - DT IEEBE A 3EES
T-HEHA KAEBHERME
BOERERRENSBIREN

1B e

(iv)

=
B

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)

45



46

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - HERERRSE

B. SOCIAL (continued)

Operating practices

2.

(i)

(i)

Supply chain management

The Group has standard procedures and policies on
engaging suppliers and contractors related to its
business operations. Suppliers were screened
carefully to ensure that their quality, price, and
capability meets the expectations and standards of
the Group. For the year ended 31 March 2020,
there were no major changes in policies in relation
to managing environmental and social risk of the
supply chain.

Product responsibility

For the year ended 31 March 2020, there were no
major changes in policies in relation to product
responsibility. During the reporting period, no non-
compliance in relation to health and safety,
advertising, labelling, and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided as required by
related laws and regulations was noted.

Product labelling and quality assurance

The Group provides a high standard of service to
satisfy the investment and financial needs of its
customers. It follows the internal policies and
regulatory requirements when delivering its services,
and regularly reviews the services quality and seeks
customer feedback to identify areas of improvement.
It explains to customers the underlying risks derived
from the financial products to facilitate their financial
decision-making process. The Group ensures that the
information and marketing materials it provides do
not contain any misleading content, and perform
preventive measures, including implementation of
“Know-Your-Customers” procedures, to protect
customers’ interests more effectively. Furthermore,
the respective subsidiaries performing relevant
financial services are licensed and regulated under
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")
Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong. Apart from
complying with the SFO in relation to custody of
customer assets, the Group protects its clients’ assets
by adopting adequate controls such as maintaining
designated trust accounts to manage customers’
funds, which are audited regularly by independent
accountants.

B. it® #)
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2.

(i)

(i)
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HEEEE

AEEREREEEBRLEDN
HERLABBHREFERF
RBR AR B ASEHEE
B AREREME  ERNER
MARKENFERNGE -BE
—ERCEF=A=+—-HIF
B EEHEERE LSRR

BRI EEXEH -
EmEF

BE_Z_ZF=A=+—H
IHFE  AREME EBRIL
BEAEH -HEPAR KIE
BEMERHERMRBER
RAARBDEPI LR B RV E
kZz BEE BRERLEER
BREMRIBI -

EmEERRERE
AEBRESIZERS  AnE
BEPHNREMNIBEFER - AEE
FE A AR 7% By 38 57 R RR R R &%
EERE  UEHRRSRERE
KREREFRE  ABRIFEEN
HER AL - NEE R F P RER
BERERWABAR &
F B RERIZFr - N BTELR
HRHA P E &R K& MR
TESTAREEAR IR
Bhhtai (BEER [ T H#IRW
BFRIRER) EAMMIRE
BRI RHBESR
RIGH)ZH B AR 2 EEM R
RBEBEGIESTIE (BH LB
S0 (TRERBEHERH])
EE -BREBETREFLABRIAE
AEFPEERENREIN A%
BERBEENERRETFE
- RREENERERFPER
BFEZ BRARFPHBIER
Bib E R A% o



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

B. SOCIAL (continued)
2. Operating practices (Continued)

(ii) Product responsibility (Continued)

Customer data protection

The Group acknowledges the importance of
protecting privacy and confidentiality of its
customers’ information. The Group developed
internal policy to govern the collection, handling,
and disclosure of clients’ data. Pursuant to Personal
Data (Privacy) Ordinance, Chapter 486 of the Laws
of Hong Kong, the Group prohibited the use of any
personal information of clients by other parties for
direct marketing purposes if unlawful or without
explicit and implicit consent of the client.

Department leaders safeguard the confidentiality of
customers’ information and prevent data breach and
information leakage. Only uses with authorised
access privileges can access the sensitive information
in the servers. The Information Technology
Department continuously monitors the use of server
and constantly updates the antivirus software.

(iiij) Anti-corruption

The Group is committed to managing all businesses
without undue influence and has regarded honesty,
integrity, and fairness as its core values. The Group
complies with all applicable laws and regulations of
Hong Kong and the PRC on prohibiting bribery and
corruption, which include Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance, Chapter 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong.
All directors of the Company and employees of the
Group are required to strictly follow the policy of
the Group to prevent potential bribery, extortion,
fraud, and money laundering. During the reporting
period, no concluded legal cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the Group or its
employees were noted.

3. Community investment

The Group cares for the development of the society and
encourages its employees to participate in charitable
events, and to make contributions by both financial and
non-financial means. The Group has not participated in
any community engagement activities in the reporting
period and will consider potential focus areas and
resources for community contribution in the coming
years.
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND ANALYSIS OF
OPERATIONS

The Company is an investment holding company. Details of the
principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1
to the financial statements.

Details of the analysis of the Group’s revenue and results for the year by
operating segments are set out in note 4 to the financial statements.

Further discussion and analysis of the Group’s business review and
prospects can be found in the “Management Discussion and
Analysis” section of this annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 March 2020 and the
financial position of the Group at that date are set out in the
financial statements on pages 65 to 69. The Directors do not
recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the audited financial statements and restated/
reclassified/re-presented as appropriate, is set out on page 230. This
summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE OPTIONS, CONVERTIBLE
INSTRUMENTS

Details of the movements in the convertible instruments, share capital
and share options of the Company during the year are set out in notes
29, 32 and 33 to the financial statements respectively.

In June 2019, the Company and Mr. Liang Yahong (the
“Subscriber”) entered into the agreement under which the
Company conditionally agreed to allot and issue and the Subscriber
conditionally agreed to subscribe 300,000,000 new ordinary shares
of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company (the “Shares”)
at the subscription price of HK$0.145 per Share (the 2019
Subscription”). The gross proceeds from the 2019 Subscription are
HK$43,500,000 and the net proceeds from which (after deducting
estimated related expenses of approximately HK$0.5 million) are
HK$43,000,000 which are intended to be applied for (i) repayment
of interest under the convertible notes issued on 24 October 2018
(the "Convertible Notes”); and (ii) general working capital of the
Group.
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In August 2019, an aggregate of 300,000,000 Shares were allotted
and issued to the Subscriber at the subscription price of HK$0.145
per Share. As at 31 March 2020, the Company’s total issued shares
were 1,868,176,188 Shares.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, no conversion rights
attaching to the convertible bonds issued on 14 June 2017 (the
“First Convertible Bonds"”) were exercised and the conversion
rights attached to the First Convertible Bonds lapsed upon maturity.
The remaining principal and equity component of the expired First
Convertible Bonds of US$99,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$772,200,000) and HK$180,966,000 were transferred to other
borrowings under current liabilities and accumulated losses
respectively.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, no conversion rights
attaching to the convertible bonds issued on 12 September 2017
(the “Second Convertible Bonds”) were exercised and the
conversion rights attached to the Second Convertible Bonds lapsed
upon maturity. The remaining principal and equity component of the
expired Second Convertible Bonds of HK$429,197,000 and
HK$98,834,000 were transferred to other borrowings under current
liabilities and accumulated losses respectively.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, no conversion rights
attaching to the Convertible Notes were exercised and the
conversion rights attached to the Convertible Notes lapsed upon
maturity. The remaining principal and equity component of the
expired Convertible Notes of HK$185,847,419 and HK$17,273,973
were transferred to other borrowings under current liabilities and
accumulated losses respectively.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, no share options granted
under the 2012 Scheme (the “Share Options”) were granted,
exercised or cancelled. 79,613,463 Share Options lapsed. As at 31
March 2020, there were 115,895,632 (2019: 195,509,095) Share
Options outstanding under the 2012 Scheme.

From 1 April 2020 to 30 November 2020, 34,363,522 share options
lapsed, and 81,532,110 share options were outstanding as at 30
November 2020. In December 2020, notices were given to each
existing share option holder according to the terms of the share
option scheme (adopted by the resolution of the Company’s
shareholders on 31 August 2012) to exercise their share options until
close of business on 15 January 2021.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association, or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to existing Shareholders.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, redeemed or sold any of the listed securities of the
Company.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on pages 70 to 71 and note 46 to the financial statements.

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, dividends
shall be payable out of the profits or other reserves of the Company.
The Company’s reserves available for distribution to the Company’s
shareholders comprise share premium, capital redemption reserve,
contributed surplus, convertible instruments equity reserve,
distributable reserve, shareholder’s contribution, share option reserve
and accumulated losses, which in aggregate amounted to
HK$2,447,211,000 at 31 March 2019. As at 31 March 2020, there
were no reserves available for distribution to the equity holders of
the Company under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the year, the Group made no charitable contributions (2019:
Nil).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate revenue attributable to the Group's
five largest customers represents approximately 48% of the Group’s
total revenue (excluding the Group's dividend income and net losses
from the sale of investments at fair value through profit or loss) and
the revenue attributable to the Group’s largest customer was
approximately 18% (excluding the Group’s dividend income and net
losses from the sale of investments at fair value through profit or
loss).

The aggregate purchases during the year attributable to the Group's
five largest suppliers represent approximately 55% of the Group's
total purchases and the purchases attributable to the Group's largest
supplier were approximately 33% of the Group's total purchases.

As far as the Directors are aware, no Directors, their close associates
or any Shareholder (which to the Directors’ knowledge own more
than 5% of the Company’s share capital) has any shareholding in
the suppliers referred to above as at 31 March 2020.
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Choi Wai Hong, Clifford (appointed on 19 November 2020)

Mr. Yau Pak Yue (appointed on 1 July 2020)

Ms. Chow Mun Yee (retired on 9 September 2019)

Mr. Pun Hong Hai (resigned on 6 February 2020)

Mr. Wong Xiang Hong (appointed on 29 April 2019 and
resigned on 16 March 2020)

Mr. Yang Haoying (resigned on 1 July 2020)

Mr. Ye Ye (resigned on 1 July 2020)

Mr. Zhao Tong (retired on 9 September 2019)

Non-Executive Directors
Ms. Ang Mei Lee Mary (appointed on 17 December 2020)
Mr. Chung Wai Man (appointed on 17 December 2020)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. An Dong

Mr. Fung Tze Wa

Mr. Wu Keli

Mr. Cheung Wing Ping (retired on 9 September 2019)

In accordance with Articles 95 and 112 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. Choi Wai Hong, Clifford, Mr. Yau Pak Yue, Ms. Ang
Mei Lee Mary, Mr. Chung Wai Man and Mr. Wu Keli will retire at the
forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.

No Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company or any of
its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

At 31 March 2020, based on the register kept by the Company, the
interests of the Directors and chief executives of the Company and
their associates in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations, as recorded in
the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
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Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers

set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules were as follows:

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company:

RARBAEBRZER:

AIEMEARRB LRz Emm T

Deemed
Number of interests

shares in number of Approximate

and shares and percentage of

underlying underlying the issued

Name of Directors Capacity shares held shares Total share capital
BIERKRO R

RO R HEROHE HE#ITRA

BENA =il HERDEE REEER et BHABEDL

Mr. Ye Ye Beneficial owner - 15,681,761(L) 15,681,761(L) 0.83%(L)
I 5 A EnfEEA (Note 1) (Note 2)
(MiE1) (B=E2)

Mr. Yang Haoying Beneficial owner - 15,681,761(L) 15,681,761(L) 0.83%(L)
N EHERA (Note 1) (Note 2)
(Mi&E1) (B7E2)

Mr. An Dong Beneficial owner - 1,568,176(L) 1,568,176(L) 0.08%(L)
TREE ERERA (Note 1)
(HysE1)

Mr. Fung Tze Wa Beneficial owner - 1,568,176(L) 1,568,176(L) 0.08%(L)
BTELE BEnEB A (Note 1)
(HMaE1)

Mr. Wu Keli Beneficial owner - 1,568,176(L) 1,568,176(L) 0.08%(L)
BwkHE EnEEA (Note 1)
(HsE1)

Note 1: These share options were granted on 6 August 2018 by the a1 ZEBEREAARATIR-_Z—-NFENANH

Company under the 2012 Scheme.

Note 2:

(L):  Long Position

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)

The share options of Mr. Ye Ye and Mr. Yang Haoying
lapsed with effect from 1 July 2020 as they resigned as
Directors.
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The interests stated above represent the Director’s interests in the
Shares. Save as disclosed above and based on the register kept by
the Company, at 31 March 2020, none of the Directors, chief
executives nor their associates had any interests or short positions in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations as recorded in the register required to
be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in note 33 to the financial statements headed
“Share Option Scheme”, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debt securities (including debentures) of, the
Company or any other body corporate, and none of the Directors, or
their spouses or children under the age of eighteen, had any right to
subscribe for the securities of the Company, or had exercised any
such rights during the year.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND

UNDERLYING SHARES

At 31 March 2020, based on the register kept by the Company, the
following persons have interests or short position in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company, being 5% or more of the
Company’s issued share capital, as known to the Company or
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO:
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Approximate
percentage
of the issued

Name of substantial shareholders Capacity Total share capital

HE#ITRA
TERRERE B g4 BE BB DL
Mr. Zhang Yongdong (Note 1) Beneficial owner 100,076,600 (L) 5.35% (L)
SRR A (FEFET) ERBEBA 159,574,600 (S) 8.54% (S)

InterGlobal Trust Limited (Note 2)

FREFTARIA (MiE2) REZEHEEN RS

(L):  Long Position
(S):  Short Position

Note 1: These shares were held by Galaxy Strategic Investment Co. Ltd., a
company wholly-owned by Mr. Zhang Yongdong.
Note 2: InterGlobal Trust Limited is the sole trustee for Win Faith Trust

whose sole beneficiary is Mr. Liang Yahong.

Interest in controlled corporation

300,000,000 (L) 16.05% (L)

R
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Save as disclosed above and based on the register kept by the
Company, the Company had not been notified by any persons who
had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares
of the Company at 31 March 2020 as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the Independent Non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all the Independent Non-executive Directors are independent.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part
of the Company’s business were entered into or subsisting during
the year.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Company is set up by
the Board on the basis of their merit, qualifications and competence.
The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Board, who are
authorised by the Shareholders in the annual general meeting,
having regard to the Company’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics. The Company has
adopted a share option scheme as an incentive, details of the
scheme are set out in note 33 to the financial statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Company’s Articles of Association provides that every Director
shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities which he may sustain or incur in or
about the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in
relation thereto. The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’
and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and
officers of the Company during the year. The level of the coverage is
reviewed annually.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total number of issued shares is held by the public as at the date of
this report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions (which did not constitute
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
discloseable under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules) for the year
ended 31 March 2020 are set out in note 39 to the financial
statements.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year, to the best knowledge of the Directors, there was
no material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws
and reqgulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the
business and operations of the Group.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Company values its employees and maintains competitive
remuneration packages to motivate its employees. Throughout the
year, the Group continued to maintain good relationships with its
employees, customers, suppliers, service providers and investors.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the significant events of the Group after the reporting
period are set out in the section of the “Management Discussion
and Analysis” and note 47 to the financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group is committed to building an environmental-friendly
corporation. The Group promotes environmental practices such as
double-sided printing and copying, using recycled paper and
reducing energy consumption of lightings and air-conditioning.

The Environmental, Social and Governance Report is set out on
pages 39 to 47 of this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

A report on the corporate governance practices of the Company is
set out on pages 26 to 38 of this annual report.

AUDITOR

The Board appointed Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited as the
auditor of the Company with effect from 28 April 2017 to fill the
casual vacancy following the resignation of Ernst & Young such that
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2017 were audited by Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA
Limited.

Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited changed its name to Crowe (HK)
CPA Limited with effect from 4 June 2018. The consolidated
financial statements for each of the three years ended 31 March
2018, 2019 and 2020 of the Group have been audited by Crowe
(HK) CPA Limited, who will retire at the forthcoming annual general
meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.
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DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

As disclosed in sections headed “Disclaimer of Opinion” and “Basis
for Disclaimer of Opinion” in the independent auditors’ report
contained on pages 58 to 64 of this report, the auditors of the
Company, Crowe (HK) CPA Limited (“Crowe"” and the "“Auditor”),
did not express an audit opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020 (the
"2020 Consolidated Financial Statements”). Due to the
deconsolidation of subsidiaries, adjustment of value of investment in
associates, adjustment of value of investment in unlisted equity
investment, and multiple uncertainties relating to going concern,
Crowe has not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on the 2020
Consolidated Financial Statements (the “Audit Qualification”).

The Directors has been taking measures to improve the liquidity and
solvency position of the Group. These measures include (i) identified
an investor for putting forward a debt restructuring of the Company
and provision of loans to the Company; (i) put forward a debt
restructuring plan to the creditors of the Company; (iii) speeding up
the collection of receivables process; and (iv) tightening operating
cash outflows through cutting costs and capital expenditures.

Taking into accounts the above consideration, the Board was of the
view that the Group would be able to continue as a going concern
and it is appropriate to prepare the 2020 Consolidated Financial
Statements based on a going-concern basis. The Board considered
the views of Crowe that these measures are still in progress and not
concluded by the date of the 2020 Consolidated Financial
Statements, and the outcomes of these measures are not within the
control of the Board. The Board understood the consideration of
Crowe in arriving their view towards the Audit Qualification. Should
the going concern assumption be inappropriate, adjustments may
have to be made to reflect the situation that assets may need to be
realised at amounts other than those currently recorded in the
consolidated statement of financial position. In addition, the Group
may have to provide for further liabilities that might arise, and to
reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current
assets and current liabilities. The effect of these adjustments has not
been reflected in the 2020 Consolidated Financial Statements.
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As disclosed in the announcements dated 17 November 2020, 23
November 2020, 27 November 2020 and 30 December 2020, in
relation to, among others, the proposed Restructuring. The
Provisional Liquidators and the Investor entered into the
Restructuring Deed, pursuant to which the Company, the Provisional
Liquidators and the Investor agreed on the principal terms of the
Restructuring which shall include, among others, (a) the provision of
the First Loan and the Second Loan by the Investor; (b) the
Subscription; (c) the Share Premium Cancellation; (d) the
Resumption; (e) if the Resumption is not approved by the Stock
Exchange, the Acquisition; and (f) the Schemes.

Upon application of the Provisional Liquidators, the Grand Court and
the High Court have both Sanctioned the convening of the Scheme
Meetings on 24 December 2020. The Scheme Meetings is fixed on
22 January 2021.

The proposed Restructuring is subject to negotiation with the
stakeholders, sanction by the Court and relevant authorities.

The Board has also taken measures to tighten the operating cash
outflows through cutting costs and capital expenditures. These
measure included (i) freezing headcount of the Group by pausing
recruitment of new employees and replacement of resigned
employees; (ii) reducing office rental expenses by relocating the main
office to a smaller office to save costs; (iii) slowing down settlement
of operating costs by fully utilising the credit period granted by
suppliers and service providers, and arranging interim payments of
smaller amounts instead of one-off payments of bulk amounts; and
(iv) slowing down capital expenditures on computer and network
system upgrades of the Group.

Subject to completion of the proposed Restructuring and successful
and favorable outcomes of the measures taken by the Board
mentioned above, the Board believes that the Audit Modifications
should have no on-going effect on Company’s financial statements
in future reporting periods after the completion of proposed
Restructuring.

On behalf of the Board

Freeman FinTech Corporation Limited
(Provisional Liquidators Appointed)

Choi Wai Hong, Clifford
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 6 January 2021
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B M % BT R

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED

(Provisional Liquidators Appointed)

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of
Freeman FinTech Corporation Limited and its subsidiaries (“the
Group”) set out on pages 65 to 229, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2020,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of the matters
described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our
report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these
consolidated financial statements. In all other respects, in our
opinion the consolidated financial statements have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

1.

Deconsolidation of subsidiaries

As explained in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial
statements, as a result of the resignation of certain senior
management members of the Company and non-cooperation
of the management of certain subsidiaries (the
“"Deconsolidated Subsidiaries”), the directors of the
Company had been unable to obtain and gain access to the
books and records and assets of the Deconsolidated
Subsidiaries of the Company and had therefore resolved that
the Group no longer had the controlling power to govern the
financial and operating policies of the Deconsolidated
Subsidiaries so as to benefit from their activities. Accordingly,
the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries were deconsolidated from the
consolidated financial statements of the Group from 1 April
2019 onwards. As a result of the circumstances described
above, the directors of the Company have been unable to
provide us with a complete set of accounting books and
records of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries. We have therefore
been unable to carry out audit procedures to obtain sufficient
reliable audit evidence to satisfy ourselves as to whether:

(i)  the loss on deconsolidation of the subsidiaries of
approximately HK$2,092,200,000 as disclosed in note 8
as well as the related disclosures set out in the notes to
the consolidated financial statements are free from
material misstatement; and

(i)  the Group had lost its control over the Deconsolidated
Subsidiaries.

Any adjustment that might have been found to be necessary in
respect of the above may have a significant effect on the state
of the Group’s affairs as at 31 March 2020 and on its loss for
the year ended 31 March 2020.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (cContinued)

2.

Investments in associates

As explained in note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements, there is no sufficient financial information of the
associates available at the date of this report because the
management of the associates refused to provide such required
financial information to the Group. Based on the assessment of
the directors of the Company, the Group had fully impaired its
investments in associates of HK$341,674,000 during the year
ended 31 March 2020.

As (i) it was not practicable for an audit to be performed on
the associates due to insufficient financial information and the
non-cooperation of the associates’ management; (ii) the
audited result of the associates for the year ended 31 March
2020 have not been made available to us as at the date of this
report; and (iii) the directors of the Company were also unable
to provide us with adequate information in support of the
impairment assessment of investments in associates, together
with the basis and rationale of recognising the impairment loss
of investments in associates of HK$341,674,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2020, we were therefore unable to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence in relation to the estimate
of (i) the Group's share of losses and other comprehensive
income relating to investments in associates recognised in
profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year
ended 31 March 2020; (ii) the carrying value of the Group's
investments in associates as at 31 March 2020; (iii) the
impairment loss of investments in associates for the year ended
31 March 2020; and (iv) the summarised financial information
of associates disclosed in note 15.

As a result, we were unable to determine whether adjustments
might have been found to be necessary in respect of
investments in associates, and the elements making up the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income and the consolidated
statement of changes in equity.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (cContinued)

3.

Investment in an unlisted equity investment

As explained in note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group held a financial asset classified as at fair
value through other comprehensive income (non-recycling) with
respect to 19.06% equity interest in an investment holding
company (“Entity A”) as at 31 March 2020 (“FVOCI in Entity
A"). A fair value loss of HK$841,762,000 have been recognised
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income during
the year ended 31 March 2020 for FVOCI in Entity A.

In assessing the fair value of FVOCI in Entity A as at 31 March
2020, the directors of the Company adopted the net asset
value approach based on Entity A's unaudited management
accounts as at 31 March 2020 and adjusted for the factors
they considered might affect its fair value to estimate its fair
value as described in note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements. The Group, however, is unable to obtain sufficient
financial information of Entity A as at and for the year ended
31 March 2020 because of the non-cooperation of the
management of Entity A.

The directors of the Company considered that the basis applied
in the fair value assessment of the FVOCI in Entity A and the
recognition of a fair value loss of HK$841,762,000 represents
their best estimate.

We were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidences we considered necessary to assess the
appropriateness of the basis of valuation of the FVOCI in Entity
A as at 31 March 2020 adopted by the directors of the
Company, including access to the management of Entity A to
assess the appropriateness and accuracy of the financial
information, and to obtain the latest audited financial
information of Entity A and reliable information to support the
adjustments made to the net assets value of Entity A. There
were no other satisfactory audit procedures that we could
perform to determine whether any adjustments to the carrying
value of the FVOCI in Entity A as at 31 March 2020 were
necessary.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (cContinued)

4,

Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern

On 12 March 2019 and 10 April 2019, the Company received
demand letters from lenders for the immediate repayment of
outstanding principal amounts of approximately
HK$783,747,000 and HK$429,197,000 respectively. On 26
April 2019, the Company received a notice of event of default
from another lender intended to reserve its right to demand
immediate repayment for borrowings with an outstanding
principal amount of approximately HK$776,514,000 at 31
March 2019. On 10 May 2019, the Company received a notice
of petition from one of the above lenders issued under the
Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions)
Ordinance (Chapter 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong) from the
High Court of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
(the "High Court”) that the Company be wound up by the
High Court on the ground that the Company was insolvent and
unable to pay its debts. In addition, on 10 June 2019, the
Company received a notice of event of default and repayment
from another lender for the immediate repayment of
outstanding principal, together with accrued interest due
totaling to approximately HK$718,436,000.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had net current liabilities and
net liabilities of approximately HK$3,019,459,000 and
HK$2,331,231,000 respectively. During the year ended 31
March 2020, the Group incurred a loss attributable to owners
of the Company of approximately HK$3,838,847,000.

These conditions indicate the existence of material
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt about the ability
of the Group to continue as a going concern.

As further explained in Note 2.1, the directors of the Company
has been taking measures to improve the liquidity and solvency
position of the Group. These measures include (i) identified an
investor for putting forward a debt restructuring plan of the
Company and provision of loans to the Company; (ii) put
forward a debt restructuring plan to the creditors of the
Company; (iii) speeding up the collection of receivables
process; and (iv) tightening operating cash outflows through
cutting costs and capital expenditures.

E
a.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (continued)
4. Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern

(Continued)

As at the date of approval of these financial statements, the
implementations of these measures are still in progress. The
validity of the going concern assumption on which the
consolidated financial statements are prepared is dependent on
the successful and favourable outcomes of the measures taken
by the directors of the Company. The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on the assumption that the
Group will continue as a going concern and, therefore, do not
include any adjustments relating to the realisation and
reclassification of non-current assets and non-current liabilities
that may be necessary if the Group is unable to continue as a
going concern. Should the going concern assumption be
inappropriate, adjustments may have to be made to reflect the
situation that assets may need to be realised at amounts other
than those currently recorded in the consolidated statement of
financial position. In addition, the Group may have to provide
for further liabilities that might arise, and to reclassify non-
current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and
current liabilities.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“"HKICPA”) and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
process.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the HKICPA and to issue an auditor’s report. This
report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liabilities to any
other person for the contents of this report. However, because of
the matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section
of our report, we were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these
consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chan Wai Dune, Charles.

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 6 January 2021

Chan Wai Dune, Charles
Practising Certificate Number P00712
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

meBER
For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-ZF-FF=H=+—HIFFE
2020 2019
—EIEF —T-NF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 BET T BT I
REVENUE I % 5 68,529 (74,633)
Cost of sales S5 5 P AR (35,262) (18,115)
Gross profit/(loss) ER,(48) 33,267 (92,748)
Other income and gains N E 5 2,709 112,338
Fair value losses on investments BRBEANRNFEYEZIRE
at fair value through profit or loss, Z AV EBIEFE
net (20,460) (59,856)
General and administrative expenses —MRITEAX (117,525) (285,180)
Provision for impairment loss of loans — FEURE F 2 RE B 1B R F 5
receivable, net 20 (266,085) (1,368,726)
Reversal of provision/(provision) for JfE U BR 3 2 R B T 1R B R
impairment loss of accounts ‘O (BE)  F8
receivable, net 22 191 (20,115)
Provision for impairment loss of FE U gt & TR & FE 2R E RS 1B
finance lease receivables B A& 18 - (89,198)
Reversal of provision/(provision) for FEWIRIEFRIE 2 R E BB R E
impairment loss of factoring e ()
receivables 21 (297,529) 68
Impairment loss of prepayments, TEATFRIE - 1R & K H th fE UK
deposits and other receivables B2 REEE (45,792) -
Impairment loss of investments in REFE R R 2B 2R EEE
associates 15 (341,674) -
Loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries EUH4RE ARRHIE AR Z E5E 8 (2,092,200) -
Other expenses, net HFA F58 (40) (11,814)
Finance costs A& A 7 (695,527) (374,185)
Share of profits of associates and a joint D {EEEE AT N —EE %A A
venture ot 7 - 39,615
LOSS BEFORE TAX FREE AT 5 18 6 (3,840,665) (2,149,801)
Income tax credit/(expense) FiEHiEeE,/ (FHAX) 11 1,818 (3,394)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR rEEEBE (3,838,847) (2,153,195)

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
GEeEEmX

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ

2020 2019
—E-FF —E-NF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
BT 5 BET T BT T
Attributable to: THIALFEAS:
Owners of the Company PIN/NETE R =N (3,838,847) (2,160,250)
Non-controlling interests FEFE R i - 7,055
(3,838,847) (2,153,195)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO AR REERERAE AEL
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF BREE
THE COMPANY 12
Basic HAR (BHEHK$2.18) (FBHEHKS1.38)
Diluted g (BHEHK$2.18) (FBHEHKS1.38)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial  BEMIBEER XSS MERN—2 D -
statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

REEZEBRARRE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-ZF-FF=H=+—HIFFE

2020 2019
—EEHF —E-NF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt 5 BT T BT T
LOSS FOR THE YEAR rEERE (3.838,847) (2,153,195)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Hib2mEBA (EE)
INCOME/(LOSS)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) to B REZRBEEFT B EER
be reclassified to profit or loss in ZHEMEEmEA(BE) -
subsequent periods:
Exchange difference on translation BMERIINEBEEZER
of foreign operations EZ# (13,725) (166,440)
Share of other comprehensive SMEEE AR 2 HMmEE
income of associates, net WA FEE - 14,089
Reclassification of exchange REUBARE ABRME A &)
difference upon deconsolidation BEM o fEE R E5E
of subsidiaries 8 (52,085) -
Other comprehensive income/(loss) not T & REEREBEFHESE
to be reclassified to profit or loss in BazEME2HE
subsequent periods: WA/ (EE) :
Equity investments at fair value 75 38 H Ath 2 E A
through other comprehensive AR FES B8R 2 B i
income — net movement in RE-REEHFES
investment revaluation reserve B)FE (TEW)
(non-recycling) (916,942) 296,213
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE FEEHMZEBA S (BE)
INCOME/(LOSS) (BRHLE)
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (982,752) 143,862
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS REERHEIBRE
FOR THE YEAR (4,821,599) (2,009,333)
Attributable to: T AL
Owners of the Company PAN/NETEF SN (4,821,599) (1,972,198)
Non-controlling interests FE 12 iR A 2 - (37,135)
(4,821,599) (2,009,333)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial

statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

mEMmBERRRE
At 31 March 2020 R-F-FF=H=+—H
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B & BT T BRI
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FERBEE
Property, plant and equipment L ER 13 14,985 6,133
Goodwill SES 14 1,505 660,674
Investments in associates REERAIZIEE 15 - 365,061
Intangible assets BmVEE 16 17,145 17,145
Other financial assets Hih e @& E 17 686,005 1,602,947
Finance lease receivables FEU Bt & M EFKIA 18 - 480,063
Prepayments and deposits FERNRERZS 19 2,194 10,220
Total non-current assets IEREEELE 721,834 3,142,243
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Other financial assets EtemERE 17 - 1,148,314
Loans receivable fE W E R 20 143,040 446,555
Factoring receivables JE USRI 108 21 - 308,525
Finance lease receivables FE W B FE IR 18 - 383,263
Prepayments, deposits TETRIE -~ i I H e YGRIE
and other receivables 19 80,028 173,661
Accounts receivable & W BR X 22 22,005 73,767
Investments at fair value through FRBHEUATFEINEZRE
profit or loss 23 3,071 23,531
Restricted bank deposits ZBRHIRITE R 24 - 157,312
Cash and bank balances W& RIRITAEER 25 149,605 222,143
Total current assets MBEELE 397,749 2,937,071
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Accounts payable FEBR K 26 14,437 17,608
Other payables and accruals HEtENFIENRESTE A 27 664,852 159,576
Interest-bearing borrowings FTEEE 28 2,725,687 1,340,756
Convertible instruments ARG T A 29 - 1,347,922
Lease liabilities HEARE 30 12,232 -
Tax payable FEBIE - 25,719
Total current liabilities REBEEE 3,417,208 2,891,581
Net current assets/(liabilities) REBEE,/ (BE)FE (3,019,459) 45,490
Total assets less current liabilities ®EERABERE (2,297,625) 3,187,733

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

me MR RERE
At 31 March 2020 R-ZE-ZFF=HA=+—H
2020 2019
—ECFHF —E-NF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 BET T BT T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FERBEE
Interest-bearing borrowings FTEEE 28 30,000 58,000
Lease liabilities HEeEaE 30 1,045 -
Deferred tax liability EEMIBAE 31 2,561 3,442
Total non-current liabilities EREBBEEE 33,606 61,442
Net assets/(liabilities) BE/(AfE)FE (2,331,231) 3,126,291
EQUITY/(DEFICIT) ()
Equity/(deficit) attributable to owners 2N T #EH A BIHER
of the Company (AL
Issued capital BEITRA 32 18,682 15,682
Reserves {1 34 (2,349,913) 2,441,028
(2,331,231) 2,456,710
Non-controlling interests FERER - 669,581
Total equity/(deficit) #am (EAL) BE (2,331,231) 3,126,291

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors of the
Company on 6 January 2021 and were signed on its behalf by:

Choi Wai

Hong, Clifford

BERE

Director

EZE

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial

statements.
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Yau Pak Yue
BB R E
Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

REREEFX

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=-F=FF=H=+—HI FE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARTREARE
Available-  Investment
Convertible forsale  revaluation Retained
Share - instruments Share  Capital investment~ reserve  Exchange profits/ Non-
Issued ~ premium equity option redemption Distributable ~ Special  Statutory  revaluation (non-fluctuation (accumulated controlling Total
apital  account  reserve reserve  reserve  reseme  reseve  resenve  reseve  recycling) reserve Josses) Total interests  equity
ke RAER
AERIA BREE  THAK REEH B ERS
BEORE RGEEE EERE BRERE f#h BB RNEE  ATRE f&  (FEk) k& BF FokEs  BRLE
HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
RETL EMTn BMTR AETr EMTn BBTn A¥TR E%Tn B%Tn EMTn BETRn B¥Tn EMTn B%Tn EETr
At 31 March 2018 R=F-N5ZA=1-A 15663 2,734327 281597 23,082 485 (187164) 35,131 8,405 (2,829 - 183368 1211676 4303741 707,614 5011355
Impact on initial application of HKRFS 9 EREREANEREENEGHTE - - - - - - - - 289 36460 - M) 2046 (898) 26,148
Adjusted balance at 1 April 2018 RZF-N\§RA-RZBRRES 15663 2,734327 281597 23,082 485 (187,164) 35,131 8,405 - 36460 183368 1199433 4330787 706,716 5,037,503
Profit/loss) for the year FERER/ (B - - - - - - - - - - - (2160250) (2,160,250) 7,055 (2,153,195)
Other comprehensive incomef(loss) for the year: ~ AFEEM2ELN/ (BE):
Exchange difference on translation of BERNEREL RN 2R
foreign operations - - - - - - - - - - (122,250) - (122,500 (44,190)  (166,440)
Share of other comprehensive income AEBELTZAZARA
of associates - - - - - - - - - 14,089 - - 14,089 - 14,089
Equity investments at fair value through other BB 2ERANATEIEZ
comprehensive income - net movement in RERE-RASRREREDIE
investment revaluation reserve (FE)
(non-recycling) - - - - - - - - - 296,213 - - 29,213 - 29,213
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year REEREWA/ (B5B)2E - - - - - - - - - 310302 (122,250) (2,160.250) (1,972,198)  (37,135) (2,009,333)
Issue of convertible notes EODES e - - 1124 - - - - - - - - - 114 - 114
Issue of equity-settled share options ENEREHERE - - - 74,268 - - - - - - - - 74268 - 74268
Issue of shares upon conversion of REBTEREFRETRGD
convertible bonds 19 8,357 (1,797) - - - - - - - - - 6,579 - 6,579
Transfer £l - - - - - 61 - 979 - - 3 (979) - - -
At 31 March 2019 R-E-NEZA=1-A 15682 2,742,684 297,074 97,350 485 (187,195 35,131 9,384 - 346762 61,149 (961,79%) 2,45,710 669,581 3,126,291
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mERR#EX

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=F=FF=HF=+—HI FE

Attributable to owners of the Company

AAAEEAER
Investment
Convertible revaluation
Share  instruments Share Capital reserve  Exchange Non- Total
Issued  premium equity option  redemption Distributable Special  Statutory (non-  fluctuation Accumulated controlling equity/
capital account reserve reserve reserve  reserve reserve reserve  recycling) reserve osses Total interests (deficit)
TERIE BAEE THAR REERRE JNERD | 3:%4
BERE RHEER  BERG BRERE i BE GHEE  iERE  (TEW) B RifER 88 FEREE (BH)AE
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETr BB BMTn BETR BMTn EMTR BMTn BETR BETn BETR BMTn BETR BTn ERTR
At 31 March 2019 RZZ-AF=A=1-A 15682 2,742,684 297,074 97,350 485 (187,195 35,131 9,384 346,762 61,149 (961,796) 2,456,710 669,581 3,126,291
Impact on initial application of 7
HKRFS 16 - - - - - - - - - - (1205 (1,285) - (1,25)
Adjusted balance at 1 April 2019 RZF-NERA-RZBRRES 15,682 2,742,684 297,074 97,350 485 (187,195 35,131 9,384 346,762 61,149 (963,041) 2,455,465 669,581 3,125,046
Loss for the year TEEER - - - - - - - - - - (3.838,847) (3,838,847) - (3,838,847
Other comprehensive incomef(loss) REERB2ERA/ (BR):
for the year
Exchange difference on translation of ~ BEENEHEECERES
foreign operations - - - - - - - - - (13,725) - (13,725) - (13,725)
Reclassification of exchange NEWBATRENAE
difference upon deconsolidation EXZE
of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - (52,085) - (52,085) - (52,085)
Equity investments at fair value BREBRENANATEIIR 2R
through other comprehensive BRE-RASREREDTE
income - net movement in (FEk)
investment revaluation reserve
(non-recycling) - - - - - - - - (916,942 - - (916,942) - (916942
Total comprehensive loss for the year TERRAFREE - - - - - - - - (916942)  (65810)  (3,838,847) (4,821,599) - (48215%9)
Issue of shares Bkt 3,000 40,500 - - - - - - - - - 3500 - 43,500
Derecognition of convertible instruments Xt BATEKTA - - (297,074 - - - - - - - 297,074 - - -
Share options lapsed BARERE - - - (43,994) - - - - - - 13,994 - - -
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries BEEEINGE I - - - - - - - (8,597) - - - (8597)  (669,581)  (678,178)
At 31 March 2020 F=A=1-A 18,682 2,783,184 - 53,356 485 (187,195 35131 87 (570,180) (4,661)  (4,460,820) (2,331,231) - 2331231)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial

statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERERER
For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ
2020 2019
—EEF —NF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 BT T BRI
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING EEXBMEEZHERE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax B 5t Bl 5 18 (3,840,665) (2,149,801)
Adjustments for: MATEBELFE:
Finance costs @ﬁﬁﬁ 7 695,527 374,185
Share of profits of associates and a AhEE AT R—HEEE QA
joint venture ikl - (39,615)
Interest income B YA (16,391) (221,706)
Depreciation e 13 13,254 3,985
Fair value losses on investments at BERBRUAFEINRZEE
fair value through profit or loss, net 2 AF{EEIEF5E 20,460 59,856
Provision for impairment loss of loans FEUNE T 2 B (B 18 % F 5
receivable, net 20 266,085 1,368,726
Provision/(reversal of provision) for FEUERE SR 2 R EE 18
impairment loss of accounts BE(BERD)FE
receivable, net 22 (191) 20,115
Provision for impairment loss of FEW B E R ERE ZREESRE
finance lease receivables B A% 18 - 89,198
Provision/(reversal of provision) for FEUUR IR FRIE 2 B (B B 18
impairment loss of B (BERD)
factoring receivables 21 297,529 (68)
Impairment loss of investments REEERNR 2 IRE 2 REBE
in associates 15 341,674 -
Impairment loss of prepayments TETRIE - 12 Ko A HE K
deposits and other receivables H R EEE 45,792 -
Impairment loss of accounts ERREWERER ZRESE
receivable recognised 6 - 5,059
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEWE -HMENRKREER 2
plant and equipment &8 6 40 6,755
Loss on deconsolidation BUHGR A ARKMB AR 2B
of subsidiaries 8 2,092,200 -
Equity-settled share option expense DSEEBEREMAX - 74,268
Modification gain on AR E S 2 B 5T W e
convertible bonds 29 - (654)
(84,686) (409,697)
Decrease in accounts receivable JE L BR FOR 29,088 453,183
Decrease in factoring receivables JE AR 22 SR IE R - 6,253
Increase in finance lease receivables & Ut @& 78 & 718 1% A0 - (411,695)
Decrease/(increase) in loans receivable JEUWE R4~ (3 H0) 50,000 (610,861)
Increase in prepayments, deposits and FEFIE « & K H 8 BGRIE
other receivables #n (38,220) (71,487)
Decrease in investments at fair value BBIEZUA QA FEDEZ
through profit or loss TE R D 325,110
Decrease in accounts payable JE - BR TR (3,171) (79,612)
Decrease in other payables and accruals E fb f& {5 3 T8 K fE &1 & A3 s > (1,301) (185,983)

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HERERER
For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-ZF-FF=H=+—HIFFE
2020 2019
—E-EF —NF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 BET T BT T
Cash used in operations EEMMPAzES (48,290) (984,789)
Interest received [SALEAIESS 3,821 179,837
Interest paid AT HE (28,569) (194,234)
Income tax paid B TIS fR (870) (10,099)
Net cash flows used in operating LEIHABA R eREFHE
activities (73,908) (1,009,285)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETHFEEZRERE
ACTIVITIES
Additions to property, plant and NEWE BE LEE
equipment 13 (3) (2,104)
Acquisition of associates g /NE - (167,886)
Purchase of other financial assets BEEMEREE - (169,563)
Proceeds from disposal of other HEHEMESREE 2B HRIA
financial assets - 717,109
Decrease in restricted bank deposits 5 BR #Il R 1717 OB 4 - 21,341
Net cash outflow arising on BUE#R & ARMBARIEEZ
deconsolidation of subsidiaries e mH FE 8 (25,400) -
Net cash flows generated BREZFHFELE, (B2
from/(used in) investing activities R&REFEE (25,403) 398,897
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METEMEEZRERE
ACTIVITIES
Payments of lease rentals HEER 30 (13,932) -
Proceeds from issue of new shares of Z1T AR BIFILD 2 FT1SFKIB
the Company 43,500 -
Proceeds from issue of convertible BT MR T A FBHIA
instruments - 185,847
Repayment of borrowings BEEE - (669,510)
Net cash flows generated BMETEFEE (BH) 2
from/(used in) financing activities R&REF4E 29,568 (483,663)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

éﬂh' Eﬁ.ﬁmuii
For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ
2020 2019
—E-EF —NF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 7 BT T BT T
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND RekRREEYRD FHE
CASH EQUIVALENTS (69,743) (1,094,051)
Effect of foreign exchange rate KRB 2 BT
changes, net (2,795) 14,037
Cash and cash equivalents FHMsReRRSEFEY
at beginning of year 222,143 1,302,157
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ERZHERESZEY
AT END OF YEAR 25 149,605 222,143
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH BRERBRESEEBEYNZEHRIWN
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances BERBITEE 149,605 222,143

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial

statements.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RN

For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-ZF-FF=H=+—HIFFE

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
Freeman FinTech Corporation Limited (the “Company”) is a
limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
and has its principal place of business at 38th Floor, Bank of
China Tower, 1 Garden Road, Hong Kong. On 18 May 2020,
the Company changed the address of its principal place of
business to 13th Floor, Fortis Tower, 77-79 Gloucester Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
"Stock Exchange”) and trading in the shares of the Company
has been suspended since 28 February 2020.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively,
referred to as the “Group”) were principally engaged in the
financial services sector, including the provision of securities
and futures brokerage services, the provision of placing,
underwriting and margin financing services, the provision of
insurance brokerage and financial planning services, the
provision of finance, the trading of securities and futures, the
provision of factoring, as well as investment holding.

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows:

Place of

incorporation Issued ordinary

1.

2 F R 5 H & #
REReRBBERERAR ([ARA]) A
RESHEIMRIZBRRAR EXE
EEMBUNEBICE B9 PR KE38
B-R-ZT-TFRHATN\HBH AREHE
R ENABTREETSIITE
77-79 BB AE13E c ARBIRMNOHNRES
BEXSGHERAR (BT FRE
M A-E-EF-_A-t+ N \HEAQT

R EIEESE-

=z

AEER  ARBREWMB LR (G [X
SEHDEIERESRRHBE SREHRE
HFRMERLERY  RHEE  BEIIFR
BERTY - R RER R 42 SIE B SR B RS -
RERME BERFLBE  RHREAR
BB

FEMBLARZER
AAREEMBARIZFBHT:

Percentage of equity
interest attributable

Name and operation share capital to the Company Principal activities
2R AR EFBE BRTEBRA AAFRERER DL E:3 3
Direct Indirect
E% [F3

Ambition Union Limited British Virgin Islands ~ United States Dollars - 100 Investment holding
(the "BVI")/Hong Kong  ("US$") 20,000,000

THAERRA ABRAES 20,000,000% 7 REZR
([EBRXEB])/EE (1%7])

Eastern Sunny Limited Hong Kong  Hong Kong Dollars - 100 Provision of management services
("HK$") 2

RIEERAR & BE(E%Dx REEBRY

Freeman Commodities Limited Hong Kong HK$55,000,000 - 100 Provision of futures brokerage

("FCL") (2019 services
HK$35,000,000)

REHEERAF #%& 555,000,000 REREGLE RS
((R78%)) (ZB-NEBE
35,000,0007T)

Freeman Corporate Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$200,000 - 100 Provision of corporate finance

advisory services

RRGEREBRAT Bk 75 8200,0007 REGEREBRRE

Freeman Corporation Limited Cayman Islands/ Us$38 - 100 Investment holding

Hong Kong
RRERERAA Hens/ &4 38X REER

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Place of
incorporation

Issued ordinary

1. 2FREEEH »)

HRAMBARZER (&)

Percentage of equity
interest attributable

Name and operation share capital to the Company Principal activities
£ AR REFBE BRATEBRA RAAREERERD L IEEH
Direct Indirect
EE A

Freeman Financial Investment Cayman Islands/Hong Kong HK$48,000,000 100 - Investment holding
Corporation

Freeman Financial Investment MEHS/B% 548,000,000 RAER
Corporation

Freeman Financial Services Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 - 100 Investment holding

RREBRBEERAH &% A¥%10,000,0007 REZR

Freeman Prestige Wealth Hong Kong HK$200,000 - 100 Provision of insurance brokerage

Management Limited services, financial planning and

related services

RREHHEERARAF A 7 %200,0007T RERRELRY BRRAR

TRER%

Freeman Securities Limited (“FSL") Hong Kong  HK$1,900,000,000 - 100 Securities brokerage, placing,

underwriting, margin financing,

investment holding and trading of

securities

REEFERAR ([RREH]) &% 7581,900,000,0007 BHEE RE B

FREE RELRR

Freeman Union Limited BVI/Hong Kong HK$846,717,951 - 100 Investment holding and trading of

securities

Freeman Union Limited EBRLME/EE  HB¥846,717,951T REPBRREER 5

Freeman United Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Investment holding

Freeman United Investments Limited EA BEIT RAER

Hansom Finance Limited Hong Kong  HK$2,280,279,678 - 100 Provision of finance

RN HERLT B 5152,280,279,678TC REBE

People Securities Company Limited Hong Kong HK$56,864,409 - 100 Provision of insurance brokerage

services

ERESBRAA & 756,864,409 RERRELRHE

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)



Notes to the Financial Statements

RN

For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-ZF-FF=H=+—HIFFE

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. 2FREEEH»)
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) EEMBARZER (&)
Place of Percentage of equity
incorporation Issued ordinary interest attributable
Name and operation share capital to the Company Principal activities
£ EMALREEH BRITEBRA RRAEERERAN ITEEH
Direct Indirect
¢4 Bt
REPEREREREBRD A The People’s Republic US$30,000,000 - 100 Provision of factoring service
of China (the "PRC")
HEARLEANE 30,000,000% 7T RERERE
([HE])
ERRBEARE (RI)BRAF The PRC US$40,000,000 - 100 Provision of finance leasing service
Gk 40,000,000% T REBERERY
* These entities are registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises * ZEBRAREPEEEAMOINEEE
under the PRC laws. =
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in EREAI2ARFIMBRARIAREERAY
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for REECAFEERELIELERBERAR
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of SEEEFEIEZEEANBY 2B AA -
the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the EERR WHEMHKBAR 2FE S
opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive BYREBRNRITER
length.

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)
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Notes to the Financial Statements
BF 75 3 3} B &

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
(which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA"), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for other financial
assets and investments at fair value through profit or loss
which have been measured at fair value. These financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars and all values
are rounded to the nearest thousand except where otherwise
indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020. A
subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing
rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.

21 REEE

HZEMHREDREBFTA GG ([F
BETHAR ) B2 BBV HREER
(IEEMBRERER]) (BEHEEMER
B BmEER BB EYN([FES
SRERDERE) BAEAREFTRAK
FRRARIGHI 2 HER T MRS FREM
TREENBBBEEUARNFEINKZRE
BAFEREIN BBRRIIRIEE LK
REREL - ZEMBHRERIABE 27 Mk
AEEAN MEREOREEREOLZ
TR

REREE
RAEVBRREBEAEEBE_T_TF
A=t BULEFEZBBRER -WBL
AAARARIEEXEREGN CER (2R
REUER) EAREAXIZTASERE
RERR XM 2 7] 20 R REEE B K
RERAZEN (BIAEEEE TRAR
NAEBHIRE R BEBEE 2B EN)
FEZ L OWRE - AEUS G-

WARRERXHEEZREAPIRERA TR
BRARZBZREEIBUERN B ARE
BRFEEREHAHRIRERRZEN
HeZE - UHBFEERER B8

(a) HEFERERFEMEREEFBEAZE
w2 BE

(b) EMENRTHAELEZERN: K&
(0 AEEZERENEBERRRE-
MR R BRI s AR B MR A
BEPRBR BN HRERR -MEL

AzEEEAEEDSENEEALEES
AIEIERIEZ B IESEA AR

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-ZF-FF=H=+—HIFFE

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results
in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All
intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii)
the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits/
(accumulated losses), as appropriate, on the same basis as
would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities.

21EREE =)

REREE (&)
BELEME2EBAZEXSD BERA
SESRRHERARIERED  BIEL
R EE LR EM EAKE
KRB RRIZEXZHEBOMEREARBA
AMBEERBE #m WA FAXERE
W R AR RS

MEERBERAKRB EXMAZESE=ER
EP-EHZAHRES AAEESE
M EERS R RREER -WEB R A
ZHEEEEREBMY ERKIESIE T
ARRIMERARZL 5 -

fief 7S 82 [ 5k 25 S — PRI I /B8 8 ) oz 22 1 4 -
AR IEEROZMBRARZEE (BER
B) RAE ()T IHEREDS REER
(iR ARk Rt EXZ/  MER
(VTR EZ RFE (DPFTRE EMRE
ZHER(iVBERERTENELEEZ &
B EE AN E M EERARER

AEBEEER D RERNEEERHEM
REEXABENBRATHERZEEENRD
BEBRIRBEMN, (RFEE) (R1\B
SME)
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Appointment of the joint and several provisional
liquidators (the “Provisional Liquidators”), suspension of
trading in shares of the Company and going concern
basis

On 12 March 2019 and 10 April 2019, the Company received
demand letters from lenders for immediate repayment of
outstanding principal amounts of approximately
HK$783,747,000 and HK$429,197,000 respectively. On 26
April 2019, the Company received a notice of event of default
from another lender intended to reserve its right to demand
immediate repayment for borrowings with an outstanding
principal amount of approximately HK$776,514,000 at 31
March 2019. On 10 May 2019, the Company received a notice
of petition from one of the above lenders (the "Petition”)
issued under the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous
Provisions) Ordinance (Chapter 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
from the High Court of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region (the “High Court”) that the Company be wound up by
the High Court on the ground that the Company was insolvent
and unable to pay its debts. In addition, on 10 June 2019, the
Company received a notice of event of default and repayment
from another lender for immediate repayment of outstanding
principal, together with accrued interest due totaling to
approximately HK$718,436,000.

On 28 February 2020, the High Court ordered that Messrs. Lai
Kar Yan (Derek) and Ho Kwok Leung Glen of Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu be appointed as provisional liquidators of the
Company with power to act jointly and severally until the
determination of the Petition or further order of the High
Court. At the request of the Company, trading in the
Company's shares on the Stock Exchange has been suspended
with effect from 1:12 p.m. on 28 February 2020. Trading in the
shares of the Company will remain suspended until further
notice.

On 26 March 2020, upon application made by the Provisional
Liquidators, the High Court granted an order to extend the
Provisional Liquidators’ power such that the Provisional
Liquidators are empowered to, inter alia, to consider and, if
thought to be in the best interests of creditors of the
Company, to enter into discussions and/or negotiations for and
on behalf of the Company, for the purpose of, but not limited
to, restructuring of the Company's business and operations,
and/or restructuring or rescheduling the Company’s
indebtedness, or for the sale of its assets, provided that any
such proposed restructuring, rescheduling or sale shall not be
binding on the Company unless and until approved by the High
Court.

21 EBREE »)

REHBRBHRBERA ([REE
AN FLAARBEFEERFHECER
*

R_E—NF=ZA+-_BE_ZT—ILFN
At+H RRAGREIZEZEFNERK B
KUBEEREEASBEL R ABNBE
783,747,0007T & 7 #429,197,0007T H) 3K
H-R-ZZE—NFWMA -+ B KAFW
BE—R2EFMENSEHBA EBRRE
HERIAEER _E—NE=A=+—
HAREEAREERLHB776,514,0007LH)
BENEN R_FE—NAFHRA+H AR
AURE EME R 2 —RIBERQ A (B8 &
BAESOAEH) (BB AN EI2E ) NE B
FlITHEEEER ([REER])RENZE
FBA([25E])  EkeFEREAAR
BECEARAAREEGENAEELE
BEK I RZZE—AERNATH K
ARIWNE S —ZEFNELNEHERENRR
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ZHRREBRIAEFEEE -ANAFKRN
BEETIEEE EES1TEMo

RZZEZTF=ZA =+ FEFER
AR RFE 2 ARES  LRBRRE
BARTHEINOESD EFRBEEETRRN
EZERTEERABT AR BIEREARESR
BZBERTBRREARRETTmE
SRER A (BERBRR) ERAR QR Z T
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o FRABEERES BRI AREMER
ZEEBIHEH AR TEGHRT -

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)



Notes to the Financial Statements

RN

For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-ZF-FF=H=+—HIFFE

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Appointment of the joint and several provisional
liquidators (the “Provisional Liquidators”), suspension of
trading in shares of the Company and going concern
basis (Continued)

On 4 November 2020, upon application made by the
Provisional Liquidators, the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands
(the "Grand Court”) issued an order, which, among other
things, recognised the appointment of Messrs. Lai Kar Yan
(Derek) and Ho Kwok Leung Glen of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
as joint and several provisional liquidators of the Company
pursuant to orders of the High Court of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region dated 28 February 2020 and
subsequently amended on 26 March 2020 and the Provisional
Liquidators presenting and prosecuting a petition in the Grand
Court in respect of the creditors’ scheme of arrangement
pursuant to section 86 of the Companies Law (2020 Revision)
in furtherance of the proposed rescue and restructuring of the
Company and its debts.

On 26 November 2020, the Provisional Liquidators and the
Petitioner jointly applied to the High Court requesting to vacate
the next adjourned hearing of the Petition to be fixed on 14
December 2020 and to adjourn it for 4 months to 19 April
2021. On 30 November 2020, the High Court has approved to
adjourn the hearing of the Petition to 19 April 2021.

Since their appointment, the Provisional Liquidators have taken
all necessary actions to preserve the assets and have been
managing the affairs of the Group.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had net current liabilities and
net liabilities of approximately HK$3,019,459,000 and
HK$2,331,231,000 respectively (2019: net current assets of
approximately HK$45,490,000 and net assets of approximately
HK$3,126,291,000). During the year ended 31 March 2020,
the Group incurred a loss attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$3,838,847,000 (2019:
HK$2,160,250,000).

21 EBREE »)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Appointment of the joint and several provisional
liquidators (the “Provisional Liquidators”), suspension of
trading in shares of the Company and going concern
basis (Continued)

The directors of the Company has been taking measures to
improve the liquidity and solvency position of the Group. These
measures include (i) identified the Investor (as defined below)
for putting forward a debt restructuring of the Company and
provision of loans to the Company, details of which are set out
below at the paragraphs headed under “Proposed restructuring
of the Group”; (ii) put forward a debt restructuring plan to the
creditors of the Company by way of Scheme of Arrangement
(as defined below); (iii) speeding up the collection of
receivables process; and (iv) tightening operating cash outflows
through cutting costs and capital expenditures.

As at the date of approval of these consolidated financial
statements, the implementations of these measures are still in
progress. The validity of the going concern assumption on
which the consolidated financial statements are prepared is
dependent on the successful and favourable outcomes of the
measures taken by the directors of the Company as described
above. The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the assumption that the Group will continue as a
going concern and, therefore, do not include any adjustments
relating to the realisation and classification of non-current
assets and non-current liabilities that may be necessary if the
Group is unable to continue as a going concern. Should the
going concern assumption be inappropriate, adjustments may
have to be made to reflect the situation that assets may need
to be realised at amounts other than those currently recorded
in the consolidated statement of financial position. In addition,
the Group may have to provide for further liabilities that might
arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current
liabilities as current assets and current liabilities.

21 EBREE »)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-ZF-FF=H=+—HIFFE

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Listing status of the Company

On 19 March 2020, the Company received a letter from the
Stock Exchange, in which, inter alia, the Stock Exchange set
out the following resumption guidance for the Company (the
“Resumption Guidance”):

1. demonstrate the Company’'s compliance with Rule 13.24
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules™);

2. have the winding-up petition(s) withdrawn or dismissed
and the joint and several provisional liquidators
discharged; and

3. inform the market of all material information for the
Company’s shareholders and other investors to appraise
the Group's position.

On 30 June 2020, the Company received another letter from
the Stock Exchange, in which the Stock Exchange set out the
following additional Resumption Guidance for the Company:

4.  publish all outstanding financial results and address any
audit modification(s).

Under Rule 6.01A(1) of the Listing Rules, it may cancel the
listing of any securities that have been suspended from trading
for a continuous period of 18 months. In the case of the
Company, the 18-month period expires on 27 August 2021
(the "Deadline”). The Stock Exchange advised that if the
Company fails to remedy the issues causing its trading
suspension, fulfil the resumption guidance and fully comply
with the Listing Rules to the Stock Exchange’s satisfaction, the
Listing Division will recommend the Listing Committee to
proceed with the cancellation of the Company’s listing. Under
Rules 6.01 and 6.10 of the Listing Rules, the Stock Exchange
also has the right to impose a shorter specific remedial period,
where appropriate.

The Company will take appropriate steps to fully comply with
the Listing Rules to the Stock Exchange’s satisfaction in order
to have trading in the Company’s shares resumed. The
Company will keep the public informed of developments in this
regard by making further announcements as and when
appropriate.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Proposed restructuring of the Group

References are made to the Company’s announcements dated
13 August 2020, 27 August 2020, 17 November 2020, 23
November 2020, 27 November 2020 and 30 December 2020 in
relation to the restructuring of the Company. Unless otherwise
specified, capitalised terms used herein shall have the same
meanings as in these announcements.

On 13 August 2020, the Company, the Provisional Liquidators
and the Investor entered into the Term Sheet, setting out the
key commercial terms of the proposed Restructuring of the
Company.

On 2 September 2020, the Provisional Liquidators obtained the
sanction from the High Court for entering into, among others,
the Term Sheet and all requisite agreements arising therefrom
in order to implement the proposed Restructuring.

On 10 September 2020, the Company, the Provisional
Liquidators and the Investor entered into the Restructuring
Deed, pursuant to which the Company, the Provisional
Liquidators and the Investor agreed on the principal terms of
the Restructuring which shall include, among others, (a) the
provision of the First Loan and the Second Loan by the
Investor; (b) the Subscription; (c) the Share Premium
Cancellation; (d) the Resumption; (e) if the Resumption is not
approved by the Stock Exchange, the Acquisition; and (f) the
Schemes.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Proposed restructuring of the Group (Continued)
On 21 October 2020, SFC has approved the Investor to become
a substantial shareholder of the Licensed Corporations.

On 17 November 2020 and 18 December 2020, the Company,
the Provisional Liquidators and the Investor entered into the
first supplemental deed and the second supplemental deed
respectively, pursuant to which the parties agreed to further
amend the terms of the Restructuring Deed and/or the First
Loan Agreement.

On 24 December 2020, upon application of the Provisional
Liquidators, the High Court has approved the convening of the
Scheme Meetings. The Scheme Meetings is fixed on 22 January
2021.

1.  The provision of the First Loan and the Second Loan
by the Investor

The First Loan Agreement

On 10 September 2020, the Company (as borrower), the
Provisional Liquidators and the Investor (as lender)
entered into the First Loan Agreement, pursuant to which
the Investor shall make available to the Company (a)
HK$161,174,982, being an amount equivalent to the LC
Agreed Consideration; and (b) the Top-up Loan Amount
(if any).

In the event that the Resumption is approved by the Stock
Exchange (whether conditionally or unconditionally), the
Investor shall convert the First Loan (including the Initial
Deposit and the Top-up Loan Amount (if any)) into the First
Loan Conversion Shares which, together with the
Subscription Shares, shall represent 80% of the enlarged
issued share capital of the Company upon completion of
the First Loan Conversion, the Subscription and the issue of
the Scheme Shares. The First Loan Conversion Shares shall
be issued and allotted to the Investor simultaneously with
the Subscription Shares. Upon completion of the First Loan
Conversion, all outstanding liabilities of the Company
under the First Loan Agreement shall be deemed fully paid
and settled and no longer outstanding.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Proposed restructuring of the Group (Continued)

1.  The provision of the First Loan and the Second Loan

by the Investor (Continued)

The Second Loan Agreement

On 10 September 2020, the Company (as borrower), the
Provisional Liquidators and the Investor (as lender)
entered into the Second Loan Agreement, pursuant to
which the Investor shall make available to the Company
interest-free and unsecured loans of up to HK$40 million

in aggregate.

If the Resumption is approved by the Stock Exchange
(whether conditionally or unconditionally), the Investor
may, within the Conversion Period, convert the Second
Loan into the Second Loan Conversion Shares which,
together with the First Loan Conversion Shares and the
Subscription Shares, shall represent approximately 75% of
the enlarged issued share capital of the Company upon
completion of the First Loan Conversion, the Subscription,
the issue of the Scheme Shares, the Placing Down and
the Second Loan Conversion. Upon completion of the
Second Loan Conversion, all outstanding liabilities of the
Company under the Second Loan Agreement shall be
deemed fully paid and settled and no longer outstanding.

In the event that the Resumption is not approved by the
Stock Exchange by the Long Stop Date, the Second Loan
(less the Second Loan Expended Portion) shall be due and
payable to the Investor by the Company on demand
within fourteen (14) Business Days, the Investor shall be
entitled to exercise all its rights as an unsecured creditor
against the Company in relation to the Second Loan and
the Second Loan Expended Portion shall cease to be
repayable to the Investor. In the event that the Investor
does not convert the Second Loan within the Conversion
Period, the Second Loan shall be due and payable to the
Investor by the Company on demand after the lapse of
the Conversion Period and the Investor shall be entitled to
exercise all its rights as an unsecured creditor against the

Company in relation to the Second Loan.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Proposed restructuring of the Group (Continued)

2.

The Subscription

In the event that the Resumption is approved by the Stock
Exchange (whether conditionally or unconditionally), the
Investor shall inject into the Company the New
Subscription Proceeds of HK$80 million by subscribing the
Subscription Shares which, together with the First Loan
Conversion Shares, shall represent 80% of the enlarged
issued share capital of the Company upon completion of
the Subscription, the First Loan Conversion and the issue of
the Scheme Shares. The New Subscription Proceeds,
together with any accrued interest, shall be applied as the
Scheme Cash Consideration under the ListCo Schemes.

The Share Premium Cancellation

The Share Premium Cancellation shall involve the
cancellation of the entire amount standing to the credit
of the share premium account of the Company of
approximately HK$2.78 billion. The credit arising from the
Share Premium Cancellation shall be applied towards
offsetting the accumulated deficit of the Company as at
the effective date of the Share Premium Cancellation.

The Resumption

To facilitate the Resumption, each of the Company, the
Provisional Liquidators and the Investor undertakes and
agrees to use its best endeavours to procure the
compliance with the Resumption Guidance as soon as
reasonably practicable in accordance with the terms of
the Restructuring Deed.

The Acquisition (if the Resumption is not approved
by the Stock Exchange)

In the event that the Resumption is not approved by the
Stock Exchange by the Long Stop Date, the Company
shall, for the purpose of discharging and setting off its
obligations to repay all the outstanding liabilities under
the First Loan Agreement, procure the transfer of all
shareholding interests in the Retained Subsidiaries by their
respective immediate holding companies to the Investor
or its nominee which shall take place in accordance with
the terms of the Acquisition SPA at the consideration of
HK$1.00. Upon completion of the Acquisition, the
obligation of the Company to repay the Investor all
outstanding liabilities under the First Loan Agreement
shall be deemed fully discharged.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Proposed restructuring of the Group (Continued)

5.

The Acquisition (if the Resumption is not approved
by the Stock Exchange) (Continued)

On 24 September 2020, the Acquisition SPA has been
entered into with the Investor in respect of the transfer of
all shareholding interests in the Retained Subsidiaries
which shall take effect upon (i) the Investor having
provided the First Loan to the Company in accordance
with the terms of the First Loan Agreement; and (ii) the
Resumption Proposal not having been approved by the
Stock Exchange by the Long Stop Date.

In the event that the Resumption is approved by the Stock
Exchange (whether conditionally or unconditionally), then
the Retained Subsidiaries will remain in the Retained Group
as subsidiaries of the Company immediately after the First
Loan Conversion and the Subscription.

The Schemes

Pursuant to the Restructuring Deed, the debt
restructuring of the Group shall be implemented by way
of the Schemes.

The principal terms of the ListCo Scheme are as follows:

(@) all claims of the ListCo Creditors against the
Company as at the ListCo Schemes Effective Date
will be fully and finally discharged by virtue of the
implementation of the ListCo Schemes;

(b) the Group will undergo the Group Reorganisation,
pursuant to which the entire interests of the
Excluded Subsidiaries will be transferred to the
ListCo Schemes SchemeCo at a nominal value;

(c) after the ListCo Schemes Effective Date and if and
only if the completion of the Subscription having
taken place, the New Subscription Proceeds will be
injected to the ListCo Schemes as the Scheme Cash
Consideration;

(d) the Scheme Shares, representing approximately 10%
of the enlarged issued share capital of the ListCo
upon Completion, shall be allotted and issued by
the Company to the Scheme Administrators or the
ListCo Schemes SchemeCo simultaneously with the
allotment and issue of the First Loan Conversion
Shares and the Subscription Shares, for the benefit
of the ListCo Schemes Creditors; and
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Proposed restructuring of the Group (Continued)
6. The Schemes (Continued)

(e) any realisation from the assets of the ListCo
Schemes, which shall comprise, among others, (i)
the Scheme Shares; (ii) shares in and assets of the
Excluded Subsidiaries; and (iii) the Scheme Cash
Consideration, shall be applied for distribution to
the ListCo Schemes Creditors with ListCo Admitted
Claims; and payment of the costs and expenses for
the implementation of the ListCo Schemes.

Deconsolidation of subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
based on the books and records maintained by the Group.
However, due to the resignation of certain senior management
personnel of the Company and non-cooperation of the
management of certain subsidiaries (the “Deconsolidated
Subsidiaries”), the directors of the Company had been unable
to obtain and gain access to the books and records and assets
of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries and resolved that the Group
no longer had the controlling power to govern the financial
and operating policies of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries so as
to benefit from their activities, and accordingly the control over
the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries was deemed to have lost since
1 April 2019. The Deconsolidated Subsidiaries had therefore
been deconsolidated from the consolidated financial
statements of the Group from 1 April 2019 onwards on the
basis of loss of control. The assets and liabilities of the
following subsidiaries were therefore deconsolidated from the
consolidated financial statements of the Group since 1 April
2019.

Wins Finance Holdings Inc. (“Wins Finance”)

ii.  Wins Finance Group Limited

iii.  Full Shine Capital Resources Limited

iv.  Jinshang International Financial Leasing Co., Ltd.*
V. Shanxi Jinchen Agriculture Co., Ltd.*

vi. ~ Shanxi Dongsheng Financial Guarantee Co., Ltd.*

These entities are registered in Chinese names only as wholly-
foreign-owned enterprises under the PRC laws and their English
names disclosed above are for identification only.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ

2.2.CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOUSRES
The HKICPA has issued a number of new HKFRSs and
amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective for the current
accounting period of the Group. Of these, the following
developments are relevant to the Group’s consolidated financial
statements:

HKFRS 16
Amendments to HKFRS 9

Leases

Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation

Plan Amendment, Curtailment
or Settlement

Long-term Interests in
Associates and Joint Ventures

Amendments to HKFRS 3,
HKFRS 11, HKAS 12
and HKAS 23

Amendments to HKAS 19
Amendments to HKAS 28

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income

Tax Treatments

Other than as explained below regarding the impact of HKFRS
16 Leases, the adoption of the above new and revised
standards has had no significant financial effect on these
financial statements.

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation
that is not yet effective for the current accounting period. The
nature and impact of the new and revised HKFRSs are
described below:
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2.2.CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOUSRES (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)-Int 4
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease,
HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases — Incentives and HK(SIC)-Int 27
Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal
Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the principles for the
recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of
leases and requires lessees to account for all leases under a
single on-balance sheet model. Lessor accounting under HKFRS
16 is substantially unchanged from HKAS 17. Lessors will
continue to classify leases as either operating or finance leases
using similar principles as in HKAS 17. Therefore, HKFRS 16 did
not have any financial impact on leases where the Group is the
lessor.

The Group adopted HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective
method of adoption with the date of initial application of 1
April 2019. Under this method, the standard is applied
retrospectively with cumulative effect on initial adoption as an
adjustment to the opening balance of equity at 1 April 2019
and the comparative information was not restated and
continues to be reported under HKAS 17.

New definition of lease

Under HKFRS 16, a contract is, or contains a lease if the
contract conveys a right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
Control is conveyed where the customer has both the right to
obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of
the identified asset and the right to direct the use of the
identified asset. The Group elected to use the transition
practical expedient allowing the standard to be applied only to
contracts that were previously identified as leases applying
HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 at the date of initial application.
Contracts that were not identified as leases under HKAS 17
and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 were not reassessed. Therefore, the
definition of a lease under HKFRS 16 has been applied only to
contracts entered into or changed on or after 1 April 2019.
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2.2.CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

22BN RRREEERZEH

DISCLOUSRES (cContinued)
As a lessee - Leases previously classified as operating
leases

Nature of the effect of adoption of HKFRS 16

The Group has lease contracts for various items of properties.
As a lessee, the Group previously classified leases as either
finance leases or operating leases based on the assessment of
whether the lease transferred substantially all the rewards and
risks of ownership of assets to the Group. Under HKFRS 16, the
Group applies a single approach to recognise and measure
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for all leases, except for
two elective exemptions for leases of low-value assets (elected
on a lease by lease basis) and short-term leases (elected by
class of underlying asset). Instead of recognising rental
expenses under operating leases on a straight-line basis over
the lease term commencing from 1 April 2019, the Group
recognises depreciation (and impairment, if any) of the right-
of-use assets and interest accrued on the outstanding lease
liabilities (as finance costs). The Group has elected not to
recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for (i) leases of
low-value assets; and (ii) leases, that at the commencement
date, have a lease term of 12 months or less. Instead, the
Group recognises the lease payments associated with those
leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

Impacts on transition

Lease liabilities at 1 April 2019 were recognised based on the
present value of the remaining lease payment, discounted
using the incremental borrowing rate at 1 April 2019.

The right-of-use assets were measured at the amount of the
lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or
accrued lease payments relating to the lease recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position immediately before
1 April 2019. All these assets were assessed for any impairment
based on HKAS 36 on that date. The Group elected to present
the right-of-use assets within property, plant and equipment in
the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group has used the following elective practical expedients
when applying HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019:

o Applied the short-term lease exemptions to leases with a
lease term that ends within 12 months from the date of
initial application

° Used hindsight in determining the lease term where the
contract contains options to extend/terminate the lease
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2.2.CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOUSRES (continued)

As a lessee - Leases previously classified as operating

leases (Continued)

Impacts on transition (Continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements

RN

For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-ZF-FF=H=+—HIFFE

(%&)

(%)
BEZE (E)

2ENBEREEERZEH

ERABA-LAAIBEAKERENASE

e Use of asingle discount rate to a portfolio of leases with e HWHBAEMBUSEM—HEAEFH
reasonably similar characteristics AR X
e Excluded the initial direct costs from the measurement of e HEBRERBHNEREEERE
the right of use asset at date of initial application B s R
The impacts arising from the adoption of HKFRS 16 as at 1 RZEBE-NEFNA—ARABESVBRE
April 2019 are as follows: EAFIREENTENT
HK$'000
BT T
Assets BE
Increase in property, plant and equipment and total ¥ 3 - B = K 5% 5 B2 42 & E 42 N
assets 22,853
Liabilities =R
Increase in lease liabilities and total liabilities HEaBMRABEE M 24,098
Increase in accumulated losses 25BN 1,245
The lease liabilities as at 1 April 2019 reconciled to the RZE—NFUNA—BMEEaEEN—
operating lease commitments as at 31 March 2019 is as T-NF=A=T—"HNKEHREREY
follows: BRanh -
HK$'000
BT T
Operating lease commitments as at 31 March 2019 —NE=A=+T—HHKEHERE 32,296
Less: Commitments relating to leases exempt from 5 : B EEREE AW E 2 & E
capitalisation:
— Short-term leases and other leases with —EHHERBRTHER S FF
remaining lease term ending on or before —A=T—HZ®ZA&ARZEMEE
31 March 2020 (3,387)
Operating lease liabilities before discounting MBERKEHERRE 28,909
Weighted average incremental borrowing rate as at R-ZE—NAFMNA — B INEFHES
1 April 2019 BEF X 12.91%
Discounted operating lease commitments and lease C—NFMA—HHMBRELERE
liabilities as at 1 April 2019 AERBERE 24,098
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HZ=-F-FTF=H=+—HIFFE

2.2.CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOUSRES (continued)

As a lessee - Leases previously classified as operating
leases (Continued)

22. B BRRIEEERZEE
(4)
ERREA-ANSEAEERENAE
(#)

Impacts on transition (Continued) BEZE (E)
Analysed as: DA
HK$'000
BT T
Current k2 10,821
Non-current EE 13,277
24,098

2.3 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF NEW OR REVISED
HKFRSs ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the
HKICPA has issued the following amendments, new standards
and interpretations which are not yet effective for the year
ended 31 March 2020 and which have not been early adopted
in these financial statements.

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts'
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business?

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual

Framework?
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
& HKAS 28 between and Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture*
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-Current?
Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material®
& HKAS 8
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before Intended Use?
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract?
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform®
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRSs ~ Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-2020°

23EHABERBE_F_SF=
A=+—HLEERKREND
MR EETEEMEHRES
RIFfREM &
BEZSHMBERTBEE SEEHE
REEEGATRBE T -TF=A
St BLEFEERERRERNEEY
BRRPRPWANOE] LB RRE-

FEHBASENEE  RRAD
FEUBRSRNEN,  EHEH
47

EEUBASENEN,  JREAER
&7

BEMBRELAF0RLE REAZRABELNTRA
BETEAFNH BT ERRACENEENE

FEE
BERGHERNEIREE  REBEIEARDR

ETEE
EREHEREIRREE EAES

SEHEAEBH 2B F]
BEQHENSZ 6K 2B DE BERRE-#T
BRI
RO ENEITR 2B BEAN-ETAHZ
F A
BEARERLENER B8 FIREENES
§§+‘>‘§BIJ%39M§%H7H‘%
RERBETR 265
iﬁ,%ém‘%#%ﬁﬁwzw ERMBREREN =T
-\EE-F-%
B E s
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-ZF-FF=H=+—HIFFE

23ERMERBE—S-_SF=

2.3 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF NEW OR REVISED
HKFRSs ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
(Continued)

1

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for
which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the
first annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2020

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

Effective for annual periods beginning on a date to be
determined
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what
the impact of these developments is expected to be in the
period of initial application. So far the Group has concluded
that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

(a)

Investments in associates/joint venture

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long
term equity interest of generally not less than 20% of the
equity voting rights and over which it is in a position to
exercise significant influence. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of
an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of
the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the
Group's share of net assets/liabilities under the equity
method of accounting, less any impairment losses.
Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar
accounting policies that may exist.

R

Et+—HLEFERREND

FETBEEITEEMBRESE
wT%Mkﬂﬂ@

MROE-=F—-A-BRZBRABNFE
HIRE A 2

RBBEEAH AT -TF - —Haz&
FRgE e & E 5 E M ek 2 & B R & O
LREEWRBEX
MRoE-—F-A-BRZEBERABNFE
HIRE A 2
REFEE A HREHFERRER

ROZE-ZF-A-BRZBRABNFEE
HIRE A 2

AEBIEAEFGZFERNERERHE
BHIERNZE 29/ AEERRK

Lt AE 7T B4R

2y
7 =z

24FE®

(a)

EMBBRERTEEKREAXN

o

AR ZEBE
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20% M AT Rk 2 R R ITQ
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(a)

(b)

Investments in associates/joint venture (Continued)
The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and
other comprehensive income of the associate is included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated other comprehensive income, respectively. In
addition, when there has been a change recognised
directly in the equity of the associate, the Group
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates are eliminated to
the extent of the Group's investments in the associates,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising
from the acquisition of associates is included as part of
the Group's investments in associates.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in
a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not
remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other
cases, upon loss of significant influence over the associate
or joint control over the joint venture, the Group
measures and recognises any retained investment at its
fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of
the associate or the joint venture upon loss of significant
influence or joint control and the fair value of the
retained investment and proceeds from disposal is
recognised in profit or loss.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the
sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group
to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for the control
of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling
interests in the acquiree that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share
of the net assets in the event of liquidation at fair value
or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

24 FEEHBRCEBE &)

(a)

(b)
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(b)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)
When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of
the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability
is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any
fair value of the Group's previously held equity interests
in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration
and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value
may be impaired. The Group performs its annual
impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units, or
groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the
Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

(b)

EBEHREE (&)
AEBERBEGE FEeREER
FrAEAE FURRE RGN K
B2 BRI R ARR IR 1E &
ENBRREERS  LBED B
BOIAOPHOBRAXITETLR-

EEBAGDBEEBETT BRI
RERWERBAFESHAE M
EA R EE R RS E RN B sl

e

WiET HEEm AR EREEE B
BAFEER IRKELBREE
gBE NDRAFEFE MAFE
HE RN IBSER - D ERBEAK
ARETEEMFEREREENE
BmAARK-

BENRRRAGE BAEEA
B ERIANFERERBEUARRE
SEERIATI Z KB T IR R
1B 4B 2R ) P YU 7T 3851 8 B FHE
FrEERBE s Z8 - WMz B REM
HERMERFKEEEFENRF
B MZREEHNTHENBRER
REEREEWE-

PIIATERIL - B B IR AR (] R T
MEBETE SFAANEEDR
B - WEEHHBEREDBEREEE
AREEARE MeEAERE A
SER=A=+—HETFERER
ERAF -BBRERNHATS X4 6
TRBAZBHEARBESESEE
AEEBERHZERGHFIHRRGEZ
EREELBENXREELEUMA
B MiwmAKEZEMEESAE
REPETHEEMHEMES -

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)

97



98

Notes to the Financial Statements
BF 75 3 3} B &

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(b) Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)
Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying
amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a

subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative
value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the

cash-generating unit retained.

(c¢) Fair value measurement

The Group measures its other financial assets and equity
investments at fair value at the end of each reporting
period. Fair value is the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based
on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset
or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market for
the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using
the assumptions that market participants would use when
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market

participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant that

would use the asset in its highest and best use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows,
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly
or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the

lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each
reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
financial assets and deferred tax assets), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating
unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal,
and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset
does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.

(c)

(d)

DVEFE (F)
AEBERMBERANTREIELEEETR
DEBEBAHRFERFEZHEN A
NEEERRETERBGAZERE
ERLERTABEERAZEC

BRI BERRABIBELTEZ
BENMNAGE DERBAFEFEER
EMEEEAZREERASEIZIA

TATESHSRA:
F1E - BRNERAELEERE

B4 2 B{E (RATHE)

ERHRFEAEMSE
BEAZRREBAZSEA
B (BERSER) ZhE
JE

%28 -

ERHRFEAEMSE
EAZHEBEERAZET
AR 2 HETA

MIEEEEEERNMBRRERZE
ENBEMS AREBEENERE
HARBHAEDE (ERY A FER
ERRMEBEAZREE®AZ
BOMERGELETRAER ZENE

%o

FEMEERME
WEFRBROBERENAREE
(TEREREENREEREEE)
ETFRRENR MEeftEEL
AfEEE-EEZARESHELSE
ESRSELENZERBERER
FEBHEKRN & SE - L E 5
BEMEBEE MIFEHEELEES
ERARE LBYINEMEEREE
MBI ZBERAFERBERT - AT
CECENEEMBZRSEEENMM
BE-

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)

99



100

Notes to the Financial Statements
BF 75 3 3} B &

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(d) Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)
An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value-in-use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any
depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment
loss is credited to the consolidated statement of profit or

loss in the period in which it arises.

(e) Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that

person’s family and that person

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(e)
(b)

Related parties (Continued)

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.

(e)
(b)

MES (&)
EBTRERIFMA

AT A7

— IR R

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(viii)

=5 gg zz
—EEn

Al(%—
[hgEER/NGT
Al

E%Z!A7
KEEWHED

IﬁL* mﬁﬁhﬂ
A% B BB 12 48 B FT B

B (a)B#ERZ
12 SR AL R

ﬁ%ﬂZAtﬂ%
BAFE HR

BN ASYNCID)

BABZKE &

a)i

BB

\r

!
ol
25 T 5B o

HUE":m‘r

oot

ZERIAEMBEEENT
KB AR AAREENE
BRRIEHFZERBAER
Ak 75

D\

D

o

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)

101



102

Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 75 ¥R 5k BT &

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

()

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are
satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is
capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a
replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant
and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such part as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over is estimated useful
life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are
as follows:

Over the shorter of the
lease terms and 15%
Furniture, fixtures and 15%
equipment
Computer equipment
Motor vehicle

Leasehold improvements

33'5%
20% - 25%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is
allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each
part is depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives
and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted
if appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the year the asset is
derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RN

For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-ZF-FF=H=+—HIFFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets
are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-
generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not
amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with an
indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether
the indefinite life assessment continues to be
supportable. If not, the change in the useful life
assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for on a
prospective basis.

Trading rights

Trading rights represent the eligibility rights to trade on or
through the Stock Exchange and The Hong Kong Futures
Exchange Limited (the “Future Exchange”) with indefinite
useful lives. They are carried at cost less any impairment
losses.

Leases
(a) Policy applicable from 1 April 2019

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except for
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The
Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease
payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(h)

Leases (Continued)
(a) Policy applicable from 1 April 2019 (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and
lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Unless the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the leased asset at the end of
the lease term, the recognised right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of the estimated useful life and the lease
term of the assets, as follow:

Office premise Over the lease terms

The Group’s right-of-use assets are included in
property, plant and equipment.

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the
Group at the end of the lease term or the cost
reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful
life of the asset. The right-of-use assets are also
subject to impairment, which is set out in note
2.4(d) impairment of non-financial assets.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RN

For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-ZF-FF=H=+—HIFFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2Q4FESHBECEE »)
POLICIES (Continued)

(h) Leases (Continued) (h)y BE£Z&)
(a) Policy applicable from 1 April 2019 (Continued) (a) BE=F—NFHF—HEEH
HIBE (&)
Group as a lessee (Continued) REBIEREHEA (F)
Lease liabilities HEARE

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the present
value of lease payments to be made over the lease
term. The lease payments include fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts
expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and payments
of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate. The variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as an
expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date if the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.
After the commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of
interest and reduced for the lease payments made.
In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in
the lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a
change to future payments resulting from a change
in an index or rate used to determine such lease
payment) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.

The Group's lease liabilities are presented separately
in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (Continued)

(h)

(a)

(b)

Policy applicable from 1 April 2019 (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases (i.e., those leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option). It also applies the recognition
exemption to leases of low-value assets.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Policy applicable prior to 1 April 2019

Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks
of ownership of assets remain with the lessor are
accounted for as operating leases. Rentals payable
under operating leases are charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Finance leases

A finance lease is a lease that the Group as the
lessor uses to transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of the leased asset
to the lessee. At the commencement of the lease
term, the Group recognises the minimum lease
amounts receivable by the Group as a finance lease
receivable and records the unguaranteed residual
value as an asset within the same category. The
difference between (a) the aggregate of the
minimum lease amounts and the unguaranteed
residual value and (b) their present value (presented
in the consolidated statement of financial position
as finance lease receivables) is recognised as
unearned finance income. Minimum lease amounts
are the payments over the lease term that the lessee
is or can be required to make plus any residual value
guaranteed to the lessor by the lessee, or a party
unrelated to the lessor.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RN

For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-ZF-FF=H=+—HIFFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
(b) Policy applicable prior to 1 April 2019
(Continued)

Finance leases (Continued)

Unearned finance income is allocated to each period
during the lease term using the effective interest
method that allocates each rental between finance
income and repayment of capital in each accounting
period in such a way that finance income is
recognised as a constant periodic rate of return
(implicit effective interest rate) on the lessor’'s net
investment in the lease. Lease agreements for which
the base rent is based on floating interest rates are
included in minimum lease payments based on the
floating interest rate existing at the commencement
of the lease; any increase or decrease in lease
payments that result from subsequent changes on
floating interest rate is recorded as an increase or a
decrease in finance lease income in the period of
the interest rate change.

Initial direct costs, such as commissions, legal fees
and internal costs that are incremental and directly
attributable to negotiating and arranging a lease,
are included in the initial measurement of the
finance lease receivables and reduce the amount of
income recognised over the lease term.

See notes 2.4(i) and 2.4(j) for accounting policies for
derecognition and impairment of finance lease
receivables.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets of the Group are classified, at initial
recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost,
fair value through other comprehensive income and fair
value through profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group's business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs.
Accounts receivable that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied
the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI")
on the principal amount outstanding.

The Group's business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(i)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if
both of the following conditions are met:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
with the objective to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income when they meet the definition of equity under
HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not
held for trading. The classification is determined on an
instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never
recycled to profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as
other income in the statement of profit or loss when the
right of payment has been established, it is probable that
the economic benefits associated with the dividend will
flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be
measured reliably, except when the Group benefits from
such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the
financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in
other comprehensive income. Equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income are not subject to impairment assessment.

()

RERHMERMEE (£)
#EE
TREEZEBASERTHLS AN
T

Il AT S A E (EHT
A)

MRS & ATl SEEE S
BRI ERAHE

s RATMEBEEMEBEANE
BR BE2REENENEH

ReEhg Rk

s SRMEEMNANKRINEER
HELARE2RXNAERKRE
BEATHMENRERE -

I AR & R E ERERER
BERFREFTE - WAl FRE- B
REBEEEERLHER BT RE
RN B HERR o

HETE 7335 B E A 2 A A 2 F1ES)
RZeMEE (RERE)
EHERIE EERERENEETE
SR RRAENZREMT A 2T
EHUFFIFEER AEEAEE
TARE G E D EREE RSB BE
o2 BAARFEINENRE - D
BNBEEIAEE-

ZETHMEENRGE LERKETS
W ERDS - ENRENDEYL R
A RE R A ELA S ARRE AV BRI SR
AEE ARSI EAER
BERBHEEATHERSEMEA B
FAEBZ AN KOS MEEMAN—
MOMMEHRE EHERT %%
WaENEMEZEBATIR - EERE
38 H th 5 T A A R FE 51 BR A A A
BETEITRER -

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)

109



110

Notes to the Financial Statements
BF 75 3 3} B &

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i) Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading, financial assets
designated upon initial recognition at fair value through
profit or loss, or financial assets mandatorily required to
be measured at fair value. Financial assets are classified as
held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of
selling or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives,
including separated embedded derivatives, are also
classified as held for trading unless they are designated as
effective hedging instruments. Financial assets with cash
flows that are not solely payments of principal and
interest are classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments to be
classified at amortised cost or at fair value through other
comprehensive income, as described above, debt
instruments may be designated at fair value through
profit or loss on initial recognition if doing so eliminates,
or significantly reduces, an accounting mismatch.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the consolidated statement of financial position
at fair value with net changes in fair value recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected
to classify at fair value through other comprehensive
income. Dividends on equity investments classified as
financial assets at fair value profit or loss are also
recognised as other income in the statement of profit or
loss when the right of payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with the
dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(i)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

(Continued)

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a
financial liability or non-financial host, is separated from
the host and accounted for as a separate derivative if the
economic characteristics and risks are not closely related
to the host; a separate instrument with the same terms as
the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a
derivative; and the hybrid contract is not measured at fair
value through profit or loss. Embedded derivatives are
measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss. Reassessment only occurs if
there is either a change in the terms of the contract that
significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise
be required or a reclassification of a financial asset out of
the fair value through profit or loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract
containing a financial asset host is not accounted for
separately. The financial asset host together with the
embedded derivative is required to be classified in its
entirety as a financial asset at fair value through profit or
loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (that is, removed from
the Group's consolidated statement of financial position)
when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without
material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i)

()

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group's continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an
associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects
the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the
lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the
maximum amount of consideration that the Group could
be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair
value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Company expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale
of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for
credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12-month (a 12-month ECL). For
those credit exposures for which there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a
loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over
the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the
timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

()]

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information.

For financial assets, except for margin receivables, the
Group considers that there has been a significant increase
in credit risk when contractual payments are more than
30 days past due. The Group considers these financial
assets are in default when contractual payments are 90
days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group may
also consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group
is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts
in full taking into account any credit enhancements held
by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there
is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual
cash flows.

For margin receivables, the Group considers there has
been a significant increase in credit risk when clients
cannot meet margin call requirement and uses the loan-
to-collateral value (“LTV"”) to make its assessment. The
Group considers a margin receivable is in default when
payments under the margin call requirement are 30 days
past due. However, in certain cases, the Group may also
consider a margin receivable to be in default when there
is @ margin shortfall which indicates that the Group is
unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in
full, taking into account the pledged securities held by
the Group. A margin receivable is written off when there
is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual
cash flows.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

()]

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement of
ECLs except for trade receivables (other than receivables
arising from margin clients) which apply the simplified
approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs.

Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial
assets and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

Stage 2 -

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an amount equal

to lifetime ECLs.

Simplified approach

For trade receivables (other than receivables arising from
margin clients) that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group applies the simplified
approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified
approach, the Group does not track changes in credit
risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on
lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(k)

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities of the Group are classified, at initial
recognition, as loans and borrowings.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest rate method unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are
those contracts that require a payment to be made to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because the
specified debtor fails to make a payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A
financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as a
liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the
financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i) the ECL
allowance determined in accordance with the policy as set
out in “Impairment of financial assets”; and (ii) the
amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the
cumulative amount of income recognised.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

U]

(m)

(n)

(o)

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged, cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or
the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition
of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Derivative financial instruments

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement
Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at
fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is
entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair
value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value
is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is
negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and demand deposits, and short-term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally
within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part
of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
financial position, cash and bank balances comprise cash
on hand and at banks, including term deposits, which are
not restricted as to use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(p)

(a)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount arising
from the passage of time is included in finance costs in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(a)

Income tax (Continued)

o in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, when the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, deferred tax assets are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all
or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

(r)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax
rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes
relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation
authority.

Revenue recognition

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it
arises from the sale of goods, the provision of services or
the use by others of the Group's assets under leases in
the ordinary course of the Group's business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer, or the lessee has
the right to use the asset, at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be
entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Where the contract contains a financing component
which provides a significant financing benefit to the
customer for more than 12 months, revenue is measured
at the present value of the amounts receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction with the
customer, and interest income is accrued separately under
the effective interest method. Where the contract
contains a financing component which provides a
significant financing benefit to the Group, revenue
recognised under that contract includes the interest
expense accreted on the contract liability under the
effective interest method.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(r) Revenue recognition (Continued)
Further details of the Group’s revenue recognition policies
are as follows:

(a)

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)

income from the sale of equity and debt securities,
on a trade-date basis;

dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established;

interest income, on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
over the expected life of the financial instrument or
a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset;

insurance brokerage income, the performance
obligation is satisfied at a point in time when the
relevant insurance policy becomes effective in
accordance with the commission terms of the
underlying agreements entered into with insurance
policy issuer;

corporate finance advisory income, the performance
obligation is satisfied at a point in time when the
customer has received the services from the Group.
The customer receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group when the relevant services
are rendered. The payment is generally due upon
the services are rendered;

commission and brokerage income from securities
and futures dealings, the performance obligation is
satisfied at a point in time when the customer has
received the service from the Group, generally when
a trade is executed. Commission and brokerage
income from securities and futures dealings are
generally due within two days after trade dates;
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

underwriting and placing commission income, the
performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time
when the customer has received the service from
the Group. The customer receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group when the relevant
services are rendered;

commission income from guarantee services is
recognised when guarantee contracts have been
made whereby the related guarantee obligations
have been accepted, the economic benefits
associated with the guarantee contracts will
probably be realised, and the amount of revenue
associated with the guarantee contracts can be
measured reliably;

factoring income mainly consists of factoring
interest income and other factoring related service
income. Factoring income from a financial asset is
recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of
revenue can be measured reliably. Factoring interest
income is recognised on an accrual basis at the
effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate
that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts over the expected life of the financial assets
to the net carrying amount of that financial assets;
and

finance lease income, under finance lease is
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss using the effective interest rate implicit in the
lease over the term of the lease. Contingent rent is
recognised as income in the period in which it is
earned.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(s)

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and/or rewards to eligible
participants (including the Company’s directors and other
employees of the Group and of its investee entities, and
any consultant, advisor or agent engaged by or business
partners of any member of the Group or any investee
entity), who render services and/or contribute to the
success of the Group's operations. Employees (including
directors) and advisors of the Group receive remuneration
in the form of share-based payments, whereby
employees/advisors render services as consideration for
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for
grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference
to the fair value at the date at which they are granted.
The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a
binomial option pricing model. In valuing equity-settled
transactions, no account is taken of any performance
conditions, other than conditions linked to the price of
the shares of the Company (“market conditions”), if
applicable.

The cost of equity-settled transactions with non-
employees is measured by reference to the fair value of
the services received at the date they are received. Where
the market information for the services provided by non-
employees cannot be reliably determined, the fair value of
the share options granted at the date when the services
are received is applied as a surrogate measure. In this
case, the fair value of the share options is determined by
external valuers using a binomial option pricing model.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the
performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The
cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the
vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting
period has expired and the Group's best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.
The charge or credit to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss for a period represents the movement in the
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and
end of that period.

24 FEEHBRCEBE &)

(s)

LR 0 B E R AR
ARBET-BRBEETE EEM
REEERMRE RS RAEEE
ERNELBERcAERSEAL
(BRARBDEZTEAEERERER
BERZEMER  RAKEHEM
WA ERZEAK B AR REER
BHAZEZEMER  #HHARK
B)IREHEE R SRR N EEE
B(BRES) BRI AE
BT R 2 T AR MiEE, B
A RIA R AR IS E B AR TR Z
RE(AERZEEZRXF]) -

R_TT_F+—ALHERRE %
Bins RESETUEREEEZR
HZRANEBSERNE R 2 AFE
e N FEMIMNDBEMMA IR
BB E B R E T - AT AR
mAEE 2 X 585 I M R AR 4B U
- MR RBIRER R Z R ([T
SR (HER) BRI

HFEEREREERIRNARERE
RIEERBEE AFTREZRE 22 F
BRTE - HIFEERBREENT
LERTREASEETE RNREERBEE
AREEREZ A FERBESR
FAE-EIBERT BhiEzFE
BN ERD A —THA BB IR TE B
AEE -

NESERE 2R 5 2 KA ER s E
J& 2 S AP SE PR AE R I S AR S i 1
HIF R E B R AR R - NERE
HAREEFRB AU ESEE

RHERZ R RAXRREBHD T
HEny  URAKEHERREBZ
BATAHBEL 2 REMG -RE
—HREGABRERPHBRNIEIAZ
RIBERZ M R PR EHER 2 Ret
P& -

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)



Notes to the Financial Statements

RN

For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-ZF-FF=H=+—HIFFE

24FEEHBRZCEBE &)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(s)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
but the likelihood of the conditions
being met is assessed as part of the Group's best estimate
of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within
the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached
to an award, but without an associated service
requirement, are considered to be non-vesting conditions.
Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value of
an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an
award unless there are also service and/or performance
conditions.

value of awards,

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-
market performance and/or service conditions have not
been met, no expense is recognised. Where awards
include a market or non-vesting condition, the
transactions are treated as vesting irrespective of whether
the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided
that all other performance and/or service conditions are
satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified, if the original terms of the award
are met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any
modification that increases the total fair value of the
share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the
employees/advisors as measured at the date of
modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting
conditions within the control of either the Group or the
employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as
a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the
cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a
modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings
per share.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(t)

(u)

Employee benefits

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations as further explained in the accounting policy
for “Share-based payments” above.

Retirement benefit scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group's employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme.

Pursuant to the relevant PRC laws and regulations, each
of the PRC subsidiaries of the Group is required to
participate in a retirement benefit scheme organised by
the local municipal government whereby the Group is
required to contribute a certain percentage of the salaries
of its employees to the retirement benefit scheme.
Contributions made to the defined contribution
retirement benefit scheme are charged to the statement
of profit or loss as incurred.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and
other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (cContinued)

(v)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in the financial statements of
each entity are measured using that functional currency.
Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in
the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the functional
currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured
at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the
gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (that is,
translation difference on the item whose fair value gain
or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss, respectively).

The functional currency of certain PRC subsidiaries is
Renminbi (“RMB"). As at the end of the reporting period,
the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated
into Hong Kong dollar at the exchange rates prevailing at
the end of the reporting period and their statements of
profit or loss are translated into Hong Kong dollar at the
average exchange rates for the year. The resulting
exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of PRC subsidiaries are translated
into Hong Kong dollar at the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the cash flows.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(w) Convertible instruments

Convertible instruments that contain an equity

component

Convertible instruments that can be converted to equity
share capital at the option of the holder, where the
number of shares that would be issued on conversion and
the value of the consideration that would be received at
that time do not vary, are accounted for as compound
financial instruments which contain both a liability
component and an equity component.

At initial recognition the liability component of the
convertible instruments is measured at fair value based on
the present value of the future interest and principal
payments, discounted at the market rate of interest
applicable at the time of initial recognition to similar
liabilities that do not have a conversion option. The equity
component is initially recognised at the difference
between the fair value of the convertible instruments as a
whole and the fair value of the liability component.
Transaction costs that relate to the issue of a compound
financial instrument are allocated to the liability and
equity components in proportion to the allocation of
proceeds.

The liability component is subsequently carried at
amortised cost. The interest expense recognised in profit
or loss on the liability component is calculated using the
effective interest method. The equity component is
recognised in the convertible instruments equity reserve
until either the instrument is converted or redeemed.

If the convertible instrument is converted, the convertible
instruments equity reserve, together with the carrying
amount of the liability component at the time of
conversion, is transferred to share capital and share
premium as consideration for the shares issued. If the
convertible instrument is redeemed, the convertible
instruments equity reserve is released directly to retained
profits.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

(a) Significant judgement in determining the lease term

of contracts with renewal options

The Group determines the lease term as the non-
cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods
covered by an option to extend the lease if it is
reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered
by an option to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably
certain not to be exercised.

The Group applies judgement in evaluating whether it is
reasonably certain to exercise the option to renew. It
considers all relevant factors that create an economic
incentive for it to exercise the renewal. After the lease
commencement date, the Group reassesses the lease term
if there is a significant event or change in circumstances
that is within the control of the Group and affects its
ability to exercise the option to renew.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
(Continued)
(b) Going concern consideration

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting

policies, apart from those involving estimates,

directors of Company have prepared the consolidated
financial statements on the assumption that the Group
will be able to operate as a going concern in the coming
year, which is a critical judgement that has the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
The assessment of the going
concern assumption involves making a judgement by the
directors of the Company, at a particular point of time,
about the future outcome of events or conditions which
are inherently uncertain. The directors of the Company
consider that the Group has the capability to continue as
a going concern and the major events or conditions,
which may give rise to business risks, that individually or
collectively may cast significant doubt upon the going
concern assumption are set out in note 2.1 to the

financial statements.

consolidated financial statements.

(c) Deconsolidation of subsidiaries

Note 2.1 describes that the Group no longer had control
to govern the financial and operating policies of the
Deconsolidated Subsidiaries so as to benefit from their
activities and the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries had
therefore been deconsolidated from the consolidated
financial statements of the Company since 1 April 2019.

In making their judgement, the directors of the Company
considered the criteria for the consolidation of an entity
as set out in HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements
issued by the HKICPA. In light of the problems identified,
the directors of the Company are of the opinion that the
Group can no longer exercise its ownership rights in the
and accordingly,
deconsolidated the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries from the
consolidated financial statements of the Group since 1

Deconsolidated Subsidiaries,

April 2019.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities

Notes to the Financial Statements

RN

For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-ZF-FF=H=+—HIFFE

3. FEFHAER MG 2
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within the next financial year, are described below.

(a)

Impairment of financial assets measured at

amortised cost

The Group reviews portfolios of financial assets measured
at amortised cost to assess whether any impairment
losses exist and the amount of impairment losses if there
is any indication of impairment. Objective evidence for
impairment includes observable data indicating that there
is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash
flows for financial assets measured at amortised cost. It
also includes observable data indicating adverse changes
in the repayment status of the debtors, or change in
national or local economic conditions that causes the
default in payment.

The impairment loss for financial assets measured at
amortised cost using the expected credit loss model is
subjected to a number of key parameters and
assumptions, including the identification of loss stages,
estimates of probability of default, loss given default,
exposures at default and discount rate, adjustments for
forward-looking information and other adjustment
factors. The expected credit losses for financial assets
measured at amortised cost are derived from estimates
whereby management takes into consideration historical
data, the historical loss experience and other adjustment
factors. Historical loss experience is adjusted on the basis
of the relevant observable data that reflect current
economic conditions and the judgement based on
management’s historical experience. Management reviews
the selection of those parameters and the application of
the assumptions regularly to reduce any difference
between loss estimates and actual loss.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(b) Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of each
reporting period. At 31 March 2020, other non-financial
assets of the Group include property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets, goodwill and investments in
associates. Indefinite life intangible assets are tested for
impairment annually and at other times when such an
indicator exists. Investments in associates are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists
when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher
of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value-in-use.
The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is
based on available data from binding sales transactions
on an arm’s length basis of similar assets or observable
market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the
asset. When value-in-use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash
flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present

value of those cash flows.

(c) Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax
losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the losses can be utilised.
Significant management judgement is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be
recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of
future taxable profits together with future tax planning

strategies.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their services and has reportable

operating segments as follows:

(a) securities and futures brokerage, placing, underwriting
and margin financing segment engages in the provision
of securities and futures brokerage placing, underwriting

and margin financing services;

(b) provision of finance segment engages in the provision of

financing services in Hong Kong;
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RN

For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-ZF-FF=H=+—HIFFE

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

() insurance brokerage business segment engages in
insurance brokerage business and the provision of
financial planning and related services;

(d) trading of securities and futures segment engages in the
purchase and sale of securities and futures investments;

(e) factoring, financial guarantee and finance leasing
segment engages in the provision of factoring, financial
guarantee and finance leasing services and related
activities;

(f)  investment holding segment engages in holding
investments for continuing strategic or long-term
purposes, primarily for dividend income and capital
appreciation; and

(g) corporate finance advisory segment engages in the
provision of corporate finance advisory services and
related activities.

Upon certain major operating subsidiaries being deconsolidated
from the consolidated financial statements of the Group since
1 April 2019, the directors of the Company considered that the
operations of the financial guarantee and finance leasing
services were suspended. During the year ended 31 March
2019, the segment revenue and profit contributed by the
financial guarantee and finance leasing services were
HK$39,266,000 and HK$72,213,000, respectively.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
(loss), which is a measure of adjusted loss before tax. The
adjusted loss before tax is measured consistently with the
Group's loss before tax except that bank and other interest
income (excluding interest income from the provision of
finance, margin financing, factoring and finance leasing
activities), finance costs as well as head office and corporate
expenses are excluded from such measurement.

Intersegment transactions are made with reference to the
prices used for services made to independent third parties at
the then prevailing market prices.

4. EEHWEEH »)

(0 REELEEBSH»BZEBABNERE
BAR TS MR RS R AEE R
7

d) BHLBEEEIEIXBREERE
FRHEKRE:

(e) RE BMEERABEMEESIBZE
BRHEEFRMRE REEREFHE
HERY MEEEE

() BREBROBZEBRRIFTERENL
RHBOMETIERRE  TEBH
RIS WA R EARIEE: &

(9 CEBREBEMOBZEBRIEERM
CEBEBRERE MA@ -

RETFELENBARA-ZE—NLFNHN
A—HRIUHE ST ARNEE 2 4R6 075
WEE NRAREEZRABEEREME
HERBEBCEEEE-HE_Z— N
FmRA=+—HILFE BEEREME
HERBER 2 22 BomF 9 5l &5
#39,266,0007T K & %72,213,0007T °

BEEBEFEHERDBELRBEN G ZREK
HEBLERAKREREDBZRE-D
BRBEGRRABRSH PR, (BE)F
il mal s D FEN, (BE) TIAERT
ERABKRBAER KABKRHEAER
A BT ABAEERBATER 20 H
BRGTESHRRTREMIEWA (T
BREREHRE TRAE RELBERE
BB ZF BN  BERAARERER
HENRFEX -

DEERFZ DS RIZE AT 5 ERRIEIL
E=FREREAAZEBMIEL -
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Notes to the Financial Statements
BF 75 3 3} B &

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4,
(Continued)
No analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by operating
segments was provided to the management for review during
the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019 for the purposes of
resources allocation and performance assessment.

Year ended 31 March 2020/As at 31 March 2020

BESEEH »)

HE T - ZER-_T-NE=ZA=+—
HIEFETERERSELRKREFERAE
BEREBAEEREEDEEINEER
BESN AEEER-

BE-_S-SHE=fF=+-HLEE R
—E-FF=ZA=1+—H

Securities
and futures Factoring,
brokerage, financial
placing, guarantee
underwriting Insurance  Trading of and Corporate
and margin Provision  brokerage securities finance  Investment finance
financing  of finance business  and futures leasing holding advisory Total
25N
HEaL. RE
RE B%R REBEL #ER  RERRR
TREE  RERE ¥%  HERE  MEBE  REBR LRRERES aR

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HK§'000  HK§'000 HK$006
BRI BRTn BRI BRI BRI BT BBt BRTx

Segment revenue: PENE:
Sales to external customers  $[AMIRFZHE 48567 12,570 7,440 (48) - - - 68,529
Intersegment sales HERHE - - 16 - - - - 16
48,567 12,570 7,456 (48) - - - 68,545

Reconciliation; HE
Elimination of interseqment 2 BRIHEH #

sales (16)
Total revenue gt 68,529
Segment results: TRER. (10,252) (255,991) M3 (20,546) (366,259)  (2,429,440) (92)  (3,082,167)
Reconciliation: HE:
Bank interest income BAMEMA 882
Other interest income EtoFISHA 113
Corporate and other RAREMRAERS

unallocated expenses (63,966)
Finance costs BEARK (695,527)
Loss before tax RRAEE (3,840,665)

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-ZF-FF=H=+—HIFFE

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. BESFHEH »)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2020/As at 31 March 2020 BE-2-_ZFZAZ+-HLFE R
(Continued) —E-EF=ZRA=+—H8(#&)
Securities
and futures Factoring,
brokerage, financial
placing, guarantee
underwriting Insurance  Trading of and Corporate
and margin Provision  brokerage securities finance  Investment finance
financing  of finance business  and futures leasing holding advisory Total
B5R
HeRL. RE.
RE-BHR RBEL F5R REERR
fRRE RitRE £ HE8E HENE REZR CEBERE 2%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI BETT BETL BEI BETT BETT BETR BETT
Other segment information: ~ Eft 2 EEH:
Provision for impairment loss EYEFZ HESE
of loans receivable B - (266,085) - - - - - (266,085)
Reversal of provision for WS 2 A EEHE
impairment loss of accounts ~ BlEEEFE
receivable, net 73 - (1) - 119 - - 191
Provision for impairment loss EMREHE ZHE
of factoring receivables BRERE - - - - (297,529) - - (297,529)
Impairment loss of BB R REL
prepayments, depositsand BB ZifE
other receivables BB - - - - - (45,792) - (45,792)
Impairment loss of investments REEAEZREZ
in associates HESE - - - - - (341,674) - (341,674)
Loss on deconsolidation of ~ MAHGAARNE LT
subsidiaries BB - - - - - (2,092,200 - (2,092,200
Depreciation ik
- operating segment -BELE (372 - (5) - (134) - - (511)
- unallocated -#AE (12,743)
(13,254)
Other financial assets HtheRAE 660,301 - - - - 25,704 - 686,005
Capital expenditure EARY
- Operating segments -BENE - - - - 3 - - 3¢
* These amounts represented additions to property, plant and * ZECHIERBWE WE REH-

equipment.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BB |ERMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ
4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. BESHEH &)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2019/As at 31 March 2019 BE-ZT-NF=A=+-HLEE R
—E-hFE=ZA=+—8H
Securities
and futures Factoring,
brokerage, financial
placing, guarantee
underwriting Insurance Trading of and Corporate
and margin Provision brokerage securities finance  Investment finance
financing of finance business  and futures leasing holding advisory Total
E5R
HEme. RE
g 8Ek ReER 25h BEERR
AREE RERE £% HEEE HERE RERR CEREBR g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AETT AETT BETT BETT BETT EETT AEFT AETT
Segment revenue: PENE:
Sales to external customers  $MIEE 7 E 66,660 74,009 16,755 (283,407) 51,260 - - (74,633)
Interseqment sales HERHEE - - 2 - - - - 2
66,660 74,099 16,847 (283,407) 51,260 - - (74,541)
Reconcillation: HE:
Elimination of intersegment 7 F #E 44
sales (92)
Total revenue eyt (74,633)
Segment results: TEEE: (27,580)  (1,298,502) (4.242) (314,268) (70,334) (77,439) (1260 (1,792,491)
Reconcillation: HE:
Bank interest income RITHEHA 622
Other interest income EgmA 55
Investment income on other Rt 2B EE 2 A ERA
financial assets 95,912
Corporate and other RARERKAERT
unallocated expenses (79,714)
Finance costs HERK (374,185)
Loss before tax BRAER (2,149.801)

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)



Notes to the Financial Statements

B mERME
For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-ZF-FF=H=+—HIFFE
OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. BESFHEH »)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2019/As at 31 March 2019 BE-Z2-NAFZAZ+-HLFE R
(Continued) —E-AFE=ZA=+—8(£&)
Securities
and futures Factoring,
brokerage, financial
placing, quarantee
underwriting Insurance Trading of and Corporate
and margin Provision brokerage securities finance  Investment finance
financing of finance business and futures leasing holding advisory Total
Exk
Femg RE.
RE BHR REEL FAR  BEERR

FEEE  REBE % HEEER  BEEE  REER CGRBEEA B8
HKS'000  HKY000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
E¥TT  ARTR AWTm BRTn BRI ANt BETn BBIx

Other segment information: 1788

A
RAR

Share of profits of associates 7R &N ER—f

and a joint venture BELAET - - - - - 39,615 - 39,615
Provision for impairment loss R E 2 HEF B

of loans receivable, net  BEFE - (1368726) - - - - - (1,368,726)
Provision for impairment loss BB 512 HESE

of accounts receivable, net ~ EEEE (20,115) - - - - - - (20,115)
Provision for impairment loss EMEIEREF AL

of finance lease receivables HEBEEfE - - - - (89,198) - - (89,198)
Depreciation e

- operating segment -BE0E (497) - (7 - (1,282) - - (1,786)

- unallocated -FR 2,199)

(3,985)

Investments in associates ~ REELNEZRE - - - - 23,387 341,674 - 365,061
Other financial asses Hi e RER 731,731 - - - 1148314 871,16 - 2751261
Capital expenditure EARY

- operating segment -geni 5 - - - 14 - - 19+

- unallocated Vil 2,085*

2,104
* These amounts represented additions to property, plant and * HELSTWIEREYVE HBEREE-
equipment.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. BESEEH »)
(Continued)
Geographical information i & &R
(a) Revenue from external customers (a) FKEINBEFZ Wz
2020 2019
—EEHF —ZE-NEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Hong Kong &% 68,529 (125,893)
The PRC a3 - 51,260
Total et 68,529 (74,633)

The geographic location of revenue from external
customers is based on the location of the customers at
which the services were rendered.

(b) Non-current assets

REINBEF 2 W 2 IR AL B T ER R

HEREZEPHEE D -

(b) ¥EEBEE

2020 2019
—EZEHF —E-NF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Hong Kong 5 7 35,371 375,378
The PRC s 458 683,855
Total BET 35,829 1,059,233

The geographic location of the non-current assets is
based on the location of the operations to which they are
allocated.

Information about major customers

FERDEECHBUENEREIREEZ

REmEME D -

FHXEREFNESR

Included in revenue arising from major customers which BREEREFERRPZHH: SHAER
individually accounted for over 10% of the Group’s revenue for REFWZHBIBI10% :
the year:
2020 2019
—EEF —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Provision of finance RHEE
Customer A BEFA - 28,276
Customer B =FB 12,570 -
Provision of futures brokerage services RHEELL RS
Customer C BFC 10,354 -

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-ZF-FF=H=+—HIFFE

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about major customers (Continued)

The Group’s losses from the sale of investments at fair value
through profit or loss are excluded from total revenue for the
purpose of identifying major customers of the Group who
accounted for over 10% of the Group’s revenue.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
Revenue represents commission and brokerage income from
securities and futures dealings; commission from placing and
underwriting services; interest income on margin financing
activities; insurance brokerage income; interest income earned
from the provision of finance; net losses from the sale of
investments at fair value through profit or loss; commissions
and fees from financial guarantee services; factoring interest
income and finance lease interest income for the year.

An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as follows:

4.

EBESEEH 2

EBIEEZFHNER (&)
AEEREHEEBBRURNFEIERZ
BREZEBEBTF AN BAHIAE
BMeTB2EP HEASEK=ZBB
10% o

W« Hfl g A B My &2

W FRES RAEERAS REK R
N EERBHEREAS FREEEDY
FBWA RGN  SRERAFEZ
FBA  HEE IR AR TEIIES
RAZBRFE RABRRREMBERE
A REFBBMANRBEBEF KA -

Uit - B AL R 2 ST -

2020 2019
ZEIEF —ET-NEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T ok aubiv
Revenue =
Commission and brokerage income from  FAFLKHEEEME RLELWA
securities and futures dealings 44,615 53,360
Commission from placing and s RBHERERE
underwriting services 1,126 3,473
Interest income on margin FREEES .M EWA
financing activities 2,826 9,827
Insurance brokerage income R E A 7,440 16,755
Interest income from provision of finance 1R EVE FT 18 2 A B WA 12,570 74,099
Losses from the sale of investments at fair HEBBEZUAFEINEZREZ
value through profit or loss, net (note) B8 F R (M5h) (48) (283,407)
Commissions and fees from financial MmEERREHReRER
guarantee services - 10,069
Factoring interest income REFEWA - 11,865
Finance lease interest income EEREF BWA - 29,326
68,529 (74,633)

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B 7% R 3% Bt &
For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ
5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. kg -HEttlkARWKER (#)
(Continued)
2020 2019
—EIEF —E-hnF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 BET T BT T
Other income and gains H I A R U &
Bank interest income HRITH B A 882 622
Other interest income E b B A 113 55
Investment income on other EthemEE 2 IREWRA
financial assets - 95,912
Dividend handling charge KREREEREMITMNE
and other surcharges 237 2,262
Modification gain on convertible bonds AJ# % & % 2 (& 5] Y 2k 29 - 654
Foreign exchange differences, net AN 7= BB JF KA 657 2,666
Others i 820 10,167
2,709 112,338
Note: The gross proceeds from the sale of investments at fair value Mzt FAHEEBRBEEUNATEIRZKREAE
through profit or loss for the year were approximately FTiS RIB L) A 15,000 (ZF
HK$15,000 (2019: HK$121,460,000). — N B ¥121,460,0007T) ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-ZF-FF=H=+—HIFFE

LOSS BEFORE TAX

The Group's loss before tax is arrived at after charging/
(crediting):

6. FRMAER
AEBZBHABRSNG (GEA)

2020 2019
—E-EE —ET—hEF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 BT T BT T
Depreciation e 13 13,254 3,985
Employee benefit expenses (excluding EEEBFHX (TBEES
directors’ remuneration): ) -
Salaries and allowances e KORRL 41,571 45,081
Retirement benefit scheme RIREF T EIME R (EREHER
contributions (defined contribution &) (MizEa
scheme) (note a) 1,040 1,112
Equity-settled share option expense NS EEERE R - 20,348
42,611 66,541
Auditor’s remuneration % ERAM B & 1,836 3,200
Equity-settled share option expense NiEmAEERE 2R
(note b) (Kt3EDb) - 74,268
Minimum lease payments under BELERLN 2 ZEAERIE
operating leases (note ¢) (FF3EC) - 28,870
Modification gain on convertible bonds ] #1 % {& %5 ~ (&3] W=
(note d) (KtzEd) 29 - (654)
Provision for impairment loss of loans — FEWE 5K 2 B EE 18 B & 558
receivable, net 20 266,085 1,368,726
Provision/(reversal of provision) for FEURBR 2k 2 B (B 5 18 B
impairment loss of accounts (BBERD)FE
receivable, net 22 (191) 20,115
Provision for impairment loss of finance f&Uk gt & & 7118 2 Bl (B 518
lease receivables Bt 18 - 89,198
Provision/(reversal of provision) for FEWRIBFRIB 2 BB E B R E
impairment loss of factoring (BERT)
receivables 21 297,529 (68)
Impairment loss of investments in REtERE 2 RE 2 REEE
associates 15 341,674 -
Impairment loss of prepayments, TERTFRIA ~ e B A fh JE WURRIR
deposits and other receivables Z BB 18 45,792 -
Impairment loss of accounts receivable B ##:2 F& UK B8R 30 2 R (B 5 18
recognised (note e) (Fffzxe) - 5,059
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEWE HMEMREER 2
plant and equipment (note e) &8 (Mske) 13 40 6,755
Loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries EUB4& ABRME Q72 Ei8 8 2,092,200 -

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ

6.

LOSS BEFORE TAX (Continued) 6. FRMAEGIE «)

Notes: B 5

(@) At 31 March 2020, the Group had no material forfeited (@ RIZTZZF=A=+—H AEELE
contributions available to reduce its contributions to the BARZWHR A ARR D ERREFE 2R
retirement benefit scheme in future years (2019: Nil). REFFEER(ZZ—NEF E) -

(b)  Amount included approximately HK$20,348,000 classified as (b) FZEEE %%Zi_j hE=ZA=+—8H
employees benefit expenses and approximately HK$45,296,000 EFEP>HEREEBAAINLEE
classified as directors’ emoluments for the year ended 31 March 20,348, OOOE&’\*EF%§$M$E’U%’UE%M
2019. 45,296,0007T °

() The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019 using (0 AEEER-Z—NAFNA—BFEALE
the modified retrospective approach and comparative FEMAERERE BN RS ERE 16
information is not restated (note 2.2). During the year ended 31 5’; *ﬁﬁ‘ HBAR (M E2.2) BEZ
March 2020, expenses relating to short-term leases and leases of % $ A=Z+—RLLFE - ®EHRA
low-value assets not included in the measurement of lease BEEEEHEEGMNMASR AR
liabilities are recorded in profit or loss as incurred. &TE EMETE MEREEERTAER-

(d)  Modification gain on convertible bonds was included in “Other (d) FABEESZETRSEFABE_Z N
income and gains” for the year ended 31 March 2019 in the FoAZT - RLEFEFRABRRZIA
consolidated statement of profit or loss. A e g ]

(e)  These items are included in “Other expenses, net” for the years (&) HMEHBAANHZE-_Z_ZFZA=+—
ended 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2019 in the consolidated AR=ZF-NF=A *+ AL ERE
statement of profit or loss. BaRz [EMHESFE]A-

=1
FINANCE COSTS 7. RERF
2020 2019
—ECEE —NEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT

Interests on borrowings BEEZHE 551,040 123,305

Interests on convertible instruments AR T A 2 R B 129,439 211,336

Interests on lease liabilities (note 30) HEBGE2ZME (M5E30) 3,111 -

Other finance costs H A Fh & B AR 11,937 39,544

695,527 374,185
M g A TS —
DECONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES 8. MAEKSARMELR

As di

isclosed in note 2.1 to these consolidated financial

statements, the directors of the Company considered that the
control over certain subsidiaries had been lost since 1 April

2019.

The assets and liabilities of these subsidiaries were

deconsolidated from the consolidated financial statements of
the Group since 1 April 2019.

DJEUZDSAQ??\QEH&#&%MT&MFH& F K
RAIEERS BT NLFHA—BE
ES’E%“EFBHJ% Bl Z R4 - % F I B
REZEERABEE T -NFOA—
FEBBSZEAFTARNEB ZHE M H
=

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-ZF-FF=H=+—HIFFE

DECONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES 8. MEKFEESARRMEBLRE &)
(Continued)

Net assets of these subsidiaries as at the date of loss of control

REEENEARZEHNBRARZEES

were as follows: BHS AT
HK$'000
BT T
Property, plant and equipment M- BERZBE 951
Goodwill [EES 659,169
Investment in an associate REERNBIZRE 23,387
Other financial assets EMemEE 1,148,314
Finance lease receivables R ERE A 863,326
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TER IR ~ i I H e W GRIE 84,090
Accounts receivable & I BR X 22,865
Restricted bank deposits IR HISRITIE R 157,312
Cash and bank balances Be MIRTTHE 25,400
Other payables and accruals Ef B RETER (108,126)
Interest-bearing borrowings HEEE (30,313)
Tax payable FESFL IR (23,073)
Deferred tax liability RERIEEE (839)
Net assets deconsolidated BUBSREAEZEEFE 2,822,463
Less: Release of exchange fluctuation reserve W R BR IINE R B R 4 (52,085)
Release of statutory reserve B BR A TE (R 1 (8,597)
Non-controlling interests FEPE R R = (669,581)
Loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries BUHGT A ARWEB AR 2 &8 2,092,200

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ

9. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ emoluments for the year, disclosed pursuant to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and
(f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

EFe
THAREEEBRARSAERDTES
ETRAI BB A RIEFIZE383(1)@)  (b)
ORMEARAT (BRBEEEFHEH) R
Gl HE 2 FNEFHS

2020 2019

—EC-EF —E-NF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Fees e 926 840

Other emoluments: Hibi< :

Salaries and other benefits e kEMEF 16,109 15,744
Retirement benefit scheme contributions — EREFIFHEIH R (TREMH K

(defined contribution scheme) &) 85 89

Equity-settled share option expense DESEEEREZMAX - 45,296

16,194 61,129

17,120 61,969

(@) Independent non-executive directors
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors

() BAFHITES
FRACNBIFATEETZ2HE W

during the year were as follows: ™
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
Equity-
settled
share
option
Fees Fees expenses Total
NEREE
we e BREZFX L
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T BT T
Mr. An Dong ZRIEE 240 210 960 1,170
Mr. Cheung Wing Ping R4 F &4 (M)
(note) 206 210 960 1,170
Mr. Fung Tze Wa BTELEE 240 210 960 1,170
Mr. Wu Keli NS abita 240 210 960 1,170
926 840 3,840 4,680

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year
(2019: Nil).

Note: Retired on 9 September 2019

FRAYEENBIFATETZEMHE
TE-NFE) o

MR _ZE-AFNANRERE

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RN

For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-ZF-FF=H=+—HIFFE

9. EFEM& »)

(b) Executive directors (b) HITES
Retirement Equity-
Salaries benefit settled
and other scheme  share option Total
Fee benefits  contributions expense remuneration
HeR BICER  HEREE
we AR SHEf BREZER e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
BB BB BETIL BB BB
2020 ot S 33
Mr. Ye Ye (note (i) BESE A (PHEEG)) - 4,287 18 - 4,305
Mr. Wong Xiang Hong (note (i)~ F 303456 4 (Fi &k (ii)) - 3,136 17 - 3,153
Mr. Pun Hong Hai (note (ii)) EREEE (W) - 2,540 16 - 2,556
Ms. Chow Mun Yee (note (iv)) FE 5 A (F3EGv) - 1,916 8 - 1,924
Mr. Yang Haoying (note (i) B A (M) - 3,170 18 - 3,188
Mr. Zhao Tong (note (iv)) HY L E (M) - 1,060 8 - 1,068
- 16,109 85 - 16,194
2019 “E-NF
Mr. Ye Ye HELE - 5,300 18 9,599 14,917
Mr. Pun Hong Hai (note (iii) ERS LA (M) - 2,812 14 9,599 12,425
Ms. Chow Mun Yee PR E - 1,045 18 3,060 4,123
Mr. Yang Haoying BEREE - 3,595 18 9,599 13,212
Mr. Zhao Tong Fiili e - 2,795 18 9,599 12,412
Mr. Wang Xiaodong (note (v)) TBALE (HEEV) - 197 3 - 200
- 15,744 89 41,456 57,289
Notes: Bt 5
() Resigned on 1 July 2020 () HZZ_TFLA—HEE
(i) Appointed on 29 April 2019 and resigned on 16 March (i) RZZ-—NFUNAZTIABZEERRZ
2020 ZoBE=[TRERE
(i)  Appointed on 10 July 2018 and resigned on 6 February iy RZZ—N\FLtATHEZEERR=-Z=
2020 ZEZANRAERE

(iv)  Retired on 9 September 2019
(v)  Resigned on 18 May 2018

There was no arrangement under which a director waived
or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year

(2019: Nil).

RZZE—hFAANARE

RZZE-NFHEA+N\AEE

F R A B E F W S F B E (A B
SR (ZFT-NF &) -

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)
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B 7% R 3% Bt &
For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ
10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10. AifiEmFHFER
The five highest paid employees during the year included five FNAuUGSHEERBRBRIUL(ZZ—N
(2019: four) directors, details of whose remuneration are set FOM)EE EMeFBE R Xk
out in note 9 above. Details of the remuneration of remaining 9 HEZZE—NF-A=T—HILFE"
one highest paid employee who is not a director of the BT —UWIFARFEEF ERTEEZ
Company for the year ended 31 March 2019 is as follows: Ble 1B mT
2020 2019
ZEZEF —ZET-NEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Salaries and other benefits o kEMER - 1,585
Pension scheme contributions RAORET B K - 18
- 1,603
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-ZF-FF=H=+—HIFFE

10. A fimE&HER =)

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Continued)

11.

The emoluments of the five highest paid employees, excluding
directors, for the year fell within the following bands:

FRNAESHES (TEEES) e
R TN R

Number of individuals

AE
2020 2019
—EZEF —E-NF

Nil to HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000
1,500,0007T
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
2,000,0007T
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000
2,500,0007T

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the five
highest paid employees as an inducement to join, or upon
joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office for the
year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: Nil).

INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT)

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits
arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which members of
the Group are domiciled and operates.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the BVI and the
Cayman lIslands, the Group is not subject to any income tax in
the BVI and the Cayman Islands respectively.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong for
both years.

Under the law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the "EIT
Law”) and Interpretation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax
rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

T Z B #1,000,0007T
751,000,001 T B 75 1K

71,500,001 7T & 78

2 000,001 7T & 6 #

11.

BE T TF-_A=T—HLFE XK
SEYEAAUSHREEPEIMALL
NEMME ERSEMAREE RN E
AR SR BB B0 28R - A RRERE (=
E-NFE)

FRSRmAX (%)
AEEAREBREE QRO ALK
5 2% ) FIF B AR T 2E RS2 I 1 3
BAFREH -

RIEEBRAHELASEENHRA A
B ASEHACRBRAEENMASE
EHMEMAEH-

ERNBHIIRHE16.5% MM EFER
ERELEZAFERB S MR -

REBFBEELEMBEOAR ([REMREHRE])
REEMBRARERED - P EMELQR
M EFEAREB25% °

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (Continued) 1. FRERAX(ER) (@)
2020 2019
—E-EHF —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Current 7K Bf

Charge/(credit) for the year KEESTH/ (Ke)
— Hong Kong —&8 (2,637) -
— the PRC — 40 3,692
Under/(over) provision in prior years BAFEREBTR (BEEE) 821 (240)
Deferred (note 31) PEIE (P E31) (42) (58)
Total tax expense/(credit) for the year REEHBERLZ (KHE)B5HE (1,818) 3,394

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to loss before tax
at the Hong Kong statutory tax rate to the tax charge/(credit)

T BERBEERRFA R ZBRBAIEE
BERZRERBEAAEEERRERAE

at the Group's effective tax rate is as follows: ZRHEXH S (ER) 2 HE:
2020 2019
—EZEF —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T AT I
Loss before tax B ¢ Al BT 1R (3,840,665) (2,149,801)
Tax credit at the Hong Kong statutory tax R &EBETHR165% (—T—H
rate of 16.5% (2019:16.5%) F:165% )5t HZHIEE R (633,710) (354,717)
Effect of different taxation rate used in HthalZEBREEATRB X
other jurisdiction ok (27,026) 82
Adjustments in respect of current tax of PO AT HAR 2 BNEARE 18 »
previous periods (1,808) (240)
Income not subject to tax HARI 2 WA (423) (63,131)
Expenses not deductible for tax AR 2 605,004 193,117
Temporary differences not recognised KRR ERER 247 126
Tax losses from previous periods utilised BARTHE BB ERE (111) (554)
Tax losses not recognised RIS 2 T 75 B 18 56,020 235,247
Tax effect of share of results of associates D {hEEE NG R —HE & RF)¥EME
and a joint venture R E - (6,536)
Other HAh (11) -
Tax expense/(credit) at the Group's effective I AEE 2 BEERE M KR E 2
tax rate MERAY (Ex) (1,818) 3,394

The share of tax charge attributable to associates amounting to
HK$1,368,000 is included in “Share of profits of associates and
a joint venture” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
for the year ended 31 March 2019.
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DAEE S QR 2 BIE X H B 1,368,000
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-ZF-FF=H=+—HIFFE

12. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

(a)

(b)

Basic loss per share

The calculation of the basic loss per share is based on the
loss for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of
the Company of HK$3,838,847,000 (2019:
HK$2,160,250,000), and the weighted average number
of ordinary shares of 1,764,897,500 (2019:
1,567,995,103) in issue during the year.

The calculation of weighted average number of ordinary
shares at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

12. xLFHEBERESBAENGS

AR

(a)

BREXRERE

BREABEBIVZAR B L BRER
EAEBLBAFEEBRBEE
3,838,847,0007T ( = — N : B
2,160,250,0007T) ' A R F A B 1T
L A% 2 N ¥ 9 #01,764,897,500
f% (== — A% :1,567,995,1035%)

S
T

P hn i S 5 Bt B an

2020 2019
e LI L

B #E
RENZEEIT

Number of shares
Issued ordinary shares at beginning of year
Effect of issue of new shares

Effect of share consolidation R att e
Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 7 K 2 & i iR iniE 7 19 £

end of year

Diluted loss per share

The calculation of diluted loss per share is based on the
loss for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of
the Company of HK$3,838,847,000 (2019:
HK$2,160,250,000), and the weighted average number
of ordinary shares of 1,764,897,500 (2019:
1,567,995,103).

No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share
amount presented for the year ended 31 March 2020 in
respect of a dilution as the calculation of diluted loss per
share for the year ended 31 March 2020 does not assume
the exercise of the Company’s outstanding share options
as it had no dilutive effect on the basic loss per share.
(2019: No adjustment has been made to the basic loss
per share amount presented for the year ended 31 March
2019 in respect of a dilution as the calculation of diluted
loss per share for the year ended 31 March 2019 does
not assume (i) the conversion of the Company’s
outstanding convertible instruments since it would result
an anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss per share; and (ii)
the exercise of the Company’s outstanding share options
as it had no dilutive effect on the basic loss per share.)

The Company had no dilutive potential ordinary shares in
issue during the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

BITHRG wi
Effect of conversion of the convertible instruments & Al HXIEZ g

(b)

1,568,176,188 15,663,401,881
196,721,312 -
- 16,549,151
(14,111,955,929)

1,764,897,500 1,567,995,103

BREBEESE

SR ESE R B IR AR BT B
EABEMLHAFTEEEBRBE
3,838,847,0007T (Z & — NF : B
2,160,250,0007T) * MA R & @ A% 2 0
WS 801,764,897,5000% (=&
— N5 :1,567,995,1030% )5t & -

WEGBESHEE T _TF=F1
—T-HUHEFEZINNERERNEE
CHEELAR RERFEHEEZE-Z
TEEZA=ZF+RHIFEZERE
SEEER WABRKARRZARITE
B EETE REAEHSRER
BREITE#HEZE (T — NLF:
WERHEHEE T —NLF=A
=t+—HIEFEZINERELREE
SHEELARE RARTEHEZ_Z
—NE=A=+—BHIFEZEKRH#
SEBHER WARBRROERAR R
FEETBERTE RRASHEESR
EXNBEAEARBEZE  R(IHARQ

A RITE AR 1T Elzﬁ
HEREAGEYESEYE.)

BE_Z_ZTFER_ZE-NF=A
=t- Eliﬁf AREAL BB HIT
BEBEEEL B

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. DX -BEREMR
31 March 2020 —E-ZEF=HA=+—H
Furniture,
fixtures Right-of-
Leasehold and  Computer Motor use
improvements equipment  equipment vehicle assets Total
B £E ERE
REMEEE k& EERE nE BE B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETR  B%Tr  BETR EETR BBTx
At 1 April 2019: RZE-NENA—-H:
Cost KR 6,292 4,871 6,906 9,468 - 27,537
Accumulated depreciation REME (4,609) (3,302) (5.212) (8,281) - (21,404)
Net carrying amount EHFE 1,683 1,569 1,694 1,187 - 6,133
At 31 March 2019, net of accumulated ~ R=ZF— N4
depreciation ZA=+-8"
Nk RHHE 1,683 1,569 1,694 1,187 - 6,133
Impact on initial recognition of HKFRS 16 S EAEEHKRE
RRFE16RE 2 - - - - 22,853 22,853
At 1 April 2019, net of accumulated R-E-NEWA-H"
depreciation (restated) Nk 27 E (7)) 1,683 1,569 1,694 1,187 22,853 28,986
Additions hE - 3 - - - 3
Depreciation provided during the year —~ FRZHEEE (331) (460) (1,287) (163) (11,013) (13,254)
Disposal/written off HE /s - - (40) - - (40)
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries MERAANEHERA (50) (187) (55) (659) - (951)
Exchange differences ERER 88 124 - 29 - 241
At 31 March 2020, net of accumulated R -Z-Z4F
depreciation ZA=+-8"
R ZHHE 1,390 1,049 312 39 11,840 14,985
At 31 March 2020: R-Z_2%
ZA=+—-A1:
Cost X7 3,205 3,243 4,243 651 33,040 44,382
Accumulated depreciation ZiHE (1,815) (2,194) (3,931) (257) (21,200) (29,397)
Net carrying amount ERFE 1,390 1,049 312 394 11,840 14,985

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-ZF-FF=H=+—HIFFE
13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. MR -BERER &)
(Continued)
31 March 2019 —E-hF=ZA=+—H
Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures and Computer Motor
improvements equipment equipment vehicle Total
Bi-%2
RENEEE R BB HE ek
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT BEFT BETT BETL
At 1 April 2018: RZZ-\FNA—-A:
Cost AR 13,267 4,972 6,922 9,455 34,616
Accumulated depreciation 2EE (5273) (2,810) (3,744) (7,846) (19,673)
Net carrying amount REFE 7,994 2,162 3,178 1,609 14,943
At 1 April 2018, net of RZE-\FNA-8"
accumulated depreciation MR RFTE 7,994 2,162 3,178 1,609 14,943
Additions RE 1,454 - 30 620 2,104
Depreciation provided during the year R 2 TE R (935) (560) (1,507) (983) (3,985)
Disposalfwritten off e/ (6,754) (1) - - (6,755)
Exchange differences ERES (76) (32) (7) (59) (174)
At 31 March 2019, net of RZE-NEZA=z+-H"
accumulated depreciation NGB ZHTE 1,683 1,569 1,694 1,187 6,133
At 31 March 2019: RZE-nEZA=+—-AH:
Cost kR 6,292 4,871 6,906 9,468 27,537
Accumulated depreciation 2ETE (4,609) (3,302) (5212) (8,281) (21,404)
Net carrying amount REFE 1,683 1,569 1,694 1,187 6,133

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)

149



150

Notes to the Financial Statements
BF 75 3 3} B &

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ

14. GOODWILL 14.58

2020 2019
—E-FF —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T

Cost and carrying amount AR REE
At beginning of year REH 660,674 660,674
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries (note 8) BUEERE ABRMKB AR (KMI3Es) (659,169) -
At end of year REKR 1,505 660,674

Goodwill has been allocated for impairment testing purposes to
the following cash generating units (“CGUs").

- Financial guarantee and finance leasing business in the
PRC ("CGU A"), as disclosed in notes 2.1 and 8, the
goodwill allocated to these subsidiaries (that is CGU A)
were deconsolidated since 1 April 2019.

- Insurance and securities brokerage business in Hong Kong
("CGU B")

The carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to these units are

FEODHBRENABNSEENTREE
EBEf([(REELEM]) -

- W2 NS E  PEBE ER

FREHEXRH ([ReELEN
Al) "EEZEWNBEBRARZEHE
(MBReELEMA)EB_ZE—NF
MA—BRIUEGZEA AR

- EAERBREBLERREN([BLE
A EBRIB])

PEEZFEMMNBENREEN T

as below:
2020 2019
—ECFHF —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
CGU A WEEAEBMA - 659,169
CGU B HeEL BB 1,505 1,505
At 31 March R=ZA=1+—H 1,505 660,674

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-ZF-FF=H=+—HIFFE

15. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 15. RHEAFIZRE
2020 2019
—E-EHF —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Share of equity attributable to owners of DB & QR FIHEHR A EIL RS

the associates - 365,061
Particulars of the associates of the Group at 31 March 2020 RZEZZEFRTE—NF=ZRA=+—

and 2019 are as follows: H REEBLEARZFBOT:

Proportion of

effective
ownership
Particulars Place of interest
of issued incorporation indirectly held
Name shares held and business by the Group  Principal activity
AEEBE
BEER
£ e BTROFE A RE X E ARG TEER
2020 2019
“BoBF STNE
FreeOpt Holdings Limited Ordinary share without Republic of the Marshall 31.38 31.38 Investment holding
(“FreeOpt”) par value Islands/Hong Kong
FreeOpt Holdings Limited BEEZLER SRRBSLENG /FE RAEER
([FreeOpt )
Huiyue Financial Leasing (Ningbo)  Ordinary share without PRC/PRC - 6.78 Inactive
Co., Ltd ("Huiyue") par value
BAREME (ER)ERDR EREZEER hE/E EEEXR
([BAR1)
Imagination Holding Limited Ordinary share without Republic of the Marshall 31.74 36.17 Investment holding
(“Imagination”) par value Islands/Hong Kong
Imagination Holding Limited BEEZLER SRRBSLANG /FE RAEER
(TImagination ] )
Jocasta Ventures Ltd (“Jocasta”)  Ordinary share without BVI/Hong Kong 36.17 36.17 Investment holding
par value
Jocasta Ventures Ltd ([Jocasta]) EMEEZ ZEK EBRREHSE/BR RERR
The above investments are indirectly held by the Company and LTl ERARRIREERE HUBERA
their financial results were accounted for using the equity FREREAR-

method.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ

15.

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

As at 31 March 2019, the Group held 15% equity interest in
Huiyue of which 6.78% of the total paid-up capital of Huiyue
was paid up. The Group is able to exercise significant influence
over Huiyue because it has the power to appoint one out of
three directors of that company under the Articles of
Association of that company. Huiyue has still been in
preliminary stage and intended to be engaged in finance
leasing business, leasing business, acquisition of assets for
leasing both in the PRC and overseas, repair and disposal of
leased assets.

The Group held 15% equity interest in Huiyue through a
subsidiary of Wins Finance. As Wins Finance has been
deconsolidated effective from 1 April 2019, the carrying value
of HK$23,387,000 was being deconsolidated (note 8) during
the year.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group has no outstanding capital
commitment to associates (2019: RMB130,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$152,009,000)).

There is no sufficient financial information of all the associates
for the year ended 31 March 2020 available to the Group
because the management of the associates refused to provide
such required financial information to the Group. Based on
assessment of the directors of the Company, the Group had
fully impaired its investments in associates of approximately
HK$341,674,000 during the year ended 31 March 2020 and no
information of the assets, liabilities, non-controlling interests,
revenue, profit/loss for the year and other comprehensive
income of the associates as of, and for the year ended 31
March 2020 is presented.

As at 31 March 2018, the Group had an investment in a joint
venture of HK$143 million, represented by 31.38% equity
interest in FreeOpt. Such investment in a joint venture was
reclassified as investments in associates on 4 October 2018
pursuant to a termination agreement entered with other joint
venture parties to cease the joint venture relationship without
changing their respective shareholdings in FreeOpt. Thereafter,
the Group has significant influence over FreeOpt in proportion
to its voting rights in the shareholders’ meeting. FreeOpt and
its subsidiaries are principally engaged in investment holding
and money lending business.

15. RBIELTFIZERE #)

R-Z—-NAE=F=+—0 A&EEEH
EAMISREAED EREADBER
BTG 7T8%E T AN EEBENE
BRAEEAVE RERREZAAN
HBERMA XEBEEAEENZEZR A
—HREERHN—FZ - BANENREREVE
M ERmEHEEY HEES  ABEASN
BEHEVE HEVENREERELSE

& -

NEEEBWins Financez B ATIEA
¥ A 2 15% /% # > B 7 Wins Finance B

—NEMNA—BEIUHGZEAE AR &
BRI {4 #23,387,0007T & 7 7% 4 Z BUH
A AR (MI5E8) »

NR_ZT_ZTFE=F=+—H AEEHH
BARUERBITERNEE (ZE—NF:
AR #130,000,0007C (HE R B
152,009,0007T) ) °

AEBWEESHTAREARNREE_Z
ZEF =A==+ HUEFEZREHBKE
B REAAZEHE NI ZEREERERN
AEERHMERKZUBER - REEAQ
REZESTH AEEREBEE2 T -_TF=
A=+—BLFEERERBEAR &
EREETIRMELE341,674,0000T 0 B
WEEINZEHE NN _E-_EF=A
—t+—BrkBE-_Z-_TF=-A=+—H
IFEZEE - BF FERER KA
FEEN/EBEREMEERAEBZE
¥} o

R-Z—NE=ZA=+—8 A&E@EAR
—MaE AR Z%EEKE143,000,0007T -
A FreeOptH)31.38% % 25 HE 25 - 4R I& 2
,\@A**HET_LE‘WM?A“ﬁ%@ﬂ’]m 175

5 (T 15 R 8 MW FreeOptHy IRHE ) -
EA T N\FTANB ZR—MBEERQ
RIZREEFDEARNBERTRZIRE -
iz - $EI&E’\’\EE"H§$KAE’J%5X%
Lt B ¥ FreeOptE B E K 52 & © FreeOpt %
HWBEARMEFENEREERREESE
7% o
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-ZF-FF=H=+—HIFFE

15. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
Imagination, Jocasta and their subsidiaries are principally
engaged in investment holding and money lending service.
Based on the latest records available to the Company, the
Group’s effective shareholding interests in Imagination was
diluted to 31.74% during the year ended 31 March 2020.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information of the associates adjusted for any differences in
accounting policies, and reconciled to the carrying amount in
the consolidated financial statements:

15. RBIELTFIZERE &)

Imagination * Jocasta R EMf B QA R EEZ
SEREFRREERS - REBEARQFEEG
ZEFRR BE_T-_TF-A=1+—
B IFF E A% E R ImaginationZ & B I i
B#EE31.74% °

TRINRBERFEREARRERIEH
BZUMBENRE (R BEHRERPLZ
FREESR)

FreeOpt Huiyue Imagination Jocasta
FreeOpt #8 4 Imagination Jocasta
2019 2019 2019 2019
—E-hF ZE-NAF ZE-NF ZT-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT AT BETT BETT
Current assets MEEE 596,315 - - 518,877
Non-current assets EREBEE - 344,956 54,286 -
Current liabilities REBE (27,742) (16) - (2,270)
Net assets BEFE 568,573 344,940 54,286 516,607
Less: Non-controlling interests  Jat : B & A Bl A FE IR IR A 25
of the associates - - - (119,535)
Reconciliation to the Group's BAEEREE AR 2w
interests in associates: HER -
Net assets, excluding BEFE (CTeiEEER
non-controlling interests ) 568,573 344,940 54,286 397,072
Proportion of the Group's & B A R
ownership 31.38% 6.78% 36.17% 36.17%
Carrying amount of KEREE
the investments 178,418 23,387 19,635 143,621
Revenue W = 7,129 - - 9,185
Profit/(loss) for the year REEHF, (EE) 114,103 146 (18) 17,456
Other comprehensive income HEb2ml A - - 38,953 -
Total comprehensive income REE2EBALRE
for the year 114,103 146 38,935 17,456

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ

15. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

15. RBIELTFIZERE #)

The following table illustrates the Group's share of associates’ TRINTAEEBD(BBEE R F 2% M RE
profits and losses and other comprehensive income: BUAREMEERA :
2020 2019
—E-EE —h&F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Share of profits of associates pal iy hlNIb - 39,615
Share of other comprehensive income DGEEE AR 2 MR E KA
of associates - 14,089
16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16. ML B &
Futures Stock
Exchange Exchange
trading trading Insurance
rights rights license Total
HEXS M B 32 Bl
R5 RS 1R B bR R ]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BB T BB BT T BB
Cost B
At 1 April 2018, 31 March 2019, R-Z—A\FMA—H
1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020 —ZT—AF=ZA=+—8"
ZE-NFmOA-BEK
—Z-ZHE=F=+—H 1,736 14,500 909 17,145
Accumulated amortisation Rt
At 1 April 2018, 31 March 2019 and R=Z—N\FMA—H -
1 April 2019 ZE-hE=A=T—HK
- NEMA—A - - - -
Amortisation provided FRNzEHEE
during the year - - - -
At 31 March 2020 RZZ-_ZF=A=+—H - - - -
Net carrying amount REEE
At 31 March 2020 RZE_ZTF=ZA=+—H 1,736 14,500 909 17,145
At 31 March 2019 RZZE—-NF=ZA=+—H 1,736 14,500 909 17,145
The trading rights and insurance license have been considered RPERRBEBERSEBRRERF
to have indefinite lives because they are expected to contribute B -RAAEHMEAKREZFRERELR
to the net cash flows of the Group indefinitely, and are not ORI 488 R 6] - UL O AR B o

amortised.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)



Notes to the Financial Statements

MR
For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-ZF-FF=H=+—HIFFE
17. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 17. Eth & E &
2020 2019
—E-EF —NEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T ok auiv
Non-current: FERE:
Investments at fair value through other FEBREMEERANRFEIERS
comprehensive income (non-recycling) HE (TR
— Unlisted equity investment in the PRC —h B EmRERE (Mi5ta)
(note a) 660,301 731,731
— Other unlisted equity investment —HuhIE EARERE (Mistb)
(note b) - 841,762
— Listed equity investment in the JERE FTRERE (M)
Philippines (note c) 25,704 29,454
686,005 1,602,947
Current: TED
Investments carried at fair value through B BB AR FETIERHNIZE
profit or loss
- Unlisted wealth management products  —JFEmE EEEESR (MsEd)
(note d) - 1,148,314
Notes: B 5
(a)  Balance represented 12.17% equity interest in a full-licensed (a E%ﬁﬁﬁ‘é‘ﬁﬂ% (R ERBEBEEREY R

securities company in China (Shanghai) Pilot Free Trade Zone (the

“Securities Company”) under the framework of the Closer
Economic Partnership Arrangement between Mainland China and

Hong Kong.

BREAENLE) ERTRFE(L
/)Qdaf’f%*i%’i[%ﬁ

RE([EHFRE) 217 %R AR

REMIRE S

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)
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Notes to the Financial Statements
BF 75 3 3} B &
For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ

17. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

Balance represented 19.06% equity interest in an investment
holding company (“Entity A”) which was acquired in April 2018.
Subsequent to the end of the reporting period ended 31 March
2020, the equity interest of the Group in Entity A was diluted to
15.20%.

Due to the non-cooperation of the management of Entity A, the
directors of the Company had been unable to obtain and access
to the books and records and no sufficient financial information
of Entity A as at and for the year ended 31 March 2020 is
available to the directors of the Company. As such, the fair value
of financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive
income (non-recycling) of Entity A as at 31 March 2020 (“"FVOCI
in Entity A”) was estimated by the directors of the Company
using the net asset value approach based on Entity A’s unaudited
management accounts as at 31 March 2020 and adjusted for the
factors they considered might affect its fair value. The directors
of the Company considered that the basis applied in the fair
value assessment of the FVOCI in Entity A including the
recognition of fair value loss of HK$841,762,000 represents their
best estimate.

The listed equity investment in the Philippines was stated at fair
value based on quoted market price in active markets as at the
end of each of the reporting periods.

Before the deconsolidation of subsidiaries as detailed in note 2.1
to these consolidated financial statements, balance represented
the Group's investment in wealth management products from
financial institutions in the PRC. The fair values of such wealth
management products have been determined in accordance with
generally accepted pricing models based on a discounted cash
flow analysis, with the most significant inputs being the discount
rate that reflects the credit risk of counterparties.

17. EthEMmEE =)
MaE: (&)

(b)

ZERER—BR - N\FENAKEZ
REZEBRAR ([EEA1)19.06%A AR
moREHEZT-_TF=A=T—HIER
EHERE AEEREEBAZRED &
SEE15.20% ©

HREBABEEEBIY TG ARAES
ELESREHMEEAR-Z =4
—t—HEREE-_Z-_ZF=-A=+—H
T FEEZRENGCHANARRESITE
BREZEVEBEH Bt RZT=F
FZR=+t—HEBREMEEBANQF
BEYER ([REBABBEMEERANUR
FENE]Z&MEE (TRK) ZAF
BEIHARRESREEBAR-Z =%
FZR=+—HAZAREEXEEEEEH
BEFEL T LEREERBUEY
BENVFEZEAXREEAE - AQARES
RE REBAZAREMEEWRAUAFE
BYERZ AFEFGEAAEE (BERR
AT {EE B %841,762,0000T) AH &
fEfHaTe

JFRELMRBRERATE (ENER
SHRFRTIGHOTIZRE) TR

HERANBRENE2 LR
Wi RN B AT A% EAEER
S B B EIRE GRS
BEEEERNATENENERBLR
SR ERAREERLER L REE
B A SRR 8 R RS 5 T 5 BRI B
SR

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)



Notes to the Financial Statements

B mERME
For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-ZF-FF=H=+—HIFFE
18. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES 18. B EHERE
Minimum Present value of
lease payments minimum lease
receivable payments receivable
ERsEHAENRK EBREEEETRZEE
2020 2019 2020 2019

—F-TE —TNF ZEZTHE ZTNHF
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
BETT AR TRT  BETR BRI

Finance lease receivables JEW R E A E RIB R
comprise:
Within one year —F A - 531,948 - 461,560
In more than one year but not —F M EENBBEMRF
more than two years - 524,442 - 493,712
- 1,056,390 - 955,272
Less: Unearned finance B RBEmERERA
lease income - (101,118) - -
- 955,272 - 955,272
Less: Provision for R E S E B
impairment loss - (91,946) - (91,946)
Present value of minimum lease EWHKEASNRZIRE
payments receivable - 863,326 - 863,326
Analysed as: DA
2020 2019
—ECFHF —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Current finance lease receivables BIEfpE e e E M EFRIA (ZBR121E A
(receivable within 12 months) A UER ) - 383,263
Non-current finance lease receivables JERNERpE W R E FH EFKIE (AR 1218
(receivable after 12 months and A& X241 B R UEL)
within 24 months) - 480,063
Finance lease receivables FEU Bh & A E FR B - 863,326

RBEETHMBMRERAR QA (SEEHEFELA) 157
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Notes to the Financial Statements
BF 75 3 3} B &

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ

18. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes:

(i) As disclosed in note 2.1 to these consolidated financial
statements, the directors of the Company deconsolidated the
finance lease receivables of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries from
the consolidated financial statements of the Group since 1 April
2019.

(i) As at 31 March 2019, the minimum lease payments receivable
are presented using the prevailing rate quoted by the People’s
Bank of China (“PBC").

As at 31 March 2019, finance lease receivables with an
aggregate carrying value of approximately HK$11,513,000
were pledged to secure certain other borrowings provided to
the Group (note 36).

18. Bl HEARE

Mo :

(i)

(i)

MNZ SRS M BMRME2APTRE
ARREREE T -NFOA—HEH
BUBRGR A ANRIB AR 2 B E & HER
BEAMALEB ZEEB]MEK-

RZZE-NAF=ZA=+—8 " EK&EH
ENRERPEARRT ([FERARR
T BB IRITH R L2 -

RZBE-NF=A=+—H #KREEYD

111,513,000t EN R E R ERIED

A

UERERETASENE TEME

B (MizE36) °

2020 2019
—z-2F —T-nF

Effective interest rates TR F =
Finance lease receivables JiE W it & TH & A

Interest rate of variable-rate finance lease receivable is reset
when there is a change of the prevailing PBC rate.

The movements in the provision for impairment loss of finance

- 5.46% - 11.00%

27 B F S 51 800 FE M B B T O 30 2
e B A R R TIRATF R B LB EH R

F o

FURERERAZREBEREE 2 EH

lease receivables are as follows: LUl
2020 2019
—E-EF S
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
At beginning of year REH] 91,946 -
Effect arising from adoption of HKFRS 9 HMEAVBREERNEIRHTE - 2,748
91,946 2,748
Provision for impairment loss (note 6) BEEEEE (Hixe) - 89,198
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries BUHEG A ABRWE A7) (91,946) -
At end of year RER - 91,946

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)



Notes to the Financial Statements

MR
For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-ZF-FF=H=+—HIFFE
19. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 1. AAREA -RER R MBI REA
RECEIVABLES
2020 2019
—E-EHF —ZE-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Non-current: ERE:
Prepayments and deposits FERRE RS 2,194 10,220
Current: TRE
Prepayments and deposits ENRERZES 78,473 53,100
Other receivables b e W kIR
— Commission receivables —JEWAE - 9,866
— Others —HAtb 1,555 110,695
80,028 173,661
The balance of other receivables is neither past due nor HiERIERN R EARG A ERFBE B
impaired and no credit loss allowance has been provided for A EMERFIBEELEESERE R
other receivables as the related credit loss allowances were EZEBEEEBEERET K
immaterial.
As disclosed in note 2.1 to these consolidated financial WINZ S 4R A MG MER M 2. 1 P #E 88 - AR
statements, the directors of the Company deconsolidated the REIEECEE-NFNA—AEER
prepayments, deposits and other receivables of the BEAGARWBAR CENRIE Ze Rk
Deconsolidated Subsidiaries from the consolidated financial Ef I BEEUER AT AREB 245G
statements of the Group since 1 April 2019. Bk -
20. LOANS RECEIVABLE 20. BB
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-hnF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Loans receivable FERE R 2,104,185 2,141,615
Less: Provision for impairment loss B EBERE (1,961,145) (1,695,060)
143,040 446,555
Loans receivable represented receivables arising from the BREREASERMREEBREE Y
provision of finance business of the Group, and bear interest at FEWHIE ZEFSE(ZE—NF N
8.5% per annum (2019: rates ranging from 8% to 18% per THFIEE1EZFE)FE -
annum).

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)
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Notes to the Financial Statements
BF 75 3 3} B &
For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ

20. LOANS RECEIVABLE (continued)
All the loans receivable as at 31 March 2020 and 2019 were

20. Bl &= (&)

RZE—EFR_F-NF=ZA=1+—H

unsecured. BIFT R W E R MR -
An ageing analysis of loans receivable, determined based on RMERR ZEREREERERIRER
the age of the loans receivable since the effective drawn down HEE 2 BRECEE 7 2 JE U B SRBR B 0 AT 4
date of the loans, as at the end of the reporting period is as i
follows:
2020 2019
—EIEF —ZE-hF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Within 90 days 90H K - 10,638
Between 91 to 180 days 912180H - 3,562
Between 181 days to one year 181HE—F - 794,687
Over one year —F U E 2,104,185 1,332,728
2,104,185 2,141,615

An ageing analysis of the loans receivable as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the payment due date, and net of

loss allowance is as follows:

RBEMR HAHANRAFEZREE

KB EEEE) 2Rk

DN

2020 2019

—EZEF —E-NF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Not past due 7k #0 R - 224,773
Less than 1 month past due B 831 A AR - 45,661
1 to 3 months past due w1 E3E A - 6,714
Over 3 months past due 8 BA3E A LA £ 143,040 169,407
143,040 446,555

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)



Notes to the Financial Statements

MR
For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-ZF-FF=H=+—HIFFE
20. LOANS RECEIVABLE (Continued) 20. B & (2
The movements in the provision for impairment loss of loans EWERBEBEREB 2 ZSHNT :
receivable are as follows:
2020
—EZEF
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
EIRER FE2MEER EIMEER R
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BET T BET T BT T
At beginning of year RE] 2,244 107,502 1,585,314 1,695,060
Transfer to stage 3 A FEIMEER (2,244)  (107,502) 109,746 -
Net remeasurement of ECL arising P& E% 2 i 83 8 &= 4 2 F8 HA
from transfer between stages FEEEBEEFHTE2F5 - - 158,745 158,745
Other remeasurement of BEEENHEMENRZ
loss allowance - - 107,340 107,340
At end of year RER - - 1,961,145 1,961,145
ECL rate RHEEEBEX N/ATER NATEAR 93% 93%
2019
—E-NF
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
FIRE F2MREER FEIMRER R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T BT T
At beginning of year RE] - 60,000 260,000 320,000
Effect arising from adoption of  ZRAAE BB 75 &= % A
HKFRS 9 ELLA A 6,334 - - 6,334
6,334 60,000 260,000 326,334
Transfer to stages 2 and 3 A E2 N EIEE (5,314) 451 4,863 -
Net remeasurement of ECL arising P& B 2 88 8 &= 4 2 78 HA
from transfer between stages FEEEBEEFHITE2F5 - 107,051 1,320,451 1,427,502
Other remeasurement of EEREENEMERAE
loss allowance 1,224 (60,000) - (58,776)
At end of year RER 2,244 107,502 1,585,314 1,695,060
ECL rate BHREEBERE 2% 48% 88% 79%

RESHMRERER QAR (EEEHEEFEA) 161
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Notes to the Financial Statements
BF 75 3 3} B &

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ

20. LOANS RECEIVABLE (continued)

The significant changes in the loss allowance during the year
ended 31 March 2020 are mainly due to:

- Transfer of loans receivable of approximately HK$318,106,000
from stage 1 and stage 2 to stage 3, resulting in an increase
in loss allowance of approximately HK$158,745,000.

20. Bt &= (=)
BE-_T-TE=-A=+-ALEE &
BREAREHEIEL MmN

- EWE L BH318,106,0007T H F
BB R EEBREE EEIEE B
B85 18 B E 1L hn 4975 #£158,745,000

5o
21. FACTORING RECEIVABLES 21. B R B HIE

2020 2019

—E-EF —E-NF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Factoring receivables B AR IR 3R I8 299,079 310,075

Less: Provision for impairment loss R E R e R (299,079) (1,550)

- 308,525

An ageing analysis of factoring receivables, determined based
on the age of the factoring receivables since the effective
drawn down date of the loans, as at the end of the reporting
period is as follows:

MBEBR IHERREFEOERER
RO ERETZRKRENEAERE
BT :

2020 2019

—EEF —ZE-NF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Within 90 days 90H N - 24,989
Between 91 to 180 days 912 180H - -
Between 181 days to one year 181HE—F - 193,877
Over one year —F U 299,079 91,209
299,079 310,075

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)



Notes to the Financial Statements

B mERME
For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-ZF-FF=H=+—HIFFE
21. FACTORING RECEIVABLES (Continued) 21. B RERR (2)
An ageing analysis of the factoring receivables as at the end of R E B - IR B BN 3R B & 8 2 IR
the reporting period, based on the payment due date, and net BRIE (NREERE) 2 RERDITHOT
of loss allowance is as follows:
2020 2019
—EEF —T-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T ok aubiv
Not past due 7 781 5 - 308,525
Factoring receivables bear interest at a rate of 5% per annum RZFE-—NAF=ZA=+—8 ERRER
as at 31 March 2019. BREFSE M KGR -
The movements in the provision for impairment loss of FEWRRBFIERESEREB  EBHOT
factoring receivables are as follows:
2020
—EZEF
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
FIRER H2REER FEIRER HEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BET BT BT
At beginning of year REH 1,550 - - 1,550
Transfer to stage 3 A E3PEER (1,550) - 1,550 -
Net remeasurement of ECL arisingPe Bt =~ RSl 48 B &= 4 ~ 78 HA
from transfer between stages  EEEEEHI =558 - - 297,529 297,529
At end of year RER - - 299,079 299,079
ECL rate BHREEBEX NATER NATEM 100% 100%

RELHMRERAER AR (EEEHFEFEA) 163
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt R AR MY RE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ

21. FACTORING RECEIVABLES (Continued)

21. B REBRIE (2)

The movements in the provision for impairment loss of JEWRIBFIBREBERE ESHIOT
factoring receivables are as follows: (Continued) (4&)
2019
—T-AF
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
FRER Eyli=g='e FEIMEER Fek
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT AT BETT ABETT
At beginning of year REH] - - -
Effect arising from adoption of  BRAE & B 153 &5 %8I 59
HKFRS 9 SRE R E 1,618 - 1,618
1,618 - 1,618
Other remeasurement of EREBEENEMENRTE
loss allowance (68) - (68)
At end of year RER 1,550 - 1,550
ECL rate EHEEREX 0.5% NATEMA NATERS 0.5%
The significant changes in the loss allowance during the year BE_Z_THE=-A=T—HLFE B

ended 31 March 2020 are mainly due to:

- Transfer of factoring receivables of approximately
HK$299,079,000 from stage 1 to stage 3, resulting in an
increase in loss allowance of approximately

HK$297,529,000.

BEREARESHTEILHR:

- #4785 #299,079,0007T 2 1R IR JiE UL X
TEE 25 1P B S 2= ZE 3P BR - S EES
BB B N B #297,529,0007T °

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-ZF-FF=H=+—HIFFE

22. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

22. R AR &

2020 2019
—ECEH —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Accounts receivable arising from the RBEEBBREPES 2 BWARR:
ordinary course of business of:
- Dealing in securities: —EAEE:
Margin clients FEREP 173,821 183,684
Clearing houses EEFT 5,743 19,047
— Insurance brokerage business — IR ETE 223 530
— Futures brokerage business —HIE R ER - 4,738
— Financial guarantee business —REERES - 23,741
179,787 231,740
Less: Provision for impairment loss ORE R (157,782) (157,973)
22,005 73,767

As disclosed in note 2.1 to these consolidated financial
statements, the directors of the Company deconsolidated the
accounts receivable of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries from the
consolidated financial statements of the Group since 1 April
2019.

The settlement terms of accounts receivable attributable to the
dealing in securities transactions are two days after the trade
date except for the balances with margin clients which are
repayable on demand. The trading terms with customers of the
insurance brokerage business are mainly on credit. The credit
period for customers of insurance brokerage business is
generally 30 days, extended up to 90 days for major
customers. The settlement terms of accounts receivable
attributable to dealing in futures transactions and financial
guarantee business are repayable on demand and generally up
to 12 months, respectively.

IR FRA M MR FE2APTRE - &
NEEFEA T -NFUA—BEKR
HERA ARRWMEB AR Z BERRBUESZ G
SAARKEZREMBHRE -

BRAREP CEBRARBERBEEIN BF
BEEXBRIECRUREREENLARHA
HEmH BREELEEBEPHNRHIE
REBACRTAET —RME - R
KEBEFPOEEHRI0A - MEERF
AR ERERZ0H -HMEERXK MR
BREREBEIE 2RUERREEHD 55
BRBEREER—R&EZ12(A -

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ

22. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (continued)

An ageing analysis of the accounts receivable as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the trade date, is as follows:

22. B AR® (&)

RE|BEHRNEYRIRAENR Z B Z R
BT

2020 2019

—E_EE —E-NF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Within 90 days 90H K 17,760 231,730
Between 91 to 180 days 91&F180H 3 10
Over one year —F U E 162,024 -
179,787 231,740

An ageing analysis of the accounts receivable as at the end of
the reporting period based on past due, and net of loss
allowance is as follows:

K& R - BT E 2 AR (FNkR
EiERE) ZREDTWT

2020 2019

—EEF —E-NF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Not past due K780 Bf 21,903 60,289
Less than 1 month past due B 831 A AR 95 -
1 to 3 months past due w1 E3E A 4 189
Over 3 months past due BHI3ME A A 3 13,289
22,005 73,767

As at 31 March 2020, except for margin loans receivable of
HK$173,821,000 (2019: HK$183,684,000), which were
secured by underlying equity securities amounted to
approximately HK$44,981,000 (2019: HK$82,655,000), the
Group did not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over these balances.

Trading limits are set for margin customers. The Group seeks to
maintain tight control over its outstanding accounts receivable
in order to minimise the credit risk. Overdue balances are
regularly monitored by management.

RZE_EF=ZA=Z=+—"H BB
173,821,000 (ZF — L F B
183,684,0007T) 2 EWAREZRIANSEL
B 44,981,000 (22— F 8K
82,655,0007T ) 2 A8 B8 A% 2N 38 VB K 17 @
Sh AEBWERZ S SR EAER
oh 3 H M0 E A 1 98 5 B o

FREFPXEBERBRH -AEEHHE
HORU ] fE W AR SR M 4 B R 2 BE 4 A8
EERBBRERE - EIEETHERAY
KEER e

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)
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ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements

RN

For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-ZF-FF=H=+—HIFFE

The movements in the provision for impairment loss of
accounts receivable are as follows:

22. FEUR® (&)

FEMWRR SR E R IE R B 2 ZEn T

2020
—E_EH
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E1EER  E22RR E3WR k(4% ek
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
BETT BETR BETr BETx BETR
At beginning of year RE 130 - 157,701 142 157,973
Other remeasurement of EREABNEMENE
loss allowance (50) - - (141) (191)
At end of year RER 80 - 157,701 1 157,782
Arising from: AT &EESE
- Margin clients —-HREP 80 - 157,701 - 157,781
— Other accounts receivable — H ftb FE AR 3R - - - 1 1
80 - 157,701 1 157,782
ECL rate HHEEEEX
- Margin clients -HFREP 0.5% N/ATEHMA 100% N/ATER NATER

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ

22.

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (continued)

The movements in the provision for impairment loss of

22. B AR® (&)

ERERHEBERBE2ZHNT

accounts receivable are as follows: (Continued) (#&)
2019
—E-NF
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F1RE  BRER  F3WR Sz B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT BETr BT ARTr BB
At beginning of year NG - - 135,417 - 135,417
Effect arising from adoption of  HRAFEH 5kE £
HKFRS 9 ELLidi0 2 2,283 - - 158 2,441
2,283 - 135,417 158 137,858
Other remeasurement of BEEAENEMERGE
loss allowance (2,153) - 22,284 (16) 20,115
At end of year RER 130 - 157,701 142 157,973
Avrising from: ANTEBEE:
- Margin clients -HREP 130 - 157,701 - 157,831
— Other accounts receivable — H b FE R BR 3R - - - 142 142
130 - 157,701 142 157,973
ECL rate FHEEEEX
- Margin clients —-FREP 0.5% N/ATEF 100% N/ATER  NATER
No credit loss allowance has been provided for clearing house R EREERMFIBEELEEBEREE

receivables as the related credit loss allowances were

immaterial.

RAZHEBEEBEBEEBETK.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RN

For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-ZF-FF=H=+—HIFFE

INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

23.

BERBLUATFEINEZRE

2020 2019

—EC-EF —E-NF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Listed equity investments, at market value _EMRERE - ZHE 3,071 23,531

The investments as at 31 March 2020 and 2019 were classified
as held for trading. The listed equity investments were stated at
fair values based on quoted market prices in active market. As
at 31 March 2020, the Group's investments as fair value
through profit or loss with an aggregate carrying value of
approximately HK$2,865,000 were pledged to secure a
borrowing of the Company (note 28). As at 31 March 2019, no
investments at fair value values through profit or loss were
pledged.

RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS

Balance represented bank deposits in the PRC required by
banks or related government regulations for the financial
guarantees provided to third parties by the Group, and for the
bank loans provided to the Group as at 31 March 2019.

As disclosed in note 2.1 to these consolidated financial
statements, the directors of the Company deconsolidated the
restricted bank deposits of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries
from the consolidated financial statements of the Group since
1 April 2019.

24,

R-EBE-EFK-_ZT—-—NF=ZA=+—H
ZREDHEAFBEEEHER - ETHIRER
ENREBEFERMS E2HMSRERATE
FfR-R-ZE-_FTF=A=+—H AEE
BRBRUATFEYRZIRE ZREEE
#9575 ¥2,865,0007T © B T IF LAERA
NEZEE (HiE28) - R_T—hLF=A
=+—8 TEKFEBRIBREUATFET
RZ®E-

52 PR U 8R 1T 77 3K
BHRER-T-NFZA=+—BRAR
MR E SRR A EBIRH T E= R
AERREHTAEENRITERERY
BRI -

HINZ ER A M IBMERM FE2AAWE - &
AAEFEZLA T NFHA—HERKR
HERA AR B AR 2 R HERTTFHE
HEAARRE ZGRATHRRK -

CASH AND BANK BALANCES 25. & RBITHE
2020 2019
—B-8F —T-hHE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T T T
Cash and bank balances B & MIRTT4E 149,605 222,143

As disclosed in note 2.1 to these consolidated financial
statements, the directors of the Company deconsolidated the
cash and bank balances of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries
from the consolidated financial statements of the Group since
1 April 2019.

As at 31 March 2020, except for the balances of
HK$12,926,000 (2019: HK$4,025,000) and HK$12,705,000
(2019: HK$21,571,000) which are denominated in RMB and
US$, respectively, all the cash and bank balances of the Group
were denominated in the functional currencies.

IR FERA M MR T2 APTRE - &
NRABEREEA T -NFEA—HEBHR
HERA ARRNE AR 2B & RIRTTHARI
BEAFALRB ZEAMB]RE -

RZE_EF=ZA=Z=+—"H BB
12,926,000t (ZZE— AF B
4,025,0007T) & & #12,705,0007T (=&
—NLEE - B821,571,0007T ) 2 #5885 Bl LA
ARERETHEN AEENMERS
MARTTE R AT RE BB -
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25.

26.

27.

CASH AND BANK BALANCES (Continued)

Certain cash at banks of the Group earns interest at floating
rates based on daily bank deposit rates. The carrying amounts
of the cash and bank balances approximate their fair values.

The Group maintains trust accounts with authorised institutions
in respect of clients’ monies arising from the course of
securities brokerage, futures brokerage and insurance
brokerage businesses. As at 31 March 2020, HK$93,330,000
(2019: HK$155,956,000) was held by the Group on behalf of
the clients in the trust accounts. The client monies as at 31
March 2020 and 2019 were not included in the Group's cash
and bank balances.

As at 31 March 2020, there are no bank deposits were pledged
to secure certain bank borrowings provided to the Group
(2019: HK$23,387,000) (note 36).

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
The balances as at 31 March 2020, based on the trade date,
were all aged within 90 days (2019: 90 days).

25.

26.

HeRMBITHEER o)
AEERRTZETRAREGARTE
SRR BFRE B RETRES
CEEEREAFERE-

AEBRERERBRITERE BN
NEHEL HECCRRBELERR
BPEAZEFRE - R_ZT_ZTF=A
=t+t—H AEBERRZEFPFNAERFE
A A #93,330,0000L (T — NF: B
155,956,00000) "M _ZE_ZEF K _F
—NFZA=Z+—HNEFFEITE A
REBZIRE RIBITREG

R-ZE-FBE=FA=+—0 HEKFE
T AERRETFAEENS TIRT
BE (=T — N :45%23,387,0007T)
(Ffz£36) °

FE £ AR &%
R-EBE-FFE=ZA=+—H0 &KX FH:
HMES ZERRY AR (T —hF:
90H )W~

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 27. RttEMA SRR R ENEA
2020 2019
—EZEF —ZET-NEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BRI
Accrued expenses FEETF X 18,000 8,341
Interest payables FEAS A B 638,897 26,324
Other payables E b B 3B 7,955 58,104
Security deposits received (note) BURES (H3E) - 66,807
664,852 159,576

As disclosed in note 2.1 to these consolidated financial
statements, the directors of the Company deconsolidated the
other payables and accruals of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries
from the consolidated financial statements of the Group since
1 April 2019.

Note: Balance represented deposits received from customers as
collateral for loan facilities granted by the Group. Such deposits
are interest-free and will be returned to customers after the
relevant loan agreements expire.

IR FRA M MRME2AMEKE &
NAEFEEA T -NFHA—-BEKR
R ARRM B A R 2 E A B 5108 M R
SEABBSRAALNKE ZEE MR
*o

Mist: BRERASERTOERBRERER
WHRERSEMMNZS ZERER/R
BN EEERGEERERETE
Eo
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28. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS 28. ETE@EE
2020 2019
i il —ENF
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
(%) p.a. Maturity HK$'000 (%) p.a. Maturity HK$'000
EREAZ ERFF%
(%) HEA BT (%) B5A BT
Current; wE:
Bank borrowings RITEE
- secured (note (b)) ~ B (M3HDb) - - - 5.46-5.75 2020 23,813
- unsecured (note (c)) -®ER (M) - - - 866  2019-2020 15,000
Other borrowings EffEE
- secured (note (d)) —BER (M) 8.20 - 702,000 8.20 - 702,000
- secured (note (¢)) ~BEE (HHe) - - - 6.00 2019 6,500
- secured (note (f)) —BHER (K 7.12 - 593,443 7.12 - 593,443
- secured (note (g)) —-HER (Mikg) 18.10 - 772,200 - - -
- secured (note (h) —~BHEA (HHh) 17.93 - 429,197 - - -
- secured (note (i) ~BER (K0) 14.43 - 185,847 - - -
— unsecured (note (c)) —EER (W3H0) 8.66  2019-2021 43,000 - - -
2,725,687 1,340,756
Non-current; FRE:
Bank borrowings RIEE
- unsecured (note (c) — &R () - - - 8.66 2021 28,000
Other borrowings AffEE
- unsecured (note (j) —EER (M) 4.97 2022 10,000 497 2022 10,000
- unsecured (note (k) —mER (FK) 497 2023 20,000 497 2023 20,000
30,000 58,000
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28. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (Continued)

28. KRB E »)

2020 2019
—EIEF —ZE-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Analysed into: paR i
Bank borrowings repayable on demand BRERER—FAEEZ
and within one year RITEE - 38,813
Bank borrowings repayable after BERMEREAFAEEZ
two years but within five years |ITIEE - 28,000
Other borrowings repayable on demand BREREN—FAEEZ
and within one year HmEE 2,725,687 1,301,943
Other borrowings repayable after ERMEREAFANEEZ
two years but within five years HEMEE 30,000 30,000
2,755,687 1,398,756

Notes:

As at 31 March 2020, except for the secured other borrowings of
approximately HK$593,443,000, HK$702,000,000 and
HK$772,200,000 (2019: HK$593,443,000 and HK$702,000,000)
which were denominated in US$, all borrowings of the Group as
at 31 March 2020 and 2019 were denominated in the functional
currency of the respective entity.

Bank borrowings of approximately RMB20,365,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$23,813,000) bearing interest at rates ranging
from 5.46% to 5.75% per annum and repayable within three
years by instalments were secured by bank deposits of
RMB20,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$23,387,000)
and a corporate guarantee given by a third party as at 31 March
2019.

As disclosed in note 2.1 to these consolidated financial
statements, the directors of the Company deconsolidated the
bank borrowings of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries from the
consolidated financial statements of the Group since 1 April
2019.

In February 2018, the Company obtained an unsecured banking
facility of HK$93,000,000 bearing interest at Hong Kong Dollar
Prime Rate plus 3% per annum and repayable by instalments in
three years. In August 2019, the bank transferred all rights in
respect of the remaining balance of the borrowing of
approximately HK$43,000,000 to an independent third party and
the borrowing was classified as other borrowing.

GEE

RZZZTF=ZA=+—H KREKHEL
ftb f B 478 #593,443,0007T B 1
702,000,0007T & % #772,200,0007T ( =
T — hF 8 593,443,0000T KB
702,000,0007T ) AZETTEHEIN - RZT =
TFERZT-NF=ZA=+—H £~&H
FBEEURBER 2N E T E

IRITIEE X AR¥20,365,0007T (FHER
#9745 %23,813,00000T) =N T & F5.46
[EZ575EMAERG S AR=ZFANHH
E3&E  ARTTIF K AR %20,000,0007T
(W% N# 7B 123,387,0007T) Kk — R F
ZHARZE-AFZRA=ZF+—RAEHHR
RIPERIE

WMz ELRA MR E2AMERE AR
AEEE T -NFOA—-ALEHEEUH
FAARMEB AR ZRITERIUEKRAE
AREB 2R EMB]ME -

RZZT—NF_F AARRE—SEIEK
IR 77 RL B 75 #£93,000,0007T © X8 &
BEMNRNEFIEFE AR=ZFRAH
HEE-R-_ZT—hAhEN\A BITEEE
BREE 4075%£43,000,0007T Y BT G R | i
FEBUE=—H BEIEAREME
-
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28. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(d)

In March 2017, the Company obtained a loan facility of
US$90,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$702,000,000)
bearing interest at rates ranging from 7.5% to 8.0% per annum
payable annually in arrears, repayable in March 2020, and
secured by the shares in the capital of certain wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company, 20% equity interest of Wins
Finance held by the Group and personal guarantees given by Mr.

Zhang Yongdong (“Mr. Zhang") and his spouse.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, certain covenants of the
borrowing were breached. The breach of the covenants
constituted events of default under the loan agreement, which
caused the relevant borrowing becoming immediately repayable.
Accordingly, the Group classified the outstanding balance of the
borrowing as current liabilities.

Other borrowings of RMB5,559,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$6,500,000) bearing interest at 6.0% per annum and
repayable by instalments in January and October 2019 were
secured by certain finance lease receivables with carrying amount
of RMB9,846,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$11,513,000)
as at 31 March 2019.

As disclosed in note 2.1 to these consolidated financial
statements, the directors of the Company deconsolidated the
other borrowings of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries from the
consolidated financial statements of the Group since 1 April
2019.

In March 2018, the Company issued two notes payable with
principal amounts of US$30,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$234,987,000) (“Note A”) and US$70,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$548,304,000) (“Note B” and
collectively with Note A referred to as the “Notes”). The Notes
bore interest at 7% per annum and were secured by certain
listed securities held by the Group (2019: Nil), certain shares in
the capital of a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
approximately 17.26% (2019: 7.26%) equity interest of Wins
Finance held by the Group, certain shares of the Company held
by Mr. Zhang and personal guarantees given by Mr. Zhang and
his spouse. Note A was repayable in March 2019 and Note B was
repayable in March 2020. Note B with principal amount of
approximately US$23,827,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$185,847,000) was repaid during the year ended 31 March
2019.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, certain covenants of the
notes payable were breached. The breach of the covenants
constituted events of default under the note agreements, which
caused the relevant notes payable becoming immediately
repayable. Accordingly, the Group classified the outstanding
balance of the notes payable as current liabilities.

28. (BB E =)
Mzx: (&)

(d)

RZE—+tF=A ARATMBE—2£c8
#90,000,000E( T (MHE R BE
702,000,0007T) WE R E - FENFF
¢7 5/ E8. OF /Alﬁﬁﬁﬂiﬁﬁ “E
HEE AR TFE=RAEE AR
ﬂ%:FiéfWEAﬂHXZKEPE@HXE CARE
B+ A B Wins FinanceH)20% i A 25 I
SROKEREAE ([RELE]) REARRBELA
B AERER

_7_

BE—Z-NF=ZA=T—"HLFE £
EmE JFﬁ R R o B R R B E R
BETELOEN  FIEEBURREERY
EM@}& Bt RAEESEEORERH
EDMARREEE:

BEFORMMENE ARE—NEF
—ARTASHEENEMEEARYE

5,559,0007T (48 & 7 4 7% 6,500,000
L) RZE-hAhF=ZA=+— EILABEE
B AR%9,846,0007T (HE RN B
11,513,00070) & Fﬁ”ﬁzﬂéﬁfﬁ%ﬁ
A o

M EEAMBMRME2AMEE AR

AEEE T NFOA—-ARLEHEUH
HAARMBAR ZEMERIUEGRAR
AREE Z RAMIBHE -

RZZE—N\F=R  NABBITMHEN
?F N4 % 9 Bl 530,000,000 7t (48
B 4)78%234,987,0007T) ([ZFEA])
70,000,000 T (&R LB
548,304,0007T) ([FIEB | EERIEASR
HIER]) ZBRBREFIEFE  UARE
EFEMNETLEMES (22— N
) ARA—HE2ENBARIRAFTE
JFW’J} REEFENH17.26%M% A 1
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EFARBBRMDARREEREBBIER
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A& EEBEANR_ZE_ZTF=-AHE
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A 47 #185,847,0007T ) B R E &= —
—NWFEZA=Z+—BHILLtFEEE-

Y ik ﬁﬁlﬂ' HI

BHE_ZT-NEF=A=+—HILFE &
NREBENETRRERER - BREHEK
SBRWETROEM T EBEBEN
RAMEMEE - Bt REEBGENE
BOAREBEEREIBRRBEE-

li

j@

I~

N

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)

173



174

Notes to the Financial Statements
BF 75 3 3} B &

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ

28. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(g)  The remaining principal of the expired convertible bonds issued
on 14 June 2017 of US$99,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$772,200,000) was classified as other borrowings under
current liabilities upon maturity. The expired convertible bonds
bore interest at 4% per annum payable semi-annually in arrears
and default interest at 16% per annum. The expired convertible
bonds were secured by 30% equity interest of Wins Finance held
by the Group to the subscriber, a subsidiary of China Huarong
Asset Management Co., Ltd and a guarantee given by an

independent third party.

(h)  The remaining principal of the expired convertible bonds issued
on 12 September 2017 of HK$429,197,000 was classified as
other borrowings under current liabilities upon maturity. The
expired convertible bonds bore interest at 7% per annum
payable semi-annually in arrears and default interest at a
compounding rate of 18% per annum. The expired convertible
bonds were secured by 12.17% equity interest of the Securities
Company, an other financial asset held by the Group to the
subscriber, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Huarong Investment

Stock Corporation Limited.

(i) The remaining principal of the expired convertible notes issued
on 24 October 2018 of HK$185,847,000 was classified as other
borrowings under current liabilities upon maturity. The expired
convertible notes bore interest at 7% per annum payable semi-
annually in arrears and default interest at 20% per annum. The
expired convertible notes were secured by certain listed securities
held by the Group (2019: Nil), certain shares in the capital of a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, approximately 17.26%
(2019: 7.26%) equity interest of Wins Finance held by the
Group, certain shares of the Company held by Mr. Zhang and
personal guarantee given by Mr. Zhang and his spouse to the
subscriber, an indirect wholly-owned special vehicle of CCB

International (Holdings) Limited.

() In June 2015, the Company issued an unsecured note with a
principal amount of HK$10,000,000 to an independent third
party, bearing interest at 5% per annum payable annually in

arrears. The note is repayable in June 2022.

(k) In May 2016, the Company issued two unsecured notes with a
total principal amount of HK$10,000,000 each to two
independent third parties, bearing interest at 5% per annum
payable annually in arrears. Both notes are repayable in May

2023.

28.
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29. CONVERTIBLE INSTRUMENTS
During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Company had no
(2019: three) outstanding convertible instruments with details
set out as follows:

(a) Convertible bonds issued on 14 June 2017 (the “First
Convertible Bonds”)
On 6 June 2017, the Company entered into a
subscription agreement with a subsidiary of China
Huarong Asset Management Co., Ltd. (the “First
Subscriber”, whose shares are listed on the main board of
the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2799), in relation to the
issue of the First Convertible Bonds in the principal
amount of US$100,000,000 with conversion rights to
convert the principal amount thereof into the shares of
the Company at the conversion price of HK$4.25
(adjusted for share consolidation on the basis that every
ten issued shares consolidated into one share). Upon
conversion of the First Convertible Bonds, the principal
amount of the First Convertible Bonds shall be exchanged
to HK$ based on the fixed exchange rate of
US$1:HK$7.8. The conversion period shall begin six
months after the issue date and end on the fifth trading
day before the maturity date.

The issue price was 100% of the principal amount of the
First Convertible Bonds. The First Convertible Bonds bore
interest at 4% per annum payable semi-annually in
arrears. The imputed interest on the First Convertible
Bonds was calculated using the effective interest rate at
18.10% per annum. The First Convertible Bonds shall
mature on the second anniversary of its issue date.

The First Convertible Bonds were secured by 30% equity
interest of Wins Finance held by the Group to the First
Subscriber.

On 18 October 2018, the Company and the First
Subscriber entered into an amendment deed to amend
certain terms and conditions of the First Convertible
Bonds and pursuant to which the conversion price of the
convertible share was revised from HK$4.25 (adjusted for
share consolidation on the basis that every ten issued
shares consolidated into one share) to HK$0.65 each.
Further details were set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 18 October 2018 and 15 November
2018 and circular dated 13 December 2018 respectively.
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29. CONVERTIBLE INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Convertible bonds issued on 14 June 2017 (the “First

Convertible Bonds") (Continued)

On 15 November 2018, the Company entered into a
supplemental undertaking with the First Subscriber
pursuant to which the Company agreed to further amend
certain terms and conditions of the First Convertible
Bonds. The modification of the terms of such convertible
bonds was approved by the shareholders at the
Company’s extraordinary general meeting on 13

December 2018.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, certain covenants
of the convertible bonds were breached. The breach of
the covenants constituted events of default under the
convertible bonds instrument, which caused the relevant
convertible bonds becoming immediately repayable.
Accordingly, the Group has classified the outstanding
balance of the convertible bonds as current liabilities.

On 5 August 2019, upon the completion of allotment
and issue of 300,000,000 of the Company’s shares to a
subscriber at a subscription price of HK$0.145 per share
and in accordance with the terms and conditions of the
First Convertible Bonds, the conversion price of the
outstanding convertible share was adjusted to HK$0.60
each. Further details were set out in the Company’s

announcement dated 12 August 2019.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, no conversion
rights attaching to the First Convertible Bonds were
exercised and the conversion rights attached to the First
Convertible Bonds were lapsed upon maturity. The
remaining principal and equity component of the expired
First Convertible Bonds of US$99,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$772,200,000) and HK$180,966,000
were transferred to other borrowings under current

liabilities and accumulated losses respectively.
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29. "[¥ERR TR (#)

29. CONVERTIBLE INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Convertible Bonds issued on 12 September 2017 (the
“Second Convertible Bonds")

On 24 August 2017, the Company entered into another
subscription agreement with a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Huarong Investment Stock Corporation Limited (the
"Second Subscriber”, whose shares are listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2277), in
relation to the issue of the Second Convertible Bonds in
the principal amount of HK$437,000,000 with conversion
rights to convert the principal amount thereof into the
shares of the Company at the conversion price of
HK$0.425 (adjusted for share consolidation on the basis
that every ten issued shares consolidated into one share).
The conversion period shall begin six months after the
issue date and end on the fifth trading day before the
maturity date.

The issue price was 100% of the principal amount of the
Second Convertible Bonds. The Second Convertible Bonds
bore interest at 4% per annum payable semi-annually in
arrears. The imputed interest on the Second Convertible
Bonds was calculated using the effective interest rate at
17.93% per annum. The Second Convertible Bonds shall
mature on the second anniversary of its issue date.

The Second Convertible Bonds were secured by 12.17%
equity interest of the Securities Company, an other
financial asset held by the Group to the Second
Subscriber.

On 7 May 2018, convertible bonds with principal amount
of HK$7,803,000 were converted into 18,360,000
ordinary shares.

On 28 September 2018, the Company and the Second
Subscriber entered into a deed of undertaking and a
supplemental deed to amend the terms of the Second
Convertible Bonds and pursuant to which (i) the
conversion price of the convertible share was revised from
HK$0.425 (adjusted for share consolidation on the basis
that every ten issued shares consolidated into one share)
to HK$0.65 each and (ii) interest rate revised from 4% to
7% per annum payable semi-annually in arrears. Further
details were set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 18 October 2018 and circular dated 13 December
2018.

(b)

R-EB—tFEAATZHRITHE
BES (TEF-HTHRRES])

R-_ZE—+FENA=-+WMHE  AAF
HEMEEROBRARN—HEE
WMEAR ([E_ZREAl ERH
REZFTER £ R RSE:227
7) LB {T AN & 58 A5 %437,000,000
JCRIEE —HE AT IR AR B 5 (I iR EEimn
BB 425 (ERMEERLET TR
BETIROEHE—BRBRNHNRKRNE
PHELFAR) BERSEEBEAARD
AR B EIRE) ST LS — D REW
Ho MmN ETA R NEARF
B YREHERAERS B

BITERE _HABRBREFASEN
100% ° 5 —#H A MRIEF R B FAE
AECMBABEFHRRIMN -EZ
AR E SR EE N B TIE R ER
FME1793EFH-F AR
BHEENETHRE _BFIH-

FoHAIMRESUARNEER AL —
HeRMEE(EHFRTMI217%K
AEZ)VEHFE -_ZRB A

R-ZE—NFERALH AEHEAB
7,803,000 T ) A] 2 IR (E 5 JE 48
f%18,360,0000% & 3@ % -

R-ZE—NFNLA-F+N\H KAQAF
HE-ZRBAFI L —DEAERER
— IR LMEE] S T IRER
BEH WG B (DAT 8RR 5 B
ERERTREB425L (BERE
EEFTREFHTROAFAE B
B n & HHEH AR ) EE] BE0.65
T RNV RABFABEETRTE

ABETFHRIMN - — THBEHT
RARBRBHA-Z—N\F+A+N
Bz mRkAMAZZE—N\F+=A
+ZBHZBEK-
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29. CONVERTIBLE INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Convertible Bonds issued on 12 September 2017 (the
“Second Convertible Bonds”) (Continued)

On 9 November 2018, the Company entered into a
second supplemental deed with the Second Subscriber
pursuant to which the Company agreed to further amend
certain terms and conditions of the Second Convertible
Bonds. The modification of the terms of such convertible
bond was approved by the shareholders at the Company’s
extraordinary general meeting on 13 December 2018.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, certain covenants
of the convertible bonds were breached. The breach of
the covenants constituted events of default under the
convertible bonds instrument, which caused the relevant
convertible bonds becoming immediately repayable.
Accordingly, the Group has classified the entire
outstanding balance of the convertible bonds as current
liabilities.

On 5 August 2019, upon the completion of allotment
and issue of 300,000,000 of the Company’s shares to a
subscriber at a subscription price of HK$0.145 per share
and in accordance with the terms and conditions of the
Second Convertible Bonds, the conversion price of the
outstanding convertible share was adjusted to HK$0.59
each. Further details were set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 12 August 2019.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, no conversion
rights attaching to the Second Convertible Bonds were
exercised and the conversion rights attached to the
Second Convertible Bonds were lapsed upon maturity.
The remaining principal and equity component of the
expired Second Convertible Bonds of HK$429,197,000
and HK$98,834,000 were transferred to other borrowings
under current liabilities and accumulated losses
respectively.

29. "J¥ERR TR (#)

(b)

RIBE—tFEhATZHRTHTE
BES ([E-HtTmBRESR]) (&)
RZE—N\F+—ANH KNAFH
FE_EBZRBARIVE D@ E
Bt AAFREB#E—FEBITE 8
ARBRESFNE TBRAREF - R
- N\F+ZA+T=H BF&%ET
BREHFERR AR REFRIR
G FERE

BHE-_Z-NF=ZA=+—HI#F
B-A#REFNE TREWRER -
ERRAEBRABBRESRTATED
= AR EREEARRESAY
BIMEE - FHitk - NEE S AR IRES
MERREEREIB/ARBDEE

RZE—NFNAEB EEXRRE—-
H AT EFH R ER G AR E
T B 014570 ) — B R ABLE
K 3£47300,000,0000% A A & I 17 52
1% - R AT e A AR () B A E
B AT EE0.59T - #E—HEEH
FIRARBABAE-FT—NLFN\A
il = /N D

BHE_Z-_ZF=A=+—HI*F
J& 5 — HE T R I 4B 55 B e O B A
BEETE F A BRRESNS
M RER B BIR R B RIHIE —
AT MBRESFHBR T AE MER D
78 #429,197,0007T K 7 #98,834,000
TARBARBEETEMEERR
R
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29. "[¥ERR TR (#)

29. CONVERTIBLE INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c)

Convertible Notes issued on 24 October 2018 (the
“Convertible Notes”)

On 4 September 2018, the Company entered into a note
purchase agreement with an indirect wholly-owned
special purpose vehicle of CCB International (Holdings)
Limited (“CCBI", whose shares are listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 939), in relation
to the issue of the Convertible Notes in the principal
amount of HK$185,847,419 with conversion rights to
convert the principal amount thereof into the shares of
the Company at the conversion price of HK$0.88
(adjusted for share consolidation on the basis that every
ten issued shares consolidated into one share).

The issue price was 100% of the principal amount of the
Convertible Notes. The Convertible Notes bore interest at
7% per annum payable semi-annually. The imputed
interest on the Convertible Notes was calculated using
the effective interest rate at 14.43% per annum. The
Convertible Notes shall mature on 29 March 2020.

The Convertible Notes were secured by certain listed
securities held by the Group (2019: Nil), certain shares in
the capital of an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, 17.26% (2019: 7.26%) equity interest of Wins
Finance, and certain shares of the Company held by Mr.
Zhang and personal guarantee given by Mr. Zhang and
his spouse to CCBI.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, certain covenants
of the convertible notes were breached. The breach of the
covenants constituted events of default under the
convertible note purchase agreement, which caused the
relevant convertible notes becoming immediately
repayable. Accordingly, the Group classified the
outstanding balance of the convertible notes as current
liabilities.

On 5 August 2019, upon the completion of allotment
and issue of 300,000,000 shares to a subscriber at a
subscription price of HK$0.145 per share and in
accordance with the terms and conditions of the
Convertible Notes, the conversion price was adjusted to
HK$0.145 each. Further details were set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 12 August 2019.

(c)

RZEBE-NE+AZTHARTHH
BRREE (TUTEREE]
RZZT—N\FHLAMB AAFHEE
RBE (SR BRARA N —MEE
2ERKRBEMNLE ([ZREE] E
BEAD R B X AT E AR 70 AR D A5 -
93 A —IEBREENSE NAA
RAEE 1T AN & 58 A5 #185,847,4197T
B AT A RR =R BT S LA iR B
0.887L (EMEEAET +REFHITHR
NeEMHBE—BRNRMNEHIELFAR)
=N Bl /N i g N O L B
T o

BOTEATRBREEASEN
100% ° R BIBILZ T F7EFT B
AB¥FIT - RBREENEEF
BNEAERFNEI443EHE -
THREEER T -ZTHF =7
—t+hBEH-

AR ERUAEEFEcETLET
BHR(ZZE—NFE) AREH—
MEZE2EWNBATRAPE TR
3 ~Wins FinancefJ17.26% (— &
—NF:7.26% ) RAEZ KRR E LR
ENAREETRMDERRAEERER
BEDAEABRERTEREE-

HE-_Z-NF=ZA=+—HIL#F
B -ABRRENE TREPER -
ERZAEBRABREEEEEHZE T
BHOEM M EBEBARRER
AN BME SR - Bt - AN R B R R AR
SENAEERBEIBRARBAGE

R-ZZT—AFNARB EREAE
A& TR BIE R R AGH AR B E SRS
#£0.1457L M — 2 R AR 3 KRBT
300,000,0008% % 17 SEAK 14 @ 8232 (8
FEHEREEE014570 - #E — P 5F
BEINRARRBHEAE-_ZT—NEN
A+-HBzRAf-
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ

29. CONVERTIBLE INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

29. "J¥ERR TR (#)

() Convertible Notes issued on 24 October 2018 (the () R=EBE—NE+A=-T+NBABTHT
“Convertible Notes”) (Continued) BRREE ((AEREE] (&)
During the year ended 31 March 2020, no conversion HE_ZT-FTF=-A=-1+—HIEF
rights attaching to the Convertible Notes were exercised [ IR AR IR M A ) SR R A
and the conversion rights attached to the Convertible 1718 AR AR B 75 e B HR A PO B
Notes were lapsed upon maturity. The remaining principal Hig KW -BH BT BREBBEOHRT
and equity component of the expired Convertible Notes e RigEmalo & 1185,847,4197T
of HK$185,847,419 and HK$17,273,973 were transferred K &#17,273,973 Lo BIE A REN A
to other borrowings under current liabilities and BETHMEERREE-
accumulated losses respectively.

The convertible instruments recognised in the consolidated RERE M B mRERN TR TEZRIAT

financial statements are calculated as follows: FHEE

2020

—EEF

First Second
Convertible Convertible Convertible
Bonds Bonds Notes Total
it ETHt
BRRES WUBRRESF TEREE HE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETn BT BET
Face value of convertible Al T AR 1T B HIH
instruments at the date H1E
of issuance 778,760 437,000 185,847 1,401,607
Equity component B Eb o (182,808)  (100,631) (17,274)  (300,713)
Liability component on initial P EAT B BRI 25 B 2R s
recognition at the date BEHD
of issuance 595,952 336,369 168,573 1,100,894

Accumulated finance costs RERE AR 244,481 143,657 76,844 464,982

Accumulated interest paid ZEENHE (46,171) (28,451) (5,596) (80,218)

Accumulated conversion ZEH TR

options exercised (6,660) (6,579) - (13,239)
Accumulated modification gain 2t ek U2 - (654) - (654)
Transfer to borrowings EREEERENTE

and interests payable (787,602) (444,342) (239,821) (1,471,765)

Liability component as at
31 March 2020

RZF-FF=A=1+—H
m R EE D

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-ZF-FF=H=+—HIFFE

29. "[¥ERR TR (#)

The convertible instruments recognised in the consolidated RS BRERBERNTRERTRERUAT
financial statements are calculated as follows: (Continued) FREE: (&)
2019
—NnF
First Second
Convertible Convertible Convertible
Bonds Bonds Notes Total
=g Bt
AwmRkES IRRES TBRRER 1B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT AT BEBFTT  BETT
Face value of convertible AT T BN 1T B EIR
instruments at the date H1A
of issuance 778,760 437,000 185,847 1,401,607
Equity component Em D (182,808)  (100,631) (17,274)  (300,713)
Liability component on initial AT B BRI 2 B R IR Y
recognition at the date BEED
of issuance 595,952 336,369 168,573 1,100,894
Accumulated finance costs ZETRE KA 216,439 108,500 10,604 335,543
Accumulated interest paid ZFENHE (46,171) (28,451) - (74,622)
Accumulated conversion R TR RS
options exercised (6,660) (6,579) - (13,239)
Modification gain (note 6) BT Wz (Mfske) - (654) - (654)
Liability component as at RZZE—hF=HA=+—H
31 March 2019 BB EID 759,560 409,185 179,177 1,347,922
LEASES 30. 8
As leasee ERARAA
The Group has lease contracts of office premises, which are TEBEERAEMERE HAE A&
negotiated for terms ranging from one to three years. BEEN T —E=4F-

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ

30. LEASES (Continued)

As leasee (Continued)
(a) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets

30. 8 &)
EBERA(F)
(a) RAREE

FR-AKENERREENEREE

and the movements during the year are as follows: REFHWNT
Office
properties
MAEYE
HK$'000
BT T
At 1 April 2019 (adjusted) RZZFE—NFNA—HB (KAE) 22,853
Depreciation ?ﬁ% (11,013)
At 31 March 2020 R-ZZ-_ZTHF=A=+—AH 11,840

(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the

(b) HERME

FR HERBEZFEEREZEZ W

movements during the year are as follows: D
Lease
liabilities
HEEE
HK$'000
BT T
Carrying amount at 1 April 2019 (adjusted) —NFMNA—BZEREE
(A %) 24,098
Accretion of finance cost recognised during the  F AR 2 BL & A AN HE 1N
year 3,111
Payments (NS (13,932)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2020 RZZBZEF=A=T—RAZKHE 13,277

2020
—F-FF
HK$'000
AETT

Analysed as:
Current
Non-current

182
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FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)
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30. LEASES (Continued)

As leasee (Continued)
(b) Lease liabilities (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Notes to the Financial Statements

RN

For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-ZF-FF=H=+—HIFFE

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is as follows:

30. 8 &)
EBERA(F)
(b) HEERE (%)

HERBEZBHBEIFWT:

2020
—EZEF
HK$'000
BT T
Analysed as: AT
Within one year or on demand —FRIKREK 12,232
In more than one year —FAEMFUARA
but not more than two years 1,045
13,277
The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to () FEAMETBERTHEIRNSHENT:

leases are as follows:

2020

—E-FHF

HK$'000

BT T

Interest on lease liabilities HEBGBEZFE 3,111

Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERAREENTE 11,013
Expenses related to short-term leases HEHRAEREHE A

— office properties VNS ES 798

The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 42 to (d) HEZHERHBEONZEFUHER

these financial statements.

KA A2 EE

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)
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BB |ERMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ
31. DEFERRED TAX 31. RERIEA
The movements in deferred tax assets/(liability) during the year EERMEEE,/ (BB)RFRNZEE M
are as follows: ™~
Unrealised
fair value
gains of
investments
at fair
value Provision  Provision
through  Accelerated for for
profit or tax impairment guarantee Intangible
loss depreciation loss losses assets Total
BRER
URFE
SRR E
MAEE  MEHE HE BR
PRRELE: E BERKGE FBREE SEFEE ok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT RETT E%Tr A¥Trn AT A%t
At 1 April 2018 RZE-N\EEA—H (68) - 1,510 (2,400) (2,542) (3,500)
Deferred tax credited/ FA (BB &E
(charged) to the BRRMNET
consolidated statement I8 (B aE11)
of profit or loss (note 11) - - (97) 155 - 58
At 31 March 2019 and R-Z-NF=A=1+—H
1 April 2019 EZT-NFMA—H (68) - 1,413 (2,245) (2,542) (3,442)
Deferred tax credited/(charged) &t A/ (MK B)GEBEE
to the consolidated HERERIIE (MEE11)
statement of
profit or loss (note 11) 68 (19) (7) - - 42
Deconsolidation of BGRE ARHB AR
subsidiaries - - (1,406) 2,245 - 839
At 31 March 2020 RZE-_TF=A=+—H - (19) - - (2,542) (2,561)
At 31 March 2020, the Group had tax losses arising in Hong RZZEZZTEF=A=+—H A&EBESE
Kong of approximately HK$3,464,408,000 (2019: BEAE 2 RIBR L AE%3,464,408,000
HK$3,134,688,000), subject to the agreement by the Hong T (ZZT— 4% :4%3,134,688,0007T)
Kong Inland Revenue Department, that are available (EEEANBERAER) ZEREEER
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the ERAAERBEEEBEBZ AR ZARKE
companies in which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets have Al RS EEEBER 2 AREE
not been recognised at the end of the reporting period in B2 IR S B N R BE IR TE 5% 5 A B 2 R R
respect of these losses as they have arisen in companies that FIHOIR - B AR B D KA BE B FE R T a7
have been loss-making for some time or due to the AR 8 A 2 TR BRI - Bt RS H
unpredictability of future profit streams of those companies, AT ERZEEERRECRIEEE -

and accordingly, it is not considered probable that taxable
profits will be available against which the tax losses can be
utilised.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-ZF-FF=H=+—HIFFE
DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 31.BRERIE (%)
Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is payable for BEPEPEFRERE APREHBA
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the PRC RIBZZEENFE—A— BRI s AT
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 awards. Deferred taxation has EIRMREHMATENT - BLERL P IW%
not been provided for in the consolidated financial statements NRAREHERTUR IS 2 R ZFENL
in respect of temporary differences attributable to the G BRERMELIEEHIERE -
accumulated taxable profits of the PRC subsidiaries.
SHARE CAPITAL 32. k&
2020 2019
—EIEF —ZE-NEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Authorised: VETE
500,000,000,000 500,000,000,000/% ( =& —jL4 :
(2019: 500,000,000,000) 500,000,000,000(% ) &% &
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 B0 (ZE—NEF:
(2019: HK$0.01) each BE0.017T) Z & mAR 5,000,000 5,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BTN
1,868,176,188 (2019: 1,568,176,188) 1,868,176,188/ ( — & — L4 :
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 1,568,176,188M% ) &I HE &
(2019: HK$0.01) each BT (ZE—h4EF:
BE0.017T) 2 & mA 18,682 15,682

A summary of the movements of the Company’s issued capital
and share premium account is as follows:

RRFEBEITRA R0 G Bk 2 Z e
aan T

No. of Share

shares Issued premium
in issue capital account Total
EBTROEA BETRE B AR ER et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

AT BT BETT

1 April 2018 R-Z-N\EMA—H 15,663,401,881 15,663 2,726,935 2,742,598
Issue of shares upon conversion of RERTHRESFE
convertible bonds (note a) B21RH (Hita) 18,360,000 19 8,357 8,376
Effect of share consolidation (note b) BRIz TE (Hib) (14,113,585,693) - - -
At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 R-ZE-AFZA=T-8EK
“T-NEMA-A 1,568,176,188 15,682 2,735,292 2,750,974
Issue of new shares (note ) BITHMR D (M EEC) 300,000,000 3,000 40,500 43,500
At 31 March 2020 R-BE-ZEF=R=1+-H 1,868,176,188 18,682 2,775,792 2,794,474

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)
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32.

33.

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes:

(@ In May 2018, the Company issued 18,360,000 new shares with a
par value of HK$0.001 each at a conversion price of HK$0.425
each upon conversion of convertible bonds with principal
amount of HK$7,803,000.

(b)  In October 2018, the Company proposed to implement a share
consolidation on the basis that every ten issued and unissued
shares of HK$0.001 each be consolidated into one consolidated
share of HK$0.01 each. The proposed ordinary resolution to
approve the share consolidation was duly passed by the
shareholders of the Company by way of poll at the extraordinary
general meeting held on 9 November 2018. The share
consolidation became effective on 12 November 2018.

() In August 2019, the Company allotted and issued 300,000,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each to an independent third party
at a subscription price of HK$0.145 per share, giving rise to an
increase of HK$3,000,000 and HK$40,500,000 for share capital
and share premium, respectively.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme of the Company was approved and
adopted by the shareholders at the annual general meeting
held on 31 August 2012 (the “2012 Scheme”) with a term of
ten years commencing from 31 August 2012.

The primary purpose of the 2012 Scheme is to provide
participants with the opportunity to acquire proprietary
interests in the Company and to encourage participants to
work towards enhancing the value of the Company and its
shares for the benefit of the Company and its shareholders as a
whole. Further details of the 2012 Scheme were disclosed in
the Company's circular dated 25 July 2012.

The categories of the participants under the 2012 Scheme are
any directors (including executive directors, non-executive
directors and independent non-executive directors) of the
Company and its subsidiaries and employees of the Group and
any advisors, consultants, distributors, contractors, suppliers,
agents, customers, business partners, joint venture business
partners, promoters, service providers to the Group whom the
board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) considers, in
its sole discretion, have contributed or will contribute to the
Group.

32.

33.

& 2z
B 2
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, make an offer to any
participant to take up share options. An offer is deemed to
have been accepted and a share option is deemed to have
been granted and accepted and shall take effect when the
duplicate of the offer letter comprising acceptance of the offer
duly signed by the grantee and the remittance of HK$1 by way
of consideration for the grant thereof is received by the
Company. Share options granted may be exercised during the
period as notified by the Board to each grantee at the time of
making the offer and shall be at any time from the date of
grant to the tenth anniversary thereof.

The total number of ordinary shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all share options granted under the 2012 Scheme
and any other share option scheme(s) of the Company
(excluding share options lapsed) must not exceed 10% of the
total number of the Company’s ordinary shares in issue on
respective adoption date (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”).
Moreover, the maximum number of ordinary shares in respect
of which share options may be granted to each of the
participants (including both exercised and outstanding options)
under the 2012 Scheme in any 12-month period shall not
(when aggregated with any shares subject to any other share
option scheme(s) of the Company) exceed 1% of the
Company's ordinary shares in issue. The Company may renew
the Scheme Mandate Limit at any time subject to prior
shareholders’ approval in general meeting and the Stock
Exchange granting listing of and permission to deal in the
Company’s shares to be issued upon exercise of options
pursuant to the refreshment of the Scheme Mandate Limit.

The subscription price for shares on the exercise of share
options under the 2012 Scheme shall be determined by the
Board in its absolute discretion but in any event shall not be
less than the greatest of: (i) the closing price of the Company’s
shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the
Stock Exchange on the date on which a share option is
granted; (ii) the average closing price of the Company’s share
as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the
date on which a share option is granted; and (iii) the nominal
value of the Company’s shares.

The Scheme Mandate Limit was refreshed to 1,868,176,188
shares with par value of HK$0.01 each upon the approval of
shareholders at the Company’s annual general meeting on 9
September 2019. The total number of shares available for issue
under the 2012 Scheme was 186,817,618 shares with par
value of HK$0.01 each.

33. MERR R (2

EXZgRERNBERERNEIMNZ2EAREZ
BREELN - EARRREZARME (K
HERABRAEAREZANE) BIANE
Rt R EBRERN AR RN ZREEE
TR BRBBAR(EC 5 4 R BB A
BRI L - ZRRBAR -EREZBE
BUREFERHIZ2ORBHNEEARAZ
HIMATE MZzMEASK L ARES
HETIBF I 2R

RIFE-—ZF - —F5 8 R AR EMEME
e MRENAARERE (TREE
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The following share options were outstanding under the 2012

33. MERRHERTE (2
R =T — — A BIE TR AR

Scheme during the year: LU
Number of shares issuable**
FRTZRHHE
Granted/
exercised/ Date of Exercise Exercise
At cancelled/ Lapsed At grant of period price of
1 April during during 31 March share of share share
2019 the year the year 2020 options* options options**
RZZ-1E ERRE/ g S 33 EhE BRE EhRE
MA-B /8 FREXM =ZA=1-H R AE L] @
‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 HKS per share
TR TR TR TR bodigidis
2020 ZE=-%F
Directors £%
In aggregate 45t 10,000 - (10,000) - 2342015 23-4-2015 to 22-4-2025 4,90+
ZF-RFMAZ+ZR  ZE-RFMAZT=RH
E-R-RFMA-TCH
In aggregate 25 74,000 - (37,932) 36,068 6-8-2018 6-8-2018 to 5-8-2028 1.02%%%*
ZE-\FARAKRA ZZ-\E/\ARHEE
“ZZ\§/\ARA
Total 4% 84,000 - (47,932) 36,068
Weighted average exercise price HK$1.48 - HK$1.83 HK$1.02
METHTEE 1487 B8 BB
Employees EE
In aggregate 45t 37,000 - (16,000) 21,000 6-8-2018 6-8-2018 to 5-8-2028 1.02%*%*
—E-\FAARA “E-\5\ARHEZE
“TZ\f\ARA
Total 2% 37,000 - (16,000) 21,000
Weighted average exercise price HK$1.02 - HK$1.02 HK$1.02
METHTEE AB11.027 B2 BEL.02T
Non-employees 3 {8 &
In aggregate 45t 58,828 - - 58,828 23-4-2015 23-4-2015 to 22-4-2025 4.90%**
“E-RENA=+=A —Z-RfMA-1+ZRZE
ZE-REMAZTZA
In aggregate 45t 15,681 - (15,681) - 6-8-2018 6-8-2018 t0 5-8-2028 1.02%*x*
—Z-N\FNAKRA ZE-\E/\AREE
—EZ\$/\ARH
Total 2% 74,509 - (15,681) 58,828
Weighted average exercise price HK$4.08 - HK$1.02 HK$4.90
MEFHIEE B4.087 B0 BT

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)



33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The following share options were outstanding under the 2012
Scheme during the year: (Continued)

Number of shares issuable**
PRIz RNGE

Notes to the Financial Statements

RN

For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-ZF-FF=H=+—HIFFE

33. MERR R (2
R =T — — A BIE TR AR
M ()

Date of Exercise Exercise
At Granted  Cancelled ~ Adjustment  Exercised At grant of period price of
1 April during during ~ for share during 31 March share of share share
2018 the year the year ~ consolidation the year 2019 options* options  options**
RIE-N% #RA RZZ-0E ) BiE R BiE
mA-B  EARE  EREE SHEE FRHE ZA=T-8 RiLEH s ke
‘000 000 ‘000 ‘000 000 000 HKS$ per share
TR T T TH TH TH BREE
019 =F-1E
Directors %
In aggregate 43T 100,000 - - (90,000) - 10,000 23-4-2015 23-4-2015 to 22-4-2025 4.90%**
“E-REMA-TZH -E-REMA-tZRE
ZECREMAZTZA
In aggregate 43T - 739998 (739,998) - - - 2072018 20-7-2018 t0 19-7-2028 0.10
ZZ-NErAZtE ZT-\EtACTHEZ
ZRINFLATAA
In aggregate 43T - 739,998 - (66599%) - 74,000 6-8-2018 6-8-2018 to 5-8-2028 1.02%%x*
ZE2-\EN\RA ZZ2-NENARER
“ZZ\EN\ARA
Total 83 100,000 1,479,9% (739,998)  (755,998) - 84,000
Weighted average exercise price HK$4.90 HK$1.02 HK$1.01 - - HK$1.48
EFHEE Elior BB B0 AT
Employees (ES
In aggreqate 43 - 370,000 (370,000) - - - 20-7-2018 20-7-2018 to 19-7-2028 0.101
“3-\EtAztH ZE-\EtA-fRHE
ZENELATAR
In aggreqgate 43 - 370,000 - (333,000 - 37,000 6-8-2018 6-8-2018 to 5-8-2028 1.02%%x*
“Z-N\E/\ARA ZE-\EN\R/HE
“Z_\E/\A1H
Total £ - 740,000 (370,000 (333,000) - 37,000
Weighted average exercise price - HK§1.02 HKS1.01 - - HKS1.02
mEFEE AR AR EL00
Non-employees #(EE
In aggregate &3t 588,276 - - (529,448) - 58,828 23-4-2015 23-4-2015 to 22-4-2025 4.90%**
ZE-REMA-TZR ZE-REMA-1ZRE
ZRCREMAZTZE
In aggregate 43t - 156,817 (156,817) - - - 20-7-2018 20-7-2018 to 19-7-2028 0.101
ZE-N\EtA-tR I N\EtA-TBEE
ZEZ\ELATAR
In aggregate 43t - 156,817 - (141,136) - 15,681 6-8-2018 6-8-2018 to 5-8-2028 1.02% %%
ZE-\EN\R/A “E-\EN\RSBE
“ZZ\EN\ARA
Total 8 588,276 313,634 (156,817)  (670,584) - 74,509
Weighted average exercise price HK$4.90  HKS1.02  HK§1.01 - - HK$4.08
ETRAEE EBaor BB B0 4087

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

* The vesting period of the share options was from the date
of grant until the commencement of the exercise period.

**  The exercise price and the number of the shares options
are subject to adjustment in the case of rights or bonus
issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share
capital.

*** At the date of grant, the exercise price of the share
options was HK$0.490 per share. The exercise price was
adjusted to HK$4.90 per share following the share
consolidation became effective on 12 November 2018.

***% At the date of grant, the exercise price of the share
options was HK$0.102 per share. The exercise price was
adjusted to HK$1.02 per share following the share
consolidation became effective on 12 November 2018.

On 23 April 2015, 200,000,000 and 488,275,820 share
options to subscribe for the ordinary shares in the capital of
the Company at an exercise price of HK$0.49 each were
granted by the Company to directors of the Company and non-
employees of the Group, respectively, under the 2012 Scheme.
During the year ended 31 March 2017, 100,000,000 share
options were transferred from share options granted to a
director to share options granted to a non-employee upon the
resignation of a director.

In July 2018, 1,266,815,134 share options to subscribe for the
ordinary shares in the capital of the Company at an exercise
price of HK$0.101 each were granted by the Company to
certain eligible persons, including directors of the Company
and employees of the Group under the 2012 Scheme and were
fully cancelled on 31 July 2018.

In August 2018, 1,266,815,134 share options to subscribe for
the ordinary shares in the capital of the Company at an
exercise price of HK$0.102 each were granted by the Company
to certain eligible persons, including directors of the Company
and employees of the Group under the 2012 Scheme. As a
result of the share consolidation became effective on 12
November 2018, the exercise price of the share option granted
in August 2018 was adjusted to HK$1.02 each and the number
of ordinary shares attributable to the share options granted on
6 August 2018 was adjusted to 126,681,513 shares.

33. MERRHERTE (2

S ERE R 2 BB B A B
ETERFEB/L-

o fRETTHASRAL IR I T AR ER
AEEMBUES WEBREZTT
FEEMBKBEATHE-

x NRHHE BRENTEERER
0490 - R ZE—N\F+— A
TZEROAEFERE 1TEERAE
BERE®A90TT -

oo MR H R BERENITEEATR
BEE0 102 R E—NF+— A
TZARMNEFERE  TEERE
BERABE1.027T-

RZEBE—AENA-+=0 -A2F1EE
—E—FFEDRRAARREE AL
B3E®EE®RLE200,000,0001

488,275,820 BERR#E - AR AR R IR A
PR TR BOITEESB049T - HE
TE—+FZA=ZF+—HUIEFE R—F
BEEF{E1% - 100,000,000 B EHZ T
EENEREEARTIERENBRE-

RZZ—N\F+ A 1,266,815,1341) Al 4%
ITEEESREE0. 101 TREBAR R RAS
LTRRMERE AARRREBE_Z—=
FHEBRTETEAEBRAL (BEAAR
BEERAEEER) YHRZZT—NFLA
—t+—REREEHE-

RZZFE—N\F/\A " 1,266,815,134p A %
ITEBEIBE0.102 TREAR R RIAL A G
REBROBRE BEAARRE-Z
—ZFFERTETEEBALT(BER
REEERAEEEER) - RN E R
T E-NF+—A+-HBHEY PN _Z
—N\FNABREHNEREITFEED AR
BEREE1.02T RZE—N\F/NAAX
AERENMERERMMNETARSBE AR
/4126,681,5130% °
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34.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2020, no share option was
granted, exercised or cancelled and 79,613,463 number of
share options were lapsed under the 2012 Scheme.
2,533,630,268 share options were granted in July and August
2018, 1,266,815,134 share options were cancelled in July 2018
and no share option was exercised or lapsed during the year
ended 31 March 2019.

In December 2020, notices were given to each existing share
option holder according to the terms of the share option
scheme (adopted by the resolution of the Company’s
shareholders on 31 August 2012) to exercise their share
options until close of business on 15 January 2021.

As at 31 March 2020, the Company had 115,895,632 (2019:
195,509,095) shares issuable under outstanding options
granted under 2012 Scheme which represented approximately
6.2% (2019: 12.5%) of the Company’s shares in issue as at
that date. The exercise in full of the outstanding share options
would, under the present capital structure of the Company,
result in the issue of 115,895,632 (2019: 195,509,095)
additional ordinary shares of the Company and additional share
capital of approximately HK$1,159,000 (2019: HK$1,955,000)
and share premium of approximately HK$345,306,000 (2019:
HK$464,515,000) (before issue expenses).

RESERVES

(@) The reconciliation between the opening and closing
balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity.

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves
(i) Share premium account

The application of the share premium account is
governed by the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands. Under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands, the funds in share premium account are
distributable to shareholders of the Company
provided that immediately following the date on
which the dividend is proposed to be distributed,
the Company will be in a position to pay off its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

33.

34.

MR E 2
HE_2 _ZFF=A EJF*ELtiE*‘*E}f
EmEERERD - ‘Ei‘a‘fﬁﬁ&
79,613 463f\ﬁ%HxTEE$E'<%F —E?Jr
2|5 - 2,533,630, 268PE§H>JE-EEJJ-A
—N\FEARNAETR,266, 815 1341
BRECR_Z—N\FLATEHE RE2
T-NFZA=Z+—HIFEREER
EEATFE SRR -

R-_ZB_FFE+_R- @Tfﬁﬁﬂx%ﬁiﬂ(&
ARABRZRBENR_-_ZT——F/\A
=+— EI%%)Z%?XEF?XEEEB%HQ%
FAEAZELBEN AR _T-—F—H
THREXRERER ZATTERS ZBK
-

N-ZZE-_TFE=ZA=+—H AQaRE
ZE - FFEIE T ARITE B ] BT
115,895,632 & MH (ZZF — N F:
195,509,095% fx 10 ) - B E N E A AR A &
BETERMDH6.2% (ZF— L F:
12.5% ) - RIFARNRIIREEAZRE - 84
RITEZBIREEE2EITFE - EEHEEN
% 97115,895,632K (=& — hF:
195,509,0950% ) AN A 7] & 3 A% - 715 A% A
4) 881,159,000t (ZE—NF: BK
1,955,0007C) R R 10w (B 49 8 &
345,306,000t (= — NF B
464,515,0007T) (ARIMBREEITHAZ) ©

5
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34. RESERVES (continued) 34. &%§ (=)
(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued) (b)y MREMNHEBENERN(£E)

(i) Convertible instruments equity reserve (i) B[R T AfE 7 E
The convertible instruments equity reserve MR T ERSFHEEEANRR
represents the value of the unexercised equity BT R T REARITERE
component of convertible instruments issued by the mEb D 2 BIE - LA BB T
Company. The reserve is dealt with in accordance AW FTE B ETBUREIE
with accounting policies set out in note 2.4(w).
(iii)  Share option reserve (iii)  BEARIERFE
The share option reserve represents the portion of BhiERHBERTEERKS2H
the grant date fair value of unexercised share EORITEBRENE L B
options granted to eligible participants that has B AFER B IRBHE2.40)
been recognised in accordance with the accounting BRANRGO BERNFN R
policy adopted for share-based payments in note R EREE D o
2.4(s).
(iv) Capital redemption reserve (iv) B AIE[EfFE
In prior years, the Company repurchased its own RBEFE ARaBREES
ordinary shares and those repurchased shares were LR FriEE A IR A o
cancelled. The premium payable on repurchase was RERNEMNEESHRD R
charged against the share premium account and BERPHR TEEZEARED
transferred to the capital redemption reserve. i 1
(v)  Distributable reserve (v) AR RFE
The distributable reserve arose from prior years A RFEERBEIFEE
including: B
(a) the Company effected a capital reorganisation (a) ARFAIETEREH P
which involved (i) consolidation of shares; (ii) K& & 0« (i) & A Hl
capital reduction; and (iii) the application of W R (i) ZEDREER
the credit arising from such reduction towards HEIRFEANA RG] H
the distributable reserve of the Company; DIREEE:
(b) deemed disposals of partial interests in (b) R AEM IEFERS 4 25 H SR
subsidiaries to non-controlling interests; EPNSIEoE=IoR - Sk
() acquisition of additional interest in subsidiaries () MIFE4ERS #E a W BB BT B A
from non-controlling interests; AR FEIMESRS
(d) a transfer from distributable reserve towards (dy WA RFEEBEEARD
the retained profits of the Company; and AMRE A &
(e) share of reserve of associates. (e) D fhEGE R AFEM -
(vi) Special reserve (i) HFIREE

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)

The special reserve represents the difference
between the aggregate amount of the share capital
and share premium account of a company which
was the former holding company of the Group and
the nominal value of the Company's shares issued
pursuant to the group reorganisation in 1992.

Frhlf# s —E R RSB ZE
B2 B R 2 B) 2 B Ko B s
BiRMAERE BN ZFR
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34. RESERVES (continued)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)
(vii) Statutory reserve

In accordance with the PRC regulations, all of the
Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are required to
transfer part of their profit after tax to the statutory
surplus reserve, which are non-distributable, before
profit distributions are made. The amounts of the
transfers are subject to the approval of the board of
directors of these companies in accordance with
their articles of association.

(viii) Available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve

(ix)

(x)

Prior to 1 April 2018, this reserve comprisesd the
cumulative net change in the fair value of available-
for-sale financial assets held at the end of the
reporting period in accordance with HKAS 39. This
amount has been reclassified to retained profits
upon the initial adoption of HKFRS 9 at 1 April
2018.

Investment revaluation reserve (non-recycling)

The investment revaluation reserve (non-recycling)
comprises the cumulative net change in the fair
value of equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income under HKFRS
9 that is held at the end of the reporting period (see
note 2.4(i)).

Exchange fluctuation reserve

The exchange fluctuation reserve comprises all
foreign exchange differences arising from translating
foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies set out in
note 2.4(v).

34. | (=)
(b) REHMEERB® (E)
(vii) A E I ff
RRPEES  AEBETEDN
P76 BB 2 )R A s A 0 R
Al ARG RN — 50 8
NETEBGRE ZHEETAD
k- BREBAKZEARES
SRRHEABE AR E-

A EREE B
R-T—N\FMOA—HA %R
BERRRE LS ERE39
FRBEHRFEOAHRLE
TREEZAFEREHF
BM-R-_T-\FOA-BER
ER BBV ®EERFEIWR
% ZEeWMEENMOBERE R
Rl o

(viii)

KREE G E (TEHK)
RESHEFHE (TR 2ER
BERRBEORBETEYH
HEERFESRIETE /B BEM
2 WA AR B I R & B i
REZAHERFEEHFHE (L
Bt 3E2.4G) ) o
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(x) SMNESE B
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35. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

(a) During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group
acquired 36.17% equity interest in Imagination for a
consideration of HK$144,500,000. The consideration was
settled by cash of HK$100,000,000 and a promissory
note with principal amount of HK$44,500,000, which
was repayable upon completion date. Such promissory
note was fully repaid in June 2018.

(b) During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group entered
into an agreement with Entity A, pursuant to which Entity
A agreed to allot and issue its consideration shares,
representing approximately 19.32% of the total issued
share capital of Entity A at a consideration of
HK$600,000,000 and the Group agreed to return a
promissory note with principal amount of
HK$600,000,000 to Entity A for cancellation. The
transaction was completed in April 2018.

36. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2019, bank borrowings of approximately
RMB20,365,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$23,813,000)
were secured by bank deposits of RMB20,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$23,387,000) and with a corporate
guarantee given by an independent third party and charges
over client’s pledged securities. Other borrowings of
approximately RMB5,559,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$6,500,000) were secured by certain finance lease
receivables with carrying amount of approximately
RMB9,846,000 (equivalent to HK$11,513,000). As disclosed in
note 2.1 to these consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company deconsolidated the bank borrowings
and other borrowings of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries from
the consolidated financial statements of the Group since 1
April 2019.

As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, US$90,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$702,000,000) of other borrowings were
secured by the shares in the capital of certain wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company, 20% equity interest of Wins
Finance held by the Group and personal guarantees given by
Mr. Zhang and his spouse.

35. ¥ BFBREXH

(@) BE-_ZT—hAhF=ZA=+—81tHF
B AEBEKEImagination
36.17%lBAER REABE
144,500,0007C - RELAIR & B K&
100,000,000t R A& 58 A B &
44,500,0007C W& K 245 (ZAR K
HHEE) YN ZARLEEN-Z
—NFRNABHEE-

by BEZZ—NF=ZA=+—HLIHF
[E - AEBEEEAR Y —OE B
- BERBABENLNRES K
600,000,000 fid 2% K 21T E R B
B (HERERBANZ IS EITRA
#919.32% )  AEBERE A LB A
75 #600,000,0007T K% X IR RIE
FEBAFHE ZXHIRN_ZE—NF
M A5 °

36. REEH
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20,000,0007T (48 & 74 49 7% 23,387,000
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FIWA—BRBRBEEGRE ARNB AT 2
RITEEREMEEIEREAFTARER
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36. PLEDGE OF ASSETS (continued)

37.

As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, the First Convertible Bonds,
which were transferred to other borrowings during the year
ended 31 March 2020, were secured by 30% equity interest of
Wins Finance held by the Group. As at 31 March 2020 and
2019, the Second Convertible Bonds, which were transferred to
other borrowings during the year ended 31 March 2020, were
secured by approximately 12.17% equity interest of the
Securities Company held by the Group.

As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, the Convertible Notes, which
were transferred to other borrowings during the year ended 31
March 2020, and the Notes were secured by certain listed
shares held by the Group (2019: Nil), certain shares in the
capital of a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
approximately 17.26% (2019: 7.26%) equity interest of Wins
Finance held by the Group, certain shares of the Company held
by Mr. Zhang and personal guarantees given by Mr. Zhang and
his spouse.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

Before the deconsolidation of subsidiaries as detailed in note
2.1 to these consolidated financial statements, certain
Deconsolidated Subsidiaries provide loan guarantee services to
enterprises and individuals in the PRC. As at 31 March 2019,
the Group had contracts in relation to loan guarantee business
of approximately HK$296,054,000 in which approximately
HK$2,884,000 was recognised as guarantee compensation
provision in the consolidated statement of financial position.

36.

37.
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38.

39.

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

As lessee

The Group leased staff quarters and office premises under
operating lease arrangements. The leases for the properties are
negotiated for terms ranging from one to three years.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had total future minimum
lease payments under the non-cancellable operating leases
falling due as follows:

38.

EEHRNVRHE

fEBARA
AEERECEEORHEEEIEER
WAEME - MERE T AREREEAN
F-E=%o

RZZE-NAF=ZA=+—H0 AEERE
NAHEE LM 2 RRFEHEE N RE
BMZEHBERET

2019
—E—NF
HK$'000
BET T

—FA

Within one year
In the second year to fifth year, inclusive

The Group is the lessee in respect of staff quarters and office
premises held under leases which were previously classified as
operating leases under HKAS 17. The Group has initially
applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach.
Under this approach, the Group adjusted the opening balances
at 1 April 2019 to recognise lease liabilities relating to these
leases (see note 2.2). From 1 April 2019 onwards, future lease
payments are recognised as lease liabilities in the consolidated
statement of financial position in accordance with the policies
set out in note 2.4(h).

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Saved as the transactions and arrangements disclosed
elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had
no other material transactions with related parties during
the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

(b) Compensation of key management personnel of the

E_FEERF (BEEEMT)

39.

16,001
16,295

32,296

AEESERREESGHEAUFETHRD
BEAREMENEOTHANBEIEER
MAEYMRZABA-AEBEERELE
FUEWEERERE BB RELENFE16
5o R A ARECDHBER TN
FHOA—-BOBNGER NEREZER
mEBENEEREBE(AME22) -B=F
—NFMNA— B REBEE N FIR M
FE2.A(h) FTELUR IR & BA TSRO 3R AR
REERE-

MEAXS

(a) BRRFUBHRREMIBOMBE 2R
GREHIN REBRBE-_ZT_-F
FRZZ-NEF=ZA=+—HBILFE
HEETTEEBERNRS -

by AEBEXZEEABZHBH:

Group:

2020 2019
—E-EE —E-hF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Fees e 926 840
Short-term employee benefits HEIEBRET 16,109 15,744
Post-employment payments RIKTE A 85 89
Equity-settled share option expense NEREEBERE A - 45,296

Total compensation paid to key EMEEERAB LN 2 BN
management personnel 17,120 61,969

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in note 9
to these financial statements.

EEMe v E—PHBERNZEYBHRE
M 5E9 ©

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)
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B 7% 3 2k Y A
For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-ZF-FF=H=+—HIFFE
40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 40. ZF B S cE&MIR
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RI|ERAR - FENzeBITAZREE
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as [N
follows:
2020
—EF=-FF
Financial assets
SREE
Financial Financial
assets assets
at fair value  at fair value
through through other
profit or loss comprehensive
income
BERHAM
ERERZNL 2EAKRAN
AFEGR AFETE
ZEREE ZEREE
Financial
assets
Held for Equity  at amortised
trading  investments cost Total
REHAAK
SIiR2
HIFEE RERE EREE “z
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BB T BB BT T
Other financial assets EtemEE - 686,005 - 686,005
Accounts receivable & U BE X - - 22,005 22,005
Loans receivable EWEH - - 143,040 143,040
Financial assets included in prepayments, BERERFE %4 K
deposits and other receivables HitRWE s e BEE - - 78,779 78,779
Investments at fair value through BRERNATEIIRZRE
profit or loss 3,071 - - 3,071
Cash and bank balances Be LT - - 149,605 149,605

3,071 686,005 393,429 1,082,505

RBETHBMRERAR QXA (CSEEHEFELA) 197
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HZ=-F-FTF=H=+—HIFFE

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(Continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as T ()

follows: (Continued)

2020 (Continued)

40. BENBIS &M TI R (&)

RBERR SEHZeMTAZEREE

—E_ZF(£E)
Financial liabilities
SEes
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
2 $ 88 BR AR
FIERZ
SRas
HK$'000
BT T
Accounts payable FE T BR 5R 14,437
Financial liabilities included in other payables BIEREMEMNFIERESTEA
and accruals JEmManE 664,852
Interest-bearing borrowings ATEEE 2,755,687
Lease liabilities HEAE 13,277
3,448,253

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)
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MR
For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-ZF-FF=H=+—HIFFE
40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 40. BB B2z I A (&)
(Continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RBERR SBAzeMmITACZERAA
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as T ()
follows: (Continued)
2019
—E-NEF
Financial assets
DEREE
Financial
assets
at fair value
Financial assets through other
at fair value through comprehensive
profit or loss income
BREM
EBBERN 2EBA
ATES&R IR TES|E&
LEREE LEREE
Financial
assets
Held for Equity at amortised
trading Others investments cost Total
g Sl
il
BEEE £ iR E PRHEE ke
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BB BB BB BETIL BB
Other financial assets EeREE - 1,148,314 1,602,947 - 2,751,261
Accounts receivable IR - - - 73,767 73,767
Factoring receivables EURE B - - - 308,525 308,525
Loans receivable ElER - - - 446,555 446,555
Finance lease receivables EUHRERENR - - - 863,326 863,326
Financial assets included in BERBNFTE RER
prepayments, deposits and other ~ EfiENFEZ S REE
receivables - - - 120,561 120,561
Investments at fair value through ~ BBBHEAATEJIE 2% E
profit or loss 23,531 - - - 23,531
Restricted bank deposits REHRTER - - - 157,312 157,312
Cash and bank balances Be kBT - - - 222,143 222,143

23,531 1,148,314 1,602,947 2,192,189 4,966,981

RETHPMRERAR QAR (EEEHRFEFLA) 199
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(Continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as
follows: (Continued)

2019 (Continued)

40. BENBIS &M TI R (&)

RBEHR SEH 2T A ZKREE
mr ()

ZE-NF(#&)
Financial liabilities
TREE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
birg: Xz DN
HER 2
cRBE
HK$'000
BT T
Accounts payable FETBR 5K 17,608
Financial liabilities included in other payables BREREMEMNFIBERETER
and accruals ZEmAaE 159,576
Interest-bearing borrowings ATEEE 1,398,756
Convertible instruments g T A 1,347,922
2,923,862

41. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group's
financial instruments measured at the end of the reporting
period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair
value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13 Fair Value
Measurement. The level into which a fair value measurement is
classified is determined with reference to the observability and
significance of the inputs used in the valuation technique as
follows:

Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1
inputs, that is, unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date.

Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs,
that is, observable inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and not
using significant unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are
inputs for which market data are not available.

Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant
unobservable inputs.

41.

EMIRZAFERLAFER
*

AV EER

TREFREE HRAEBIRSEEREE
ENSMTAZATE(DABERBH
ERABIBRATESERETN=RDT
BER) - ALEFEDENRFI LB
AT B A BUE 2 TS M R E A
M- AT R

F-EBHE EERF-E@AZUE (AR
SAEAHARMS LEREEXAEBENR
HERE)HTENRFE

F_EMAE EERE_ERARE (BT
MaFE—EFFENTBRERARE)  TME
REBATABRBHARBAENAFE T
AEEEABREENSBIENEARE-

E=EfE EAEATTBREGAME
HEHDFE-

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)



41. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The Group uses independent valuers to perform valuations of
financial instruments which are categorised into Level 3 of the
fair value hierarchy. Valuation reports with analysis of changes
in fair value measurement are prepared by the independent
valuers and are reviewed and approved by the directors of the
Company. Discussion of the valuation process and results with
the directors of the Company is held to coincide with the
reporting dates.

Assets measured at fair value:

Notes to the Financial Statements
B 75 3R 3= B &

For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-ZF-FF=H=+—HIFFE
M. ERMTRAZAFERAFEE
w2
ATFEEBR(EF)

AEENABLGEEMEOEE,
Braom TAETHE
B EZSOMOBEREHE

WE=

$@F
2HA
i

e WHAR ﬁ%%%ﬁﬁ&ﬁt}& o HER
BERHBEARTESHREERRF RE
%O

mRFEFENEE:

Fair value measurement using

EAUT&E A FEFE

Quoted
prices  Significant  Significant
in active  observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ER OBAUERE EATAEE
S RE 0ARE LN ¢
(%—18) (B=F) (%=F8) FEk]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BET T
As at 31 March 2020: R-ZZE-ZZEF=A=+—8:
Other financial assets Hih o FlEE 25,704 - 660,301 686,005
Investments at fair value through ~ BEBBZURFETIEZKE
profit or loss 3,071 - - 3,071
28,775 - 660,301 689,076
As at 31 March 2019: RZE-NE=RA=+—8:
Other financial assets Hih o pdE 29,454 1,148,314 1,573,493 2,751,261
Investments at fair value through ~ BBBFZUA R FEIIEZRE
profit or loss 23,531 - - 23,531
52,985 1,148,314 1,573,493 2,774,792
The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair RZE_ZEFR_T-NF=ZR=+—

value as at 31 March 2020 and 2019.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, there were no transfers
of fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and
no transfers into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and
liabilities (2019: Nil). The Group's policy is to recognise
transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the and of
the reporting period in which they occur.

B AKEYETFAZIFEFENSR
BfE-

BE—
Fﬂﬁé&ﬁﬁﬁ’]% BHE—

—EE=A=t—ALFE
g

BHEYEER TUBEARBHE=

B(=%—

HBER

AHFER
RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ

41. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 41. EMTRARZLAFERLAFEE

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurement
Unlisted equity investment is measured using valuation
techniques based on inputs that can be observed in the
markets in addition to unobservable inputs such as company
specific financial information.

The Group uses the key inputs of market comparable
companies, which include such valuation multiple and recent
transaction price, to determine the fair value of the unlisted
equity investment as at 31 March 2020 and 2019. The
unobservable inputs are valuation multiple, marketability
discount and minority discount. Valuation multiple represents
price-to-book ratio. The higher the valuation multiple, the
lower the discounts for lack of marketability or minority, the
higher the fair value.

No sensitivity analysis is disclosed for the impact of changes in
the relevant unobservable data as the directors of the Company

considers that the exposure is insignificant to the Group.

The movements during the period in the balance of the Level 3
fair value measurement are as follows:

Unlisted equity investments

W’ =)

AFEBR(E)
E=FAFPEHBEZEN

I IR EERNTIE A EBRNEG
ABE URAFABEHEERN SRS
B A SIS 5 LR E

AEEERATHAIE LR AR BERE A
g (ERHERBOBRSER)EE
FLETRERENR T _ZEFR-_FT—N
F=ZA=+—BZAFE - TABEEHA
BB RMAERE mHRBMETER DB
PRS- (HERBIEMRE - AEFHY
= R Z T 5 R 1 Bk ) B O BT SR
K> RFELS-

TEFIERTTBRBEE DTSR
BEEHN RERAANEFRAR
A EETE L TEA -

=
[2,

E=-BAVEIBES Y HAEHNT

ELTIRERE
2020 2019
—EZEF —ZET-NE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
At 1 April RMEA—H 1,573,493 -
Initial application of HKFRS 9 (note) BRERBEMBRELRER
F95% (Mz) - 670,969
Additions NE - 600,000
Net unrealised gains or losses recognised in 4 P E fh 2 [ 4R A FE R H) & &35 UK
other comprehensive income wmel EEFEE
during the year (913,192) 302,524
At 31 March R=A=+—H 660,301 1,573,493

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-ZF-FF=H=+—HIFFE

41. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurement

(Continued)
Note:

Before the adoption of HKFRS 9, the unlisted equity investments were
measured at cost less impairment losses. As permitted by HKFRS 9, the
Group has designated the investment at the date of initial application
as measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. As a
result, the unlisted equity investments were reclassified from available-
for-sale financial assets to financial assets measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income (non-recycling) with a fair value
of HK$670,969,000 at 1 April 2018.

From 1 April 2018, any gain or loss arising from the remeasurement of
the Group’s unlisted equity investments held for strategic purposes are
recognised in the investment revaluation reserve (non-recycling) in
other comprehensive income. Upon disposal of the equity investment,
the amount accumulated in other comprehensive income/loss is
transferred directly to retained profits/accumulated losses. Prior to 1
April 2018, any gain or loss arising from the disposal of the unlisted
equity investments were presented in profit or loss.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments carried at
cost or amortised cost are not materially different from their fair values
as at 31 March 2020 and 2019.

A EMTRZAFERLTFERE

i’z
AFEBR (£)
E=FAFEHBZEN (&)

B & -

RNE BB IMEERFA - IF LR
BERAREREBRAE -REBUBRE
ERFORMFR AREC R ERER B ##
ZREEERBEBEMEERANRFETR
FPE-RiL FLmRERACHARHE SR
BESTHNBREBEMEZEKAURFET
RitEgzemEE (AR R-T—-N\FHQ
A—H®RATFERAE670,969,0007T ©

B-E-NFHA A BAREEFERR
REMFLTRBRESHAEEENEMK
mEER REMEERATREEGRHE (T
Bl fER - HERBERER REME2EEA
SEERNSREREARERRN, BB
B-RZZE-N\FMOA—BF - BEIF LR
REEENEMNRAIBEERERZY -

R-IE_TEFN-_T-hAhF_A=+—H X«
EEEK AN HERAARNESBR T ANER
HERAEANFEIEERNER -

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)

203



204

Notes to the Financial Statements
BF 75 3 3} B &

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ

42. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified

42 MEEHFREEHARBIE

TRALAKEREZDMELENARE
8 ERRERIRCEE - MERDHE
ENRBEREARESFERERERTRE
MEBBEDERIARKRERERDER

in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash
flows from financing activities.

MEARBAELNASRNEE

Interest
payable
included
in other Interest-
payables and Lease Convertible bearing
accruals liabilities instruments borrowings Total
BEREM
BARER
EER
ZERFE HEBE TRRIA HERBE ok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT BT BETT BT
At 1 April 2019 RZZE-NENA-H 26,324 - 1347922 1398756 2,773,002
Effect arising form adoption of RMEBTBREER
HKFRS 16 FIOREENTE - 24,098 - - 24,098
At 1 April 2019 (restated) RZZ-AFEA—-A
(271) 26,324 24,098 1,347,922 1,398,756 2,797,100
Payment of lease rentals YHRfE - (13,932) - - (13,932)
Total changes from financing cash AFERER SR HAH
flows for the year - (13,932) - - (13,932)
Other changes: Hith &
Finance costs MEKA 551,040 3,11 129,439 - 683,590
Interest paid BERFLE (22,973) - (5,596) - (28,569)
Exchange adjustment fE 5L RE 98 - 77 - 175
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries BEGRE AR B R A] (190) - - (30,313) (30,503)
Transfer to borrowings BRERERENTE
and interests payable - - (1,471,842) - (1,471,842)
Transfer from convertible BRATRRIA
instruments 84,598 - - 1,387,244 1,471,842
At 31 March 2020 RZZE-ZF=A=+—-H 638,897 13,277 - 2,755,687 3,407,861

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)



42. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-ZF-FF=H=+—HIFFE

42. MEEBMEENARYIE

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (continued) (#&)
Interest
payable
included
in other Interest-
payables and  Convertible bearing
accruals instruments borrowings Total
BRENEM
A RIER
FEsT &R
ZESRNE wB®ERIA FFEEE A
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT
At 1 April 2018 RZE-N\FWOA—H 7,584 1,025,423 2,080,823 3,113,830
Proceeds from issue of BAABRRTAEZEHIEA
convertible instruments - 185,847 - 185,847
Repayment of borrowings EEEE - - (669,510) (669,510)
Total changes from financing cash AFEMER &R HEHE
flows for the year - 185,847 (669,510) (483,663)
Other changes: Hofth 5
Finance costs RE A 123,305 211,336 - 334,641
Interest paid BERFE (104,565) (50,177) - (154,742)
Classified as equity component DEEERID - (17,274) - (17,274)
Conversion option exercised FRITENBRE
during the year - (6,579) - (6,579)
Modification gain on AR ES 2 BT W
convertible bonds - (654) - (654)
Exchange adjustment BEE 5, 3 B - - (12,557) (12,557)
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NF=A=+—8 26,324 1,347,922 1,398,756 2,773,002

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ

43. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND LITIGATION

(a)

Wins Finance was a deconsolidated subsidiary of the
Group and certain of its executive officers were named as
defendants in two civil securities lawsuits filed in two U.S.
District Courts (the “Lawsuit A” and the “Lawsuit B”,
collectively referred to as the “Lawsuits”) in April 2017.
Both Lawsuits were putative class action lawsuits where
plaintiffs’ counsels sought to represent the entire class of
shareholders who acquired Wins Finance’s securities
between 29 October 2015 and 29 March 2017. Both
Lawsuits asserted the same statutory violations under the
U.S. Securities Exchange Act, alleged, in sum and
substance, that the defendants made false and
misleading statements, or failed to disclose material facts,
in Wins Finance's prospectuses, press releases, and filings
with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the
“SEC") in connection with its growth, business prospects
and the adequacy of its internal controls. The Lawsuits
also alleged that Wins Finance misrepresented the
location of its principal executive office in the SEC filings.
The Lawsuits further alleged that Wins Finance's stock
price fell when the alleged misstatements or omissions
became known to investors. The plaintiffs sought
unspecified monetary damages, including interest, costs
and attorney’s fees and other relief as the court deemed
just.

In July 2017, the plaintiffs of Lawsuit A filed a notice to
the U.S. District Court declaring that Lawsuit A is
voluntarily dismissed, without prejudice and without costs
to any party, and the court subsequently terminate
Lawsuit A. Accordingly, the directors of Wins Finance
considered no contingent liabilities would arise from
Lawsuit A.

43. LA A R R AR AR

(a)

RZE—+F M A Wins Finance
(BAEEz—HEEUBEGRE AKRKEB
REDREETHITABERMEER
HEEREEAMRTREEEZESFFL
([FFAAIRTEFB] 58 A %
EZFD) PN B S - ZFFRH
BETEERA REZASRKAE
RZE-—RFTAZTHLAEZZ
—tF =R+ HEMEE T Wins
Finances® M) 2 BEAR H - ;25 Fants
FRAERBHFR X)) BTHAER
EEEBBRITR BRMEZEBHEERE
Wins FinanceMIBIRER - FTER K
MERBARFZES ([ZEBE
RO XHHRERT B EE
R EBIskRNZERZENEBRR
PRBMRR  SRRE R EREERS
H o2 EFFFATNER - Wins Financeft
RBRFERFEG R U E BRIl
THEZHITABRNME - ZEFNR
R SAEERRAER
W% B E K% - Wins FinanceR) %
BETH® RESKEBEATNEER
& BEFE KA EEEBRERR
BIEEHEMEE -

RZZE—EF+ A FRANRE M
EBRIARIER B BFEP IR
AR —FNZEE IR EAE
EAFE EFBERKLIEFRA
It Wins Finance® £R5 ' sF sAAT
SEERAEE-
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43. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND LITIGATION
(Continued)

(a)

(Continued)

In June 2017, the court issued an order appointing lead
plaintiffs and lead counsel for Lawsuit B. In August 2017,
lead plaintiffs of Lawsuit B filed an amended class action
complaint. The amended complaint claimed against Wins
Finance for securities fraud purportedly arising from
alleged misrepresentations concerning its principal
executive offices (which alleged misrepresentations
resulted in Wins Finance being added to, and then
removed from, the Russell 2000 index). In October 2017,
Wins Finance moved to dismiss the amended complaint
for failure to state a claim against it. In March 2018, the
court issued an order to deny Wins Finance’s motion to
dismiss. Thus, Lawsuit B proceeded to the fact gathering
stage. In June 2018, counsel for the parties appeared
before the court for an initial scheduling conference and
the court entered a schedule for discovery and additional
motions. In July 2018, the plaintiffs filed with the court
proof of summons and amended complaint against
certain individual defendants and in August 2018, such
individual defendants moved to dismiss the amended
complaint for failure to state a claim against them. In
September 2018, the lead plaintiffs filed a motion
seeking class certification. In that motion, the lead
plaintiffs did not specify the amount of alleged class-wide
damages, nor did they provide any methodology for the
calculation of the same. Wins Finance’s opposition to that
motion was due in December 2018. In October 2018, the
court issued an order dismissing the action against an
individual defendant without prejudice, for the lead
plaintiffs’ failure to timely serve such individual defendant
with the summons and amended complaint.

As a result of a private mediation conducted in November
2018, Wins Finance agreed in principle to settle the class
action, on behalf of all remaining defendant parties. The
Court granted preliminary approval of the settlement by
order entered in March 2019, and has rescheduled a final
settlement approval hearing on 18 May 2020.

As disclosed in note 2.1 to these consolidated financial
statements, control over Wins Finance was deemed to
have lost since 1 April 2019. Accordingly, the directors of
the Company have been unable to obtain sufficient
documentary information regarding the Lawsuits.

43. IRABRFDR (2)

(a)

(&)

RZZTE—+tFRA EZRBEMRTS
HFRBEEERERERE R ERM-
RZZE—tF N\ FRBNERER
ERREIEFTEBFARFE L8
R EF 4578 A B Wins Finance®
ZITHA BRE BRI AEHREFR
HRE (T8 E R B B Wins
Finance# 5] A Z& 2200045 1 - 1& ¥
FBEZEH) RZFE—EF+
A > Wins Finance®) 2 [ & gt ¥ & &
AREMBERLETRERFE - R
—NFE=ZR - ERBEMHHL BB
Wins Finance®J X B 8 3% o A It « 5F
ABETWESTERE -R_F—N
FRA - FHERMIER ) F
MEREERZ ZERERXERER
BN BARAERER RZZE—\F
+t A REHEETEARS ARE
Prie X EM B REEFTRFE  ©
ZE-NFNR ZEFEAHEEAD
FEREEHEHBAREMBKELEET
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—BEAWEARNFR mIEEF
BHEZEEFERE R RZEAW
HEAKZEMSMREEEETRFES -
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EANRA FRIEMFZERFA X
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43,

44,

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND LITIGATION

(Continued)

(b) The hearing of the Petition was adjourned to 19 April
2021. At this stage, there is no information to suggest
and hence may be premature for the Group to predict the
outcome of this hearing as well as any potential loss (if
any) that may arise.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise interest-
bearing borrowings, convertible instruments and cash and bank
balances. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to
raise finance for the Group's operations. The Group has various
other financial assets and liabilities such as finance lease
receivables, accounts receivable, loans receivable, factoring
receivables, financial assets included in prepayments, deposits
and other receivables, investments at fair value through profit
or loss, other financial assets, accounts payable, lease liabilities
and financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals,
which mainly arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, equity price risk
and currency risk. Management reviews and establishes policies
for managing each of these risks which are summarised below.

(a) Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to its interest-bearing financial assets and
liabilities. Interest-bearing financial assets are mainly bank
deposits primarily at floating interest rates which are
mostly short-term in nature whereas financial liabilities
are certain other borrowings at floating interest rates. The
Group's policy is to obtain the most favourable interest
rate available.

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to loans receivable, factoring receivables, certain
interest-bearing borrowings and convertible instruments.
Management considers the Group's exposure to fair value
interest rate risk is not significant due to the short term
maturities of these instruments.

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from cash
and bank balances, finance lease receivables and interest-
bearing borrowings.
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)

(a) Interest rate risk (Continued)

(i) Interest rate profile

Notes to the Financial Statements

RN

For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-ZF-FF=H=+—HIFFE

(a)

The following table details the interest rate profile
of the Group’s assets and liabilities at the end of the

reporting period:

44 MERBEEBHEERBE 2

RERR (#)

(i) FEER
TREMBEMAARBEE
BB O RIE SR

2020 2019
—E_EH —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Fixed interest rate & E Fl| &

Financial assets ERMEE
Loans receivable FEWE R 143,040 446,555
Factoring receivables B W AR IR FR I8 - 308,525
143,040 755,080

Financial liabilities Cal ==
Interest-bearing borrowings SFEEE 2,712,687 1,355,756
Convertible instruments ARG T A - 1,347,922
2,712,687 2,703,678

Net fixed interest rate financial

instruments (2,569,647) (1,948,598)
2020 2019
HK$ 000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Variable interest rate ] & F &
Financial assets THBEE
Finance lease receivables JEU B & T E 8
(non-current portion) (FERNEAEL ) - 480,063
Finance lease receivables JEU B & B E 8
(current portion) (BNEAEL 5 ) - 383,263
Cash at bank |ITIRE 149,605 222,143
Restricted bank deposits PR B ERITF K - 157,312
149,605 1,242,781
Financial liabilities Gl y=r=
Interest-bearing borrowings FFEEE 43,000 43,000
Net variable interest rate financial AN Eem T EFE
instruments 106,605 1,199,781
Fixed rate borrowings as a percentage EEFMEEEHBEENE DL
of total borrowings 98% 97%

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ

44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

(a) Interest rate risk (Continued)
(ii) Sensitivity analysis
The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from
interest-bearing borrowings. Interest-bearing
borrowings with variable rates expose the Group to
cash flow interest rate risk.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all
other variables held constant, of the Group’s loss

44 MERBEERBBAEFERBRE 2

(a) FEEARK(F)
(i) BEEDH
AEEMFERBREZRER
%%“‘Jrg%féf/v\zﬁé’%@%x

R & 2 & b

TRINRASEGR AR (£
/%%Fatiéfz FET)EAREZ
g/ (B B R 2 A s

before tax (through the impact on floating rate
interest-bearing borrowings) and the Group's equity/
(deficit).

mEZﬂWF
Hi BB

ERBREAA

o

Decrease/
Increase/ (increase) Decrease/
(decrease) in in loss (increase)
basis points before tax in deficit*
RR B AT
BEEigm, BRI, B AR,
OR2) (3 n) ($Zhn) *
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
2020 g e 353
Hong Kong dollar BT 25 (108) -
Hong Kong dollar BT (25) 108 -
Decrease/
Increase/ (increase) Increase/
(decrease) in in loss (decrease)
basis points before tax in equity*
R 35 Al
Eghigm, EBERL, REzIE I,
O: 2 (3gm) OB *
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
2019 —h%F
Hong Kong dollar BT 25 (108) -
Hong Kong dollar BT (25) 108 -
* Excluding accumulated losses * TRERFEE

The Group does not have an interest rate hedging
policy. However, the management monitors interest
rate exposure and will consider hedging significant
interest rate exposure should the need arises. The
directors consider the Group's exposure to cash flow
interest rate risk of bank deposits is not significant.

PN SYE i s D

i EIRE B RN R - I

E*ﬁ%ﬁ%%ﬁ%%)‘%%ﬂ#iﬁﬂ”
CEBERA- $’$lﬁﬁuuﬁﬁ

ﬁETTﬁa’Afﬁﬁmu A & [,k

Ko
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk

The Group’s major exposure to credit risk relates to
accounts receivable, loans receivable, finance lease
receivables, factoring receivables, financial assets included
in prepayments, deposits and other receivables and cash
and bank balances from default by the counterparties,
with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts
of these instruments.

The Group's accounts receivable, loans receivable and
factoring receivables (“loan business”) arise from the
ordinary course of business of the Group and are closely
monitored by the management on an ongoing basis.

(i)  Credit risk arising from loan business

The Group has taken measures to identify credit
risks arising from loan business. The Group manages
credit risk at every stage of the risk management
system, including pre-approval, review and credit
approval and post-transaction monitoring processes.
The Group conducts customer acceptance and due
diligence by business department and risk
management department during the pre-approval
process. A transaction may be subject to the review
and approval officer and the executive directors
depending on the transaction size.

During the post-transaction monitoring process, the
Group performs credit evaluations on each and
every major customer periodically. These evaluations
focus on the customer’s past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay, and
take into account information specific to the
customer as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customer operates. In
addition, the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model upon application of
HKFRS 9 on loan business individually or based on a
provision matrix. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer rather than the industry or country in
which the customers operate and therefore
significant concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant exposure to
individual customers.

44 MERBEEBHEERBE 2
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 44 . BRI EHEEEREER 2

AND POLICIES (continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) &R (&)
(i)  Credit risk arising from loan business () BREBELHEERRE
(Continued) (%)

At the end of reporting period, 84%, 100%, 0%
and 0% (2019: 49%, 79%, 78% and 60%) of the
total accounts receivable, loans receivable, finance
lease receivables and factoring receivables were due
from the Group's five largest debtors respectively
while 26%, 65%, 0% and 0% (2019: 11%, 32%,
45% and 15%) respectively were due from the
Groups' largest debtor.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from loan business are
disclosed in notes 20, 21 and 22 respectively, to
these financial statements.

(ii) Credit risk arising from guarantee business (ii)
The Group exposed to credit risk arising from
guarantee business which was engaged by the
Deconsolidated Subsidiaries. Before the
deconsolidation of subsidiaries as detailed in note
2.1 to these consolidated financial statements, the
Group adopts the same pre-approval, review and
credit approval risk management system for credit
risk arising from guarantee business. During the
post-transaction monitoring process, all guarantees
provided are backed by collateral (e.g., property
etc.) as security. The Group focuses on ascertaining
legal ownership and the valuation of the collateral.
As at 31 March 2019, a guarantee provided by the
Group is based on the value of the collateral and
generally approximates 37% of the estimated value
of the collateral. The Group monitors the value of
the collateral throughout the guarantee period.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)

REREHR  BUKERER  BIE
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BRI AR RI84%  100% * 0%
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11% 32% 45% 2 15% ) 2 Bl
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BN % F S R M A
202122 -

EREBELNEERRE

A& B ERBURGR A AR B
RAIREZEREBEEZ
EERR - RZFHEEMBRE
MYEE2. 1 Pttt 2 BUB SR & ABR
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

44 MERBEEBHEERBE 2

Credit risk (Continued) (b)y &R (&)
Credit risk arising from guarantee business (i) EREFBELEWEERLRE
(Continued) (4&)
An analysis of changes in the provision for BEEBERBEZ2ZH > TH
impairment loss is as follows: Ik
2019
—E-NF
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
FRE F2ME B FEIMEER B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT AT B¥EFr AETx
As at 1 April 2018 RZE—N\FMHHA—H 5,464 - - 5,464
Other remeasurement of B 18 B Y
loss allowance HtEH:tE (2,580) - - (2,580)
As at 31 March 2019 RZE—N%F
=A=+—H 2,884 - - 2,884
ECL rate BHEEEEEX 1% N/AT@ER NAT#ERB 1%

(iii)

The maximum exposure to credit risk in respect of
these financial guarantees at the end of the
reporting period is disclosed in note 37.

Other credit risk

In respect of other receivables, individual credit
evaluations are performed on all debtors requiring
credit over a certain amount. These evaluations
focus on the debtor's past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay, and
take into account information specific to the
debtors as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the debtor operates.

The credit risk on cash and bank balances and
restricted bank deposits is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

RBEEHREBELZFREER
M &= 5B R R M E37

==

go

L

(i) Rtz EmmE

SEL M MR IR T 5 - B 2 R
B-E2BENEENAEER
ANETEREERE - ZERT
HEERNER ABENNKE
SERBBEERERS  XERER
ARV E B R REH AL E T
EEROEHRE -

Be MRITHEBREIRBIRTT
FRHEERRAR  REZH
FHIREBEBRFAEBR TR
== AR RERT
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(iv) Impairment assessment

Accounts receivable from margin clients

The table below shows the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk of accounts
receivable from margin clients based on the Group’s
credit policy, which is mainly based on LTV unless
other information is available without undue cost or
effort, and year-end staging classification as at 31
March 2020 and 2019. The amounts presented are
carrying amounts for accounts receivable from

44 MERBEERBBAEFERBRE 2

(b)

FERR (&)

(iv)

1B EF A

EURHFREPER

TRITIKRZ=ZE=ZZ

FR-F

—NF=ZA=t—HREKTRE
EPRRERAKEEEFERE

MEEEERES

Rk (x

REREREBELE  RIFE
FEBEZRAXBNEAEFTE
BB AR FERIZFEER D -
N ESRARKATRER

margin clients. FRE) BRI (E -
2020
—ECEF
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A FE
FEFE TGENEARBGEESE
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
F1EER 20 R B3R Rk
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T BET T
Margin clients FREP
— LTV at 80% or above* - BEREEBLER
80% i JA E* 2,160 - - 2,160
- LTV between 70% -BREEBELEA
and 79% 70%%79% - - - -
~ LTV between 60% —EREBELER
and 69% 60%%69% 127 - - 127
— LTV less than 60% —EREEBLEER
60% 13,753 - - 13,753
16,040 - - 16,040

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)



44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements
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(b)

(iv) Impairment assessment (Continued)

Accounts receivable from margin clients (Continued)

44 MERBEEBHEERBE 2

FERR (&)
(iv) BEFE(E)
EURHFREPER (&)

2019
—ET-NF
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A 18 H
EEEE FEBHRBBEEBE
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
F1BE F2RE FE3ME B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BET T BETT BETT
Margin clients fREP
~ LTV at 80% or above* -BREEBRLEA
80% 3k A L+ 4,814 - - 4,814
— LTV between 70% -ERHEEBELEA
and 79% 70%%279% 515 - - 515
- LTV between 60% -BEREEBELEA
and 69% 60%%£69% 150 - - 150
— LTV less than 60% —BEFEBELEER
60% 20,374 - - 20,374
25,853 - - 25,853
* The directors of the Company considered all * ANREECEEETHBS

available material information without undue cost or

effort and determined these exposures to be

classified as stage 1.

AL A ES A
BERER  WETESZEFER
DIRBIEER -
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(iv) Impairment assessment (Continued)
Other financial assets, which are subject to ECL

assessment

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

44 MERBEERBBAEFERBRE 2
(b) EERBK (&)
(iv) BEFFE(Z)
HinemEE (AETEBEY
BB )
ANEE R SRR DRI

B AT R

Accounts receivable
and finance lease

Other financial

Internal credit rating Description receivables assets/other items
JFE W BR 3R K% HiherEE,
MEB1E A RE AR iR JE W it & 7H & IR HIE R
Low risk The counterparty has a low Lifetime ECL 12-month ECL
risk of default and does not — not credit-impaired
have any past-due amounts
15 2 Bz HFEFHEHNAREK BEXE FEPHNEHREEEE 2@ RBEEER
Efal 780 B 5K 8 —EBEERE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays Lifetime ECL 12-month ECL
after due dates but usually - not credit-impaired
settle after due date
BREAE BEBAKLERIBERER FEPHNBEHREEEE 12@ARBEEEE
B—RREIHRIEFE —EEERE
Doubtful There have been significant Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
increases in credit risk since — not credit-impaired - not credit-impaired
initial recognition through
information developed
internally or external
resources
RER Q%ﬁﬂmﬁﬁﬁﬁ/aﬁﬂi%ﬁﬁﬁ FEPMEMEEERE FTENHNRAGERR
IR 2 MR A - 5 B R —EEERE —EEERE
A& 38 N
Loss There is evidence indicating Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
the asset is credit impaired — credit-impaired — credit-impaired
BB ERBRAEECLEERE FEAHNBRREEEE FENRENREEEE
—BEERE —E2EERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating Amount is written off  Amount is written off
that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and the
Group has no realistic
prospect of recovery
€ FEBRBEBARNEKEY FIESME IR B

BR# BEASEYEERER
BE U @ 3RR

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)



44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(iv) Impairment assessment (Continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements
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44 MERBEEBHEERBE 2

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of

(b)

FERR (&)

(iv) BEFFE (E)
TREMEY RAEEBEITIE

the Group's financial assets and financial guarantee HEEFEFENS é? &
contracts, which are subject to ECL assessment: MERRGANEER
External Internal 12-month or
credit rating credit rating lifetime ECL Gross carrying amounts
REARFEHE
NBERFHR ABEATR EHEEFE BEmE
2020 2019
—EZEF ZT-NF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Mz BETT BETT
Financial assets at amortised cost
RESERAIRERERE
Finance lease receivables 18 N/A note 1 Lifetime ECL - 955,272
EURERENE TEm M FEHMBRAEERE
Accounts receivable - margin clients 22 N/A Low risk 12-month ECL 16,120 25,983
EHES-FERP TER EER NAABHEESE
22 N/A Loss Lifetime ECL - 157,701 157,701
credit-impaired
TEm Bl GERRESEE
BRE-CEERE
Accounts receivable - clearing house, 22 N/A note 1 Lifetime ECL 5,966 48,056
insurance brokerage, futures
brokerage and financial guarantee
YRR -£EH RRCL TEA M1 FERMEREERSE
HELLRBELER
Loans receivable 20 N/A Low risk 12-month ECL - 108,015
ERER TEA ERERE NEAEHEESE
20 N/A Doubtful Lifetime ECL - - 222,091
TEH not credit - impaired
PN Tmﬁfifﬁﬁm* B
BE-EESRE
20 N/A Loss L|fet|me ECL- 2,104,185 1,811,509
TER credit-impaired
BlE GEORESEE
BER-CEENRE
Factoring receivables 21 N/A Low risk 12-month ECL - 310,075
EYREHIE TEA ERE NEARHEEEER
21 N/A Loss Lifetime ECL - 299,079 -
TER credit-impaired
BlE  GEORESEE
BER-CEENRE
Other receivables 19 N/A Low risk 12-month ECL 78,779 120,561
it A TEA ERE NEARHEEER
Restricted bank deposits 24 AA+ N/A 12-month ECL - 157,312
ZRHFIER AA+ TER NEARBREEERE
Cash and bank balances 25 AA+ N/A 12-month ECL 149,605 222,143
BeRBTES AA+ TER NEABHEESE
Financial guarantee contracts (note 2) 37 N/A Low risk 12-month ECL - 296,054
BEERAH (HH2) TEA BERE NEARHEEER

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

Notes:

44 MERBEERBBAEFERBRE 2

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)

(b) FERR (&)
(iv) Impairment assessment (Continued) (iv) BEFFE(E)
B 5
For accounts receivable (excluding accounts 1. BERER(TEIEREIKAT
receivable from margin clients) and finance lease BREPER) REKMEHRE
receivables, the Group has applied the simplified HEME  AEEBEAEE
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance B 7% S 2E R 95k R MRS {E
at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors with significant AR ETEBMEEREER
outstanding balances or credit-impaired, the Group BHEBEE BRBEARK
determines the expected credit losses on these items Bl B EERENER
by using a provision matrix, grouped by past due AN RE B BB
status. (RN HE) ETZE
HENEREEBE-
As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the ERAEEEFEERREIEN
Group uses debtors’ ageing to assess the impairment — & - AR EERESRE
for its customers in relation to its insurance HEEERRERL BHEK
brokerage, futures brokerage, financial guarantee o BERERMBEREER
and finance lease operations because these WEFTERE  REARZSE
customers consist of a large number of small EFPRREAENEF ABH
customers with common risk characteristics that are ) E’Jﬂﬁﬁ FE(ERMEP
representative of the customers’ abilities to pay all REBENIGEREZNE D
amounts due in accordance with the contractual b IEE’\J uj]) TREHER1Z
terms. The following table provides information TEFRZZF-NF=A
about the exposure to credit risk for accounts =+ BEESHEEREE
receivable and finance lease receivables which are EE (BEEERE) NERE
assessed based on a provision matrix as at 31 March 18 4B P 5T 1 A FE WUAR 50 2 FE
2020 and 2019 within lifetime ECL (not credit- KR EHERENEERR
impaired). Debtors with significant outstanding AR - AAEARKEL
balances or credit-impaired were assessed EJZE{ZT/)EHEE’JEW}\“E‘J
individually. EREN
2020
—E-THF
Finance
Average Accounts lease
Gross carrying amount loss rate receivable  receivables
ElmE
HMERE(E FigEEE FE UR BR X HERE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Current (not past due) BNER (K@ H7) 0.5% 5,743 -
1-30 days past due #H31-30H 1% 122 -
31-60 days past due #1HA31-60H 3% 98 -
61-90 days past due #1H161-90H 5% - -
More than 90 days past due 1 AR 390 H 83% 3 -
5,966 -
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 44 . BRI EHEEAEREER 2)
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b)y &R (&)
(iv) Impairment assessment (Continued) (iv) BEFFE(E)
Notes: (Continued) MicE: (4&)
1. (Continued) 1. (%)
2019
—E-NF
Finance
Average Accounts lease
Gross carrying amount loss rate receivable receivables
W R E
HEREE ARE) SRS FE MR R HERE
HK$'000 HK$'000

BT BT

Current (not past due) BVER (R ER) 0.5% 47,857 848,916
1-30 days past due # H31-30H 1% - 1,050
31-60 days past due #1HA31-60H 3% - -
61-90 days past due #1H61-90H 5% 189 -
More than 90 days past due &1 AR 3890 H 83% 10 105,306

48,056 955,272
The estimated loss rates are estimated based on hEtEE XD NEBEER
historical observed default rates over the expected FHAERBRIMENE
life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward- LR G Y wNE S
looking information that is available without undue 77 BVE] & 15 &Y AT BE M 8 RHE
cost or effort. -

2. For financial guarantee contracts, the gross carrying 2. BREEREHNmME RZ=ZZT
amount as at 31 March 2019 represents the —NWE=ZAR=1+—HB2Z8K
maximum amount the Group has guaranteed under HEREAEBERIESELOE
the respective contracts. RO =&

RETHBMRERAR QAR (ESEEHRFFLA) 219
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ

44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)

(c) Liquidity risk
The Group's liquidity position is critical to its continuing
existence and measures are formulated to improve its
liquidity and solvency position. The Group’s policy is to
regularly monitor current and expected liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending covenants
to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and long term.

The maturity profile of the financial liabilities as at the
end of the reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, is as follows:

44 MERSEEBEHERBER 2)
() RBELABR

AEBEZRDESRAEEFETE
EWEE MAKRBEE IR fEENAS
EERPUEREBEENNR - ARE
ZBRREMERABNERRDE
EFERLERBEERZL  URERE
FRARSHERNERNRBZR

RBERR SRARRAGORUEI
MRZBHBERET

2020 Contractual undiscounted cash flow
g Sl 33 ERABBRETRE
Within one One Carrying
year or on to five Over amount
demand years  five years Total at 31 March
®
R—FR =ZR=+-8
BREX —Z1E TENE 2k ZIRHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT BETT BET T BT
Non-derivative financial FTESREE:
liabilities:
Accounts payable JE AR 14,437 - - 14,437 14,437
Financial liabilities included in B3R E B ERZE R
other payables and accruals EitBHzZEBARE 664,852 - - 664,852 664,852
Lease liabilities HERE 13,932 1,045 - 14,977 13,277
Interest-bearing borrowings TEEE 3,362,820 31,764 - 3,394,584 2,755,687
4,056,041 32,809 - 4,088,850 3,448,253

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-ZF-FF=H=+—HIFFE

44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

44 MERBEEBHEERBE 2

(c)

REBESRR (&)

2019 Contractual undiscounted cash flow
—T-NEF ENRMRBENE
Within one One Carrying
year or on to five Over amount
demand years five years Total  at 31 March
R—FR% = el =
REK —EhfE AFNE k| ZIREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT BETT BETT AETT
Non-derivative financial FTESRaE:
liabilities:
Accounts payable JE AR 17,608 - - 17,608 17,608
Financial liabilities included in &R H it FE 4 08
other payables and accruals ExtBHzeBAR 159,576 - - 159,576 159,576
Convertible instruments AHRKRIA 1,436,504 - - 1,436,504 1,347,922
Interest-bearing borrowings HERE 1,365,817 59,263 - 1,425,080 1,398,756
2,979,505 59,263 - 3,038,768 2,923,862
Financial guarantees issued: CEHBEER:
Maximum amount guaranteed ~ FEU NS HEEANRSER
arising from: Gk
- Loan guarantee business* ~EHERER 296,054 - - 296,054 2,884
* The maximum amount guaranteed represents the total * BEEEREEREMEREPEARD

amount of liability should all customers default. Since a
significant portion of guarantees issued is expected to
expire without being called upon the maximum liabilities
do not represent expected future cash outflows.

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equities
decrease as a result of changes in the level of equity
indices and the value of individual securities. The Group is
exposed to equity price risk arising from certain equity
investments. The Group's listed investments are listed on
the Stock Exchange and are valued at quoted market
prices at the end of the reporting period. Decisions to buy
or sell trading securities are based on daily monitoring of
the performance of the individual securities compared
with the relevant industry indicators, as well as the
Group’s liquidity needs. Equity investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income are held for
strategic rather than trading purposes. The Group does
not actively trade these investments.

(d)

BEAE - AR EL R ER
TRHIEW - TEREBFEE A&
SREETRBREHRKBESRL -

PR RE 1B 1% L B

PR (B 16 R e 1 E A BRI 48 UK F Je
18578 5 B EE B R AR FER
Dz BB o AR B 2 U (B AR R 2R
BEThRERE AKEZ EWERE
FEE R AT EM IR E R RAT SR
EBitE-BEERXRZEFHRTEHIER
B ER AR E S AL ERTT R IR R
MEBRMAEBRPESFTREL -
FRE MR E WA AR FETER I
REERIERBERAEZ MIFESEH
B ARET FTRARNEEZETNR
)50

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ

44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBIJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

(d)

Equity price risk (Continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the
Group's results to every 5% change in the fair values of
certain equity investments to which the Group has
significant exposure at the end of the reporting period,
with all other variables held constant and before any
impact on tax. For the purpose of this analysis, for certain
other financial assets measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income, the impact was deemed to
be on the investment revaluation reserve (non-recycling)
and no account was given for factors which might impact
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

44 MERBEERBBAEFERBRE 2

(d)

Carrying
amount of
investments

BRERMEE

BET T

BREEKRRRE (&)
TRIVRAE B REE NI E HARA
XEARRZETREREAFES
EH5% s HRE ETERMAE
i B B A T2 KRR RATAAT RS
FE-RAINME  BHIRATFEE
BEMEEBATIBRGE0E T HEi
TREEZFERCRYREEMLRM
B () 228 WER AR
EReBRaRZAE-

Change in
loss
before tax
R B AT
EBiEZH
HK$'000
BT T

Change

in equity/
deficit*
A
LEp*
HK$'000
BT

HK$'000

2020 —ECERF
Investments at fair value through

profit or loss

2019
Investments at fair value through
profit or loss

—E-NF

* Excluding accumulated losses

FRBRARFEIKRZKRE

3,071 154 -

FRBHEARNFEINRZKRE

23,531 1,177 -

* TEEEEE

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)
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44 MERBEEBHEERBE 2

44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(e)

()

Currency risk

The Group does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, management monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

At 31 March 2020, the Group is exposed to currency risk,
primarily with respect to interest-bearing borrowings with
aggregate principal amount of US$264,661,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$2,067,643,000) (2019:
interest-bearing borrowings with aggregate principal
amount of US$166,173,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,295,443,000) and the First Convertible Bonds with
outstanding principal amount of US$99,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$772,200,000)) which are
denominated in US$. As HK$ is pegged to US$, the
foreign exchange risk exposures are considered limited.
The Group did not have any financial instruments used
for hedging purpose.

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The
Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirements except for certain subsidiaries engaged in
the securities and futures broking businesses and the
provision of corporate finance advisory services, which are
regulated entities under the Hong Kong Securities and
Futures Commission (the “SFC”) and a subsidiary, which
is registered under the Hong Kong Insurance Companies
Ordinance (the “ICQ"), are required to comply with the
respective minimum capital requirements of the SFC and
the ICO. During the financial year, all the licensed
subsidiaries complied with the minimum capital
requirements of the SFC and the ICO respectively. No
changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes for managing capital during the years ended 31
March 2020 and 2019.

(e)

()

B¥RAR
AEELBINEHNBK AT E
BEERINERR XHEETER
ZREHERINERR

R-ZZE-_ZTFZA=+—H A£EH
mEEEERR EZFRIAETFE
N4 4858 5264,661,000% 7T (FER
476 #2,067,643,0007T) 7 it BEE
— N K 4%8166,173,000
E 7T (FE R HHE#1,295,443,000
TC) ZETBEE - URAETTEHEZ &
g % N4 %8 /599,000,000 7T (HE
A7 #772,200,00070 ) 7 E#E AT ¥R
MEES) o R B RSB EHE - INE
[BBR 1R BB R o A5 B0 & T 1] A
RERHEBIT A

EXxER

AEEREAER TEBBRRRER
SECRHBERERNRERRITZE
AR UXHEEH R RRRGE
RAEE-

AEEAREERR 2 BIERBEE
EZRRFEEEEEEAGEBAIED
AR e ﬁi’ﬁhiaﬂﬁké$#% ZN S
£ /)Eﬁ%ﬁxizﬂﬁ AR
%Liﬁﬂxﬂiiﬁ*ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬂx BRIEEE
R E R EHEEH ﬁ%mﬂé%ﬁ
F‘EJEEAWZ S THEBAR (BAXEE

EEMMEERERZE S (1R
EJ)%EEZEE*E) LMSZ—F'%ETE?%
BREBRA Tﬂﬂﬁﬂ (TRB R B ERGI])
AMzHEBLR ANaREES MR
ﬁ’AT1lﬂ§|JZK1EE§$%EE9\\'$’§
EliE:3 FEF?\\*EM?JDZ%K%EE°
B’\Kﬁﬂtﬁlifﬁﬂ P B #5 h2 P 8 &

E‘JL*{EEQ@&%?AWI%WZ
Hﬂf&ézﬁﬁm RBE-Z_ZTFR
—E-NFZA=+—BLEFERN"
AEELTEGBHERNEE BT K
KRR -

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HZ=-F-FTF=H=+—HIFFE

44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

(f) Capital management (Continued)
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
interest-bearing borrowings and convertible instruments
divided by the equity attributable to owners of the
Company. The gearing ratios as at the end of the
reporting periods were as follows:

44 MERBEERBBAEFERBRE 2

()

EXEE (&)
AEERBEELXEREL HE
e RZE BEERAMBR T ARIUAR
REHAANRIEEDRAE RS
K AEEZEELERMT :

2020 2019

—E-FF —T-NF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Interest-bearing borrowings EEE 2,755,687 1,398,756

Convertible instruments AT A - 1,347,922

Net debt B F5E 2,755,687 2,746,678
Equity/(deficit) attributable to owners RNATHEA AEIGER (BALD)

of the Company (2,331,231) 2,456,710

Gearing ratio BEL X N/A & F 111.8%

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)



45,

OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

The following tables represent details of financial instruments

subject to offsetting:

Notes to the Financial Statements

RN

For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-ZF-FF=H=+—HIFFE

45. ECHMEEREMAR

TREJNNATEHEZEMTAFSE:

Gross Net Related amounts
amounts of  amounts of not set off in the
recognised ~finandial cor}s?hdatedl statetment
finandial assets of financial posfion
liabiities  presented RN
Gross  setoff in the in the R %ﬁ%fﬁ Z
amounts of  consolidated  consolidated (RS
recognised  statementof  statement Cash
finandial financial  of financial Financial collateral
Asset assets position position  instruments pledged Total
EE REEE
BB RS
BEBHs BRI
EHER EBR BmR2I2
tREAE <SReE eRiEE EEH
BE B FE OemIA ReERY ek
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT RA¥Tr BE®TT B%Tr BE%Tr BETx
2020 —E-F%
Accounts receivable arising from: B LA T? Kz BUEER
- clearmg houses —#EF 5,743 - 5,743 - - 5,743
~ margin clients —Hlﬁ%)ﬁ 3,202 - 3,202 - - 3,202
2019 —ET-NF
Accounts receivable arising from: a B TEEZEWER
- clearing houses —BEER 19,046 - 19,046 - - 19,046
- margin clients —ﬁ’f:é%:)g 8,373 - 8,373 - - 8,373
Gross Net Related amounts
amountsof  amounts of not set off in the
recognised financial consqlldated statement
financial liabilities of ﬂnqnc@ E\Os't'gn
assets  presented R N
Gross  setoff in the in the R R ﬁjﬁﬁﬁ Z
amountsof  consolidated  consolidated HHER
recognised  statement of statement Cash
finandial finandal  of financial Finandial collateral
Liability liabilties position position  instruments pledged Total
af NG
BN REEE
BREH  BBERR
EBR BERR BERENZ
tRAE <SEE SRAE EEA
B B FE O 2BRIA ReEREY k)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT RA¥Tr BETT R¥Tr BE%Tx BETR
2020 ZBIEE
Accounts payable arising from: E A TFEZ%HEE%”\
- clearing houses —BER 9,977 - 9,977 - - 9,977
— margin clients -HEEP 771 - 771 - - 771
2019 —TNE
Accounts payable arising from: B AT EL 2 B ERR
~ clearing houses —BER 25,423 - 25,423 - - 25,423
— margin clients -HEEP 6,338 - 6,338 - - 6,338

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_-F-FF=H=+—HIFFZ

46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

46. 7N ) B B AR | &

RBEMREBARAPBMRABR 2E

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: BT
2020 2019
—E-_EHE —E-NF
HK$ 000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries REB AR ZKE - -
Prepayments TE IR - 3,679
Total non-current assets IRBEERE - 3,679
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables &1 FUIE « 1% & K £ fth g Yg 7K 1B 57 27,537
Due from a subsidiary & Y BT BB A B FA - 5,162,909
Cash and bank balances Be M7 21,944 12,940
Total current assets MEBEELE 22,001 5,203,386
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEAE
Other payables and accruals HEfb A HERETER 648,720 27,807
Interest-bearing borrowings FTEEE 2,725,687 1,310,443
Convertible instruments T?’*‘ I E - 1,347,922
Total current liabilities nEBELE 3,374,407 2,686,172
Net current assets/(liabilities) RBEE/ (81F)FE (3,352,406) 2,517,214
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBARE (3,352,406) 2,520,893
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY FRBEE
Interest-bearing borrowings e 30,000 58,000
Total non-current liability EmEaERE 30,000 58,000
NET ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) EE/(AfE)FE (3,382,406) 2,462,893
EQUITY/(DEFICIT) R (EAL)
Issued capital B EITRA 18,682 15,682
Reserves ] (3,401,088) 2,447,211
Total equity/(deficit) #aw, (Ba)BE (3,382,406) 2,462,893
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors of RARNBEFEN _T_—F—AREH

the Company on 6 January 2021 and were signed on its behalf

by:

Choi Wai

Hong, Clifford

BER

Director

EF

}’@E&&%Fﬁ* WHATALTRERARRF

g8EF:

Yau Pak Yue
A
Director

EF

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)
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46. AR BB EMRRBE (#)

46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY (Continued)
Note:

A summary of the Company's reserves is as follows:

Share Capital
premium  redemption  Contributed
account reserve surplus*

BiEBE EFREEE  HARS
HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000
EBTT 8T BETT

BT -

ARAREEBALT

Convertible
instruments

equity  Distributable ~ Shareholder's  Share option  Accumulated

reserve

TERIE

reserve  contribution** reserve losses Total

BERE TUoNEE RRLEv RBRERE  ZHER BE
HCPO  HKSOD  HKSO00  HKSOD  HKSOO0  HK$0D
BETL A%Tn E¥tm BBt #BTn BETR

1 April 2018 “E-\EmA-A 2,726,935 485 39,521
Issue of convertible notes BAREE - - -
Issue of equity-setled share options &7 ER £ EBE - - -
Issue of shares upon comersion of ~ BRI ARERERARA

convertible bonds 8,357 - -
Loss and total comprehensive loss ~ AFFEBR2ABELE

for the year - - -

281,597 874,114 15,000 23,082 (389,124) 3,571,610

17,274

(1,797)

- - - - 17,274
- - 74,268 - 74,268

- - - - 6,50

- - - (122501 (1,222,501)

At31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 RZE-AE=f=1-8k

297,074 874,114 15,000 97350 (1,611,625 2447211

(297,074)

- - - - 40,500

- - - 297,074 -
- - (43,994) 43,994 -

- - - (5888799)  (5,888,799)

“E-NERA-A 2,735,292 485 39,521
Issue of shares 2Rk 40,500 - -
Derecognition of convertible BIERTARLE
instruments - - -
Share options lapsed BRMERE - - -
Loss and total comprehensive loss ~ AEEBERZESELS
for the year - - -
At31 March 2020 RIZZRESf=+-0 2715792 485 39,521

874,114 15,000 5335  (7,159,356)  (3,401,088)

* Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus represented the difference
between the nominal value of the share capital issued by
the Company and the underlying net tangible assets value
of subsidiaries which were acquired by the Company
pursuant to the group reorganisation in 1992.

**  Shareholder’s contribution
This reserve represented capital contribution from the

then shareholders upon the acquisition of subsidiaries in
prior years.

BABER

BABBRIEALBETHORAEER
KRR —NNZFRESEESHAK
BOMBARNBBEETLEEREZ
IR ZERE o

ZHEEBEFRERBEMNEARRE
R A &

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)
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47. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Proposed Restructuring

References are made to the announcements of the Company
dated 13 August 2020, 27 August 2020, 17 November 2020, 23
November 2020, 27 November 2020 and 30 December 2020
unless otherwise specified, capitalised terns used herein shall
have the same meanings as in these announcements. On 13
August 2020, the Company, the Provisional Liquidators and the
Investor entered into the Term Sheet, setting out the key
commercial terms of the proposed Restructuring of the
Company. On 10 September 2020, the Company, the Provisional
Liquidators and the Investor entered into the Restructuring Deed,
pursuant to which the Company, the Provisional Liquidators and
the Investor agreed on the principal terms of the Restructuring
which shall include, among others, (a) the provision of the First
Loan and the Second Loan by the Investor; (b) the Subscription;
(c) the Share Premium Cancellation; (d) the Resumption; (e) if
the Resumption is not approved by the Stock Exchange, the
Acquisition; and (f) the Schemes.

Pursuant to the First Loan Agreement, the Company has
received HK$161,174,982 from the Investor, being an amount
equivalent to the LC Agreed Consideration, to the Designated
Account for the purpose of repayment to the LC Secured
Lender upon all relevant conditions set out therein being
satisfied. On 21 October 2020, SFC has approved the Investor
to become a substantial shareholder of the Licensed
Corporations. On 17 November 2020 and 18 December 2020,
the Company, the Provisional Liquidators and the Investor
entered into the first supplemental deed and the second
supplemental deed respectively, pursuant to which the parties
agreed to further amend the terms of the Restructuring Deed
and/or the First Loan Agreement. On 24 December 2020, upon
application of the Provisional Liquidators, the High Court has
approved the convening of the Scheme Meetings. The Scheme
Meetings is fixed on 22 January 2021.

47.

REHBRSE

BEEA
IRMAQARHBEBHAZZE_ZEFNA+=
A - ZZ2-FNA=Z+tR ZZ=ZTF
+—A++tR - ZE=E2F+—A=+=
A —Z-FTF+—A=-++tBAR=_ZF=
TEF-AZFHZRAE - BRBEEBPIN
AFEBRFAAREREZE NS AGHERR
E-RZE_ZFFNA+=H £AQF &
BFEBARKREELIERE S ARQ
AEREECEIEBERR - RZEZF
FNA+TH ARAE - BREEBAREES
RN EATE B ARE - BEBBA
MEEBERTEMEAZTERT BEEN
THRE(HFBE)  @QBREEREEF %
ERREZFER: OREFIE: (OB
B fn s (8 (d)ERE: (e)dfiE =18 (W18 M8
REBZFAIE) : R(NZERTEl

REBEE—HERME ~RFRD2KIIEE
HMIEERPZTHE®161,174,9827T
MERBFERARHBEREBEZERE R
FrE MBI BERZ M TS A B E R
BRABR - R_B-_EF+A-_+—0"
BEeEOHAREENABERARNTEE
BR-ARZZEZTF+—A+tEREZZ
—EF+-A+NB - AREBREBEBA
MG EEDREIUF —HHARERFE
MHARE BUHTHSHFREE—FE
AEHARER/E—HERBEZIE
HoRZEZTF+ZAZ+WMA - FFEREF
BEARLERZEE S ERHBERESR

Rl eZ el gl RS- —F—
A-+=-HAM-

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)
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47. REHEEE (#)

47. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(Continued)
Others

(a)

In March 2020, after the appointment of Provisional
Liquidators to the Company, two of the key operating
subsidiaries of the Group, namely FSL and FCL are facing
practical difficulties and challenges in maintaining sufficient
level of operations, primarily due to various restrictions
imposed by and/or agreed with the Stock Exchange and/or
the SFC on their business operations, which include,
among others, (i) prohibiting FSL and FCL from on-
boarding new clients; and (ii) restricting FCL from
transacting on behalf of its clients trades over a certain
level of volume by the Stock Exchange, etc. In or around
November and December 2020, restriction (i) above has
been uplifted and restriction (ii) above has been partially
uplifted.

On 21 September 2020, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company (“Subsidiary A”) and an independent third
party (“Assignor A") entered into a deed of assignment,
pursuant to which, Subsidiary A agreed to sell certain
loans receivable, and Assignor A agreed to purchase for a
consideration of HK$143 million. On 29 October 2020,
the full consideration amount was received.

On 10 November 2020, FSL, the Provisional Liquidators,
Jiangsu Shagang Group Company Limited (the “SSCL
Purchaser”) and Cheery Plus Limited entered into a term
sheet, pursuant to which FSL conditionally agreed to sell,
and the SSCL Purchaser conditionally agreed to acquire,
12.17% of shareholding interest in the Securities
Company at the consideration of RMB600 million.

According to the latest records available to the Company
on 23 September 2020, the Group's shareholding interest
in Jocasta was diluted to 28.13% subsequent to the
reporting period ended 31 March 2020.

According to the latest records available to the Company
on 23 September 2020, the Group's shareholding interest
in FreeOpt was diluted to 17.61% subsequent to the
reporting period ended 31 March 2020.

48. COMPARATIVE FIGURES
The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019 using
the modified retrospective method. Under this approach,
comparative information is not restated. Further details of the
changes in accounting policies are disclosed in note 2.2.

48.

HAt

(a)

RZZ-ZTE=F REEARAZ
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ARBz &I REE-Z=-%
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BEARBNRZZZTFNA=+=
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FZAZ+—BUREHEREERR
FreeOptZ R IEEBEE17.61% °
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Five Year Financial Summary

TFEUBME

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the published audited financial statements and
restated/reclassified/re-presented as appropriate, is set out below.
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RESULTS KR
Year ended 31 March
BE=HA=+t-HLHFE
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
—EEF —hhFE ZE—N\F ZT—+F ZZT—KF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT BT T BT T BT T
REVENUE W &= 68,529 (74,633) 500,469 108,285 (143,952)
Profit/(loss) before tax MRS () (3,840,665) (2,149,801) 324,384 408,195 (404,625)
Income tax credit/(expense) FTisgil e (Fx) 1,818 (3,394) (21,362) 10,013 27,159

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR ERER|, (B#E) (3,838,847) (2,153,195) 303,022 418,208 (377,466)

Attributable to: TH AL
Owners of the Company AN/NGIRZF =N (3,838,847) (2,160,250) 269,894 418,208 (620,996)
Non-controlling interests JEIEE i = - 7,055 33,128 - 243,530

(3,838,847) (2,153,195) 303,022 418,208 (377,466)

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS

RE - RRLURFERER

As at 31 March

MN=RA=+—8H
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
—ECFEF —ET-NF ZE-)N\F ZZE—tF —FT—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T BT T BT T
TOTAL ASSETS EEHBE 1,119,583 6,079,314 8,591,122 4,435,749 3,333,902
TOTAL LIABILITIES aEEE (3,450,814) (2,953,023) (3,579,767)  (969,987)  (268,988)

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS  FF 1% B2 # &2 -

(669,581) (707,614) - -

(2,331,231) 2,456,710 4,303,741 3,465,762 3,064,914

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)



FREEMAN FINTECH
RREMB R

www.freeman279.com




	封面
	目錄
	公司資料
	管理層討論及分析
	董事履歷詳情
	企業管治報告
	環境、 社會及管治報告
	董事會報告
	獨立核數師報告
	綜合損益表
	綜合全面收入報表
	綜合財務狀況報表
	綜合權益變動表
	綜合現金流量表
	財務報表附註
	五年財務概要
	封底

